Alma Mater Studiorum – Università di Bologna

DOTTORATO DI RICERCA

Biologia e Fisiologia Cellulare

Ciclo XX

Settore scientifico disciplinare di afferenza: BIO 18/ GENETICA

TITOLO TESI

Regulation of SRC-3 Localization and Dynamics

By Phosphorylation

During ER α -Dependent Transcriptional Activation

Presentata da: dott. Luigi Pasini

Coordinatore Dottorato

Relatore

prof. sa Michela Rugolo

prof. Giuliano Della Valle

Esame finale anno 2008

CONTENTS	
ABSTRACT	5
INTRODUCTION	9
PART 1: Nuclear Receptors and Transcriptional Control of Gene Expression	9
Nuclear Receptor Superfamily	10
Coactivators of Nuclear Receptors	16
Corepressors of Nuclear Receptors	17
Chromatin Dynamics and Gene Transcriptional Activation	19
General Transcription Factors	22
PART 2: Structure and Function of SRC Coactivators	24
The p160 Primary Coactivators Family	25
Structural and Functional Domains of SRC Family Proteins	26
Role of SRC Proteins in Chromatin Remodeling and Transcriptional Activation	28
Biological Function and Characterization of SRC Family Members	29
SRC-1 (NCoA-1)	29
SRC-2 (TIF-2/GRIP-1/NCoA-2)	31
SRC-3 (NCoA3/pCIP/AIB1/ACTR/RAC-3/TRAM-1)	32
Functional Specificity of SRC Family Members	34
PART 3: SRC-3 Steroid Receptors Coactivator: Structure and Function	36
Physiological and Cellular Functions of SRC-3	37
Role of SRC-3 in Mice Normal Growth and Sexual Functions	38
Role of SRC-3 in Vasoprotective Effect of Estrogen	39
Molecular Structure of SRC-3	40
Molecular Mechanism of Action of SRC-3	40
Hormone-dependent Signal Transduction	40
Hormone-independent Signal Transduction Pathway	40
Selective Phosphorylation of SRC-3	46
Extranuclear Phosphorylation of SRC-3	47
SRC-3 Cellular Degradation	48
SRC-3 in Oncogenesis	49
Clinical Studies	49
Transgenic Mouse Models	50
Biological Function of SRC-3 in vivo: Concluding Remarks. The Exemplification of	
Transcriptional Program Complexity	51

PART 4: Transcription by Estrogen Receptor and Mechanism of Estrogen Action	54
Signaling by Estrogen and Non-genomic Action of ER	55
Mechanism of Action of ER in the Nucleus	57
Modulation of ER function by Phosphorylation	60
Tissue Distribution and Physiological Role of ER $lpha$ and ER eta	63
RESULTS	67
CHAPTER 1: High Resolution Quantitative HTM Analysis of ER $lpha$	
Transcriptional Activity and Chromatin Remodeling	67
Introduction to High Throughput Microscopy (HTM)	68
HTM Analysis of Protein Expression Level in EGFP-ER $lpha$ -transfected Cell Population	69
Engineered PRL-HeLa Cell Line for Studying Ligand-dependent Chromatin Remodeling	
by $ER\alpha$	74
Quantitative Determination of PRL-array Size via HTM	80
CHAPTER 2: Regulation of SRC-3 Cellular Localization and Dynamics	
by Phosphorylation and ER $lpha$ Interaction	83
SRC-3 Is Primarily a Nuclear Protein	84
Quantification of SRC-3 Cellular Localization Using High-resolution HTM	85
SRC-3 Localization Is Regulated by Phosphorylation	89
EGF Induces Phosphorylation of SRC-3 and Promotes SRC-3 Nuclear Localization	93
Phosphorylation of SRC-3 Regulates Interaction and Colocalization with ER $lpha$	97
SRC-3 Phosphorylation Is Required for Promoter interaction with ER $lpha$ and	
Transcriptional Readout at the PRL-array	102
SRC-3 Shuttles Between Nucleus and Cytoplasm Affecting Estrogen Receptor	
Translocation into the Nucleus	107
DISCUSSION	111
MATERIAL AND METHODS	121
REFERENCES	129

ABSTRACT

Transcription is controlled by promoter-selective transcriptional factors (TFs), which bind to *cis*-regulatory enhancers elements, termed hormone response elements (HREs), in a specific subset of genes. Regulation by these factors involves either the recruitment of coactivators or corepressors and direct interaction with the basal transcriptional machinery (1). Hormone-activated nuclear receptors (NRs) are well characterized transcriptional factors (2) that bind to the promoters of their target genes and recruit primary and secondary coactivator proteins which possess many enzymatic activities required for gene expression (1,3,4).

In the present study, using single-cell high-resolution fluorescent microscopy and high throughput microscopy (HTM) coupled to computational imaging analysis, we investigated transcriptional regulation controlled by the estrogen receptor *alpha* (ER α), in terms of large scale chromatin remodeling and interaction with the associated coactivator SRC-3 (Steroid Receptor Coactivator-3), a member of p160 family (28) primary coactivators. ER α is a steroid-dependent transcriptional factor (16) that belongs to the NRs superfamily (2,3) and, in response to the hormone 17-ß estradiol (E2), regulates transcription of distinct target genes involved in development, puberty, and homeostasis (8,16). ER α spends most of its lifetime in the nucleus and undergoes a rapid (within minutes) intranuclear redistribution following the addition of either agonist or antagonist (17,18,19).

We designed a HeLa cell line (PRL-HeLa), engineered with a chromosome-integrated reporter gene array (PRL-array) containing multicopy hormone response-binding elements for ER α that are derived from the physiological enhancer/promoter region of the prolactin gene. Following GFP-ER transfection of PRL-HeLa cells, we were able to observe *in situ* ligand dependent (i) recruitment to the array of the receptor and associated coregulators, (ii) chromatin remodeling, and (iii) direct transcriptional readout of the reporter gene. Addition of E2 causes a visible opening (decondensation) of the PRL-array, colocalization of RNA Polymerase II, and transcriptional readout of the reporter gene, detected by mRNA FISH. On the contrary, when cells were treated with an ER α antagonist (Tamoxifen or ICI),

a dramatic condensation of the PRL-array was observed, displacement of RNA Polymerase II, and complete decreasing in the transcriptional FISH signal.

All p160 family coactivators (28) colocalize with ER α at the PRL-array. Steroid Receptor Coactivator-3 (SRC-3/AIB1/ACTR/pCIP/RAC3/TRAM1) is a p160 family member and a known oncogenic protein (4,34). SRC-3 is regulated by a variety of posttranslational modifications, including methylation, phosphorylation, acetylation, ubiquitination and sumovation (4,35). These events have been shown to be important for its interaction with other coactivator proteins and NRs and for its oncogenic potential (37,39). A number of extracellular signaling molecules, like steroid hormones, growth factors and cytokines, induce SRC-3 phosphorylation (40). These actions are mediated by a wide range of kinases, including extracellular-regulated kinase 1 and 2 (ERK1-2), c-Jun N-terminal kinase, p38 MAPK, and IkB kinases (IKKs) (41,42,43). Here, we report SRC-3 to be a nucleocytoplasmic shuttling protein, whose cellular localization is regulated by phosphorylation and interaction with ER α . Using a combination of high throughput and fluorescence microscopy, we show that both chemical inhibition (with U0126) and siRNA downregulation of the MAP/ERK1/2 kinase (MEK1/2) pathway induce a cytoplasmic shift in SRC-3 localization, whereas stimulation by EGF signaling enhances its nuclear localization by inducing phosphorylation at T²⁴, S⁸⁵⁷, and S⁸⁶⁰, known partecipants in the regulation of SRC-3 activity (39). Accordingly, the cytoplasmic localization of a nonphosphorylatable SRC-3 mutant further supports these results. In the presence of ER α , U0126 also dramatically reduces: hormone-dependent colocalization of ER α and SRC-3 in the nucleus; formation of ER-SRC-3 coimmunoprecipitation complex in cell lysates; localization of SRC-3 at the ER-targeted prolactin promoter array (PRL-array) and transcriptional activity. Finally, we show that SRC-3 can also function as a cotransporter, facilitating the nuclear-cytoplasmic shuttling of estrogen receptor.

While a wealth of studies have revealed the molecular functions of NRs and coregulators, there is a paucity of data on how these functions are spatiotemporally organized in the cellular context. Technically and conceptually, our findings have a new impact upon evaluating gene transcriptional control and mechanisms of action of gene regulators.

- 6 -

Key words:

Transcriptional Coregulators; p160 Family Coactivators; SRC-3/AIB1; Estrogen Receptor *Alpha*; Nuclear Receptors; Chromatin Remodeling; Gene Transcription; High Throughput Microscopy; Human Cancer.

Mostly used Abbreviation:

AIB1 = Amplified in Breast Cancer 1; CBP = CREB (cyclic AMP response element binding protein) binding protein; ER = Estrogen Receptor; EGF = Epidermal Growth Factor; GFP = Green Fluorescent Protein; GTF = General Transcriptional Factor; HER2 = Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2; HRE = Hormone Response Element ; HTM = High Throughput Microscopy; NR = Nuclear Receptor; PTM = Posttranscriptional Modification; SRC = Steroid Receptor Coactivator; SD = Standard Deviation; SE = Standard Error; TF = Transcriptional Factor.

INTRODUCTION

PART 1:

Nuclear Receptors and Transcriptional Control of Gene Expression

Nuclear receptors (NRs) comprise a variety of ligand-regulated transcriptions factors and play a central role in the body's ability to transduce the endocrine hormones signaling. Gene-specific NR-mediated transcription results from the ability of NRs to recognize specific sequences within the promoter/enhancer region of their target genes. The complex relationship of NRs with the RNA Polymerase II holoenzyme and the chromatin environment surrounding the gene is fundamental for the specificity of gene expression. Coregulators (coactivators or corepressors) are the nub of this critical aspect of transcriptional control.

Contents:

- Nuclear Receptor Superfamily
- Coactivators of Nuclear Receptors
- Corepressors of Nuclear Receptors
- Chromatin Dynamics and Gene Transcriptional Activation
- General Transcription Factors

Nuclear Receptor Superfamily

The mammalian nuclear receptors (NRs) are a family of approximately 50 members of transcriptional activator proteins (2). NRs regulate specific gene expression in response to the binding with small lipophilic molecules including steroid hormones, thyroid hormone, retinoic acid, vitamin D, fatty acids and eicosanoids. Genes regulated by NRs are involved in a broad variety of cellular processes (3,34) like metabolism, development, reproduction, growth and differentiation. Their primary function is to mediate transcriptional response in target cells to hormones and a variety of other metabolic ligands.



Figure 1. Canonical representation of functional domains of nuclear hormone receptors. Nuclear receptors share a modular structure constituted of a non-conserved amino-terminal domain that contains the transcriptional activation function 1 (AF-1), a conserved DNA-binding domain (DBD), a hinge region, and a carboxyl-terminal ligand-binding domain (LBD) that contains the transcriptional activation function 2 (AF-2). Nuclear localization sequences (NLS) and dimerization domains are also shown.

Three-dimensional structure analysis of different NRs reveals a common basic structure (9,16) (*Fig.1*), presenting three main functional domains: an high conserved DNA binding domain (DBD) that recognize a specific enhancer element called hormone response element (HRE); a carboxyl terminal ligand-binding domain (LBD), which binds the specific hormone, inducing the active conformation of the receptor; a less well defined amino terminal domain that is not conserved. The DNA binding domain (3,11) contains two zinc-

finger modules (10) coordinated with four conserved cysteine residues: a DNA recognition α -helix extends between the two zinc-fingers, making specific contacts in the major groove, while a second α -helix is required for the overall folding of the domain (*Fig.2.A*). This structural motif is a distinctive feature of all NRs. The LBD domain (12) usually consists of 12 α -helices folding with a conserved hydrophobic cavity in which the ligand is buried. Helix 12 extends away from the LBD core in the absence of ligand and undergoes a consistent repositioning in response to the hormone binding, sealing the entry site of the binding cavity and creating a hydrophobic surface that is recognized by primary coactivators (Fig.2.B). In addition to providing a binding pocket for the ligand, the LBD domain contains recognition sites for the interaction with chaperones (13) and possesses a dimerization function (14) (independent on the interaction with DNA) and a liganddependent transcriptional activation function (15), termed activation function AF-2. The DBD domain contains a second dimerization region that is dependent on DNA binding (21), with the role of stabilizing the receptor-DNA complex. The amino terminal domain is the most divergent with respect to length and amino acid sequence and little is known about its function. Some NRs, like steroid receptors, have a long N-terminus that retains a second trans-activation domain (22,23), called AF-1 (Fig.1). Through the activation domains the hormone-bound NR recruits coactivators to the target gene promoter.



Figure 2. 3D molecular structure of DNA-binding and ligand-binding domain of NRs. (A) Conserved structure of the DNA-binding domain (DBD) of nuclear receptors, showing a dimer complexed to DNA. The recognition α -helix 1 (H1) fits into the major groove, while helix 2 (H2) is important to hold the overall structure and the zinc-conjugated dimerization complex. Zinc atoms are shown as balls while DNA is represented as a ball-and-stick diagram. (B) Conserved structure of the ligand-binding domain (LBD) of nuclear receptors. The crystal structure of estrogen receptor alpha LBD complexed with estradiol is depicted. Helix 12 contains the AF-2 transactivation function and folds over the ligand-binding pocket.

Member of the NRs family are classified both physiogenetically and by differences in their mechanism of action (2). NRs have a DNA-binding domain (DBD) that recognizes the specific enhancer element in at least three differing modes: according to this DNA-specificity, NRs are classified in three classes. Class I of NRs consists of steroid hormones receptors (SRs), like receptors for glucocorticoids (GR), progesterone (PR), androgen (AR), mineralocorticoids (MR) and estrogen (ER): they recognize a consensus sequence of 6 nucleotides arranged as an inverted repeat (24) and dimerize only after the binding to DNA, while in the absence of hormone SRs associate with a chaperone complex that help to keep the receptor in a folded state off of DNA until activated by the hormone (13,14).

Class II and class III of NRs (nonsteroid receptors) do not seam to form a stable association with chaperones and bind to DNA constitutively: activation occurs subsequently to DNA binding. Class II consists of vitamin D receptor (VDR), thyroid hormone receptor (TR), retinoic acid receptor (RAR), peroxisome proliferator activated receptor (PPAR) and bind to DNA generally as heterodimers with another element of the NR family, retinoid X receptor (RXR). Although RXR can function as a transcription factor itself in response to the binding to its ligand, 9-cis-retinoic acid, its main role is to act as a heterodimer partner (21) required for class II of NRs to bind with high affinity to the specific HRE. The class II RXR-heterodimer receptors recognize a hexanucleotide HRE arranged as direct repeat: variable nucleotide spacing in the half-site of the direct repeat provides the specificity of binding. Class III is the third and largest class of NRs and comprises orphan nuclear receptors (26), for which physiological ligand remain to be identify. Orphan receptors are capable of binding to DNA either as homodimers or as heterodimers with RXR (21). They can also stably bind to extend half-site of consensus sequence thanks to the presence of a so-called Grip Box in the C-terminal prolonged region of the DBD (27). The Grip Box forms a loop structure capable to lie in the minor groove of DNA, immediately after the 5' of the consensus hexanucleotide, providing a protein-DNA interaction in addiction to the core DBD recognition helix that lays in the major groove. Class I receptors, in the absence of ligand, are sequestered by heat shock proteins and, in

this state, are not thought to influence the rate of transcription at target genes. Conversely, class II receptors are able to bind DNA in the absence of ligand and often may exert a repressive effect upon the activation of their promoters, a phenomenon referred to as silencing (3).

Concerning to the actual model of mechanism of action in gene expression (1), DNAbound NRs enable the recruitment of several different complexes of proteins (4,6), including either coactivators, which mediate transcriptional potential of activated NRs, or corepressors, which transduce the nonactivating function of NRs and trigger transcriptional repression. Accordingly, there is a combinatorial NR-mediated control of gene transcription (*Fig.3*): initial binding of activating ligand results in dissociation of corepressors from DNA-

- 13 -

bound NRs and recruitment of primary and secondary coactivator proteins (8) which locally remodel nucleosomal structure (5) and promote a readily accessible chromatin context for the assembly of preinitiation complex, resulting in the activation of RNA polymerase II and the basal transcriptional machinery (9), and initiation of transcription.

Combinatorial NR-mediated control of gene transcription

(Legend in the next page)



Figure 3. Combinatorial NR-mediated control of gene transcription. Representative model of gene transcription activation and assembling of transcriptional complex to the promoter. According to this model, coactivators and corepressors compete for the interaction with transcriptional factors. Chromatin is normally condensed and unexpressed. Following the specific cellular signal, transcriptional corepressors are displaced while transcriptional coactivators and activators and corepressors and activators and activators and CBP results in local acetyltransferase activity and chromatin opening. Recruitment of SWI/SNF remodeling complex causes the modification of the overall nucleosomal structure. TRAP/DRIP directly contacts components of the basal transcriptional machinery to effect transcriptional initiation. Us a result, the promoter region becomes accessible to the transcriptional machine and mRNA is transcribed from the initiation site. Local coactivator recruitment may vary: a promoter in a readily accessible chromatin context may not require significant chromatin remodeling or histone acetyltransferase activity for assembling of a preinitiation complex.

The p160 family members are primary coactivators (28) that directly bind to activated NRs and recruit secondary coactivators with local acetyl-transferase activity (CBP/p300) or methyl-transferase activity (CARM1). The SWI/SNF coactivator complex and other similar complexes have an ATP-dependent nucleosome remodeling activity, which contributes to a significant overall alteration of the chromatin structure. The TRAP/DRIP complex directly interacts with RNA polymerase II and apparently participates in the recruitment and activation of the polymerase. Transcription activation arises from a complex relationship between NRs, tens of distinct coregulators and the genes (*Fig.3*). Most importantly, coregulators are versatile factors that influence not only transcriptional initiation but also elongation, splicing, and translation. Additionally, they can also regulate a variety of biological processes outside of the nucleus, acting as propagators of post-translational modifications. This important concept underlines the sophisticated and dynamic epigenetic control that has been developed in the mammalian phenotype.

Coactivators of Nuclear Receptors

The NRs coactivators, as well as NRs corepressors, belong to that group of proteins termed coregulators (7). We conventionally define coactivators as molecules that interact with NRs and enhance their transactivation. Analogously, corepressors are molecules that lower the transcription rate at NRs target genes. Most coregulators are, by definition, rate limiting for nuclear receptors activation or repression, but do not significantly alter basal transcription.

It is now over a decade since the first NRs coactivator, SRC-1 was cloned and discovered (29,30) to be a new type of transcriptional factor that do not bind to DNA, but directly or indirectly bind to NRs, mediating their transcriptional activity. Initially, we believed that coactivators were simply adaptor proteins that stabilized the general transcription machinery at the TATA box. Over the past decade, we realized that they perform virtually all of the reactions needed for controlling the enhancer-dependent gene expression (35) and coordinate many aspects of hormone-receptor physiology (31,34), including the concepts of tissue specificity, hormone kinetics (32), integration of membrane and nuclear signaling (39), nuclear coordination of mitochondria (34), even mRNA translation (45) and cell motility processes (44). In fact, different coregulators appear to coordinately control many diverse DNA-binding transcriptional factors in order to implement major physiological processes within the cell such as inflammation (42,43), fat and carbohydrate metabolism (46), and cell growth (34,35).

Unlike general transcriptional factors (GTFs), coactivators interact directly or in close association with the enhancer DNA-binding transcriptional factors and are not constitutive of the RNA polymerase II holocomplex. Coactivator recruitment is usually, but not always, ligand dependent. Coactivators can be subdivided into two groups: primary coactivators and secondary coactivators, which actually could be referred to as co-coactivators (161). Co-coactivators are constituents of multisubunit coactivator complexes, which contribute to the enhancement of NR-mediated transcription but do not directly contact NRs, like primary coactivators (162). Coactivators always function in multiprotein complexes: they

- 16 -

are recruited to the target gene following NRs binding to the promoter and accomplish many enzymatic activities (28), like modification of chromatin structure (acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation), required for initiation of transcription, elongation of RNA chain, RNA splicing and finally termination of transcription. Even closely related coactivators (i.e. SRC-1 and SRC-3) have specific and different gene regulatory functions, associated with the control of metabolism, reproduction, cardiovascular system, neurology and they have great importance in many diseases, including cancer. In addiction, these factors may function as molecular gates to enable integration of diverse signal transduction pathways at NRs-regulated promoters. Over 270 coregulators have been identified till now and almost 160 of them are associated with some pathological state. The most frequent of the pathologies are a variety of cancers in which coregulators have been shown to serve as either oncogenes or tumor suppressors, depending upon signaling and cell context.

Corepressors of Nuclear Receptors

Originally corepressors were predicted to exist based upon the ability of the unliganded thyroid hormone receptor to function as a transcriptional repressor (164). Transcriptional repression (47) might in some way reflect transcriptional activation (48), representing its negative counterpart. In fact, an increasing number of studies have been providing new insights into how transcriptional corepressors, in addition to blocking activators entrance to the promoter site, may basically assemble repression complexes that include chromatin modification factors. Accordingly, NR corepressors (4), like NCoR or SMRT (49), are recruited by NRs either in the absence of ligand (50) or following the binding of NR to the antagonist (such as Tamoxifen). Normally, corepressors are supposed to repress gene expression primarily through their interaction with unliganded NR (163). Interaction with NR is mediated through amphipathic helical peptides, called CoRNR boxes (51), which are actually similar to the previously characterized NR-coactivator box. As a result, transcriptional corepressors are not only structurally similar but also functionally

comparable to coactivators. Histone deacetylation, for example, antagonizes coactivator acetyltransferase activity, although corepressors, lacking intrinsic deacetylase domains, require recruited factors such as Sin3 and histone deacetylases (HDACs) (*5*2,*5*3). Similarly to coactivators, corepressors are also targeted by posttranslational modifications. For example, intracellular localization of coregulators SMRT and NCoR is controlled by phosphorylation (169,170). Phosphorylation of SMRT results in its redistribution to the cytoplasm, neutralizing it corepressing function. Also, as observed in neural stem cells, NCoR is exported to the cytoplasm when phosphorylated by the Akt kinase, affecting the ability to differentiate into astrocytes (171). NCoR is subjected to SUMOylation too, which enhances its corepressing function (172).

NCoR (nuclear receptor corepressor), also know as RIP-3, is probably the most well established corepressor (50). It is a 270-KD protein that specifically binds unliganded TR α and RAR α , while only partial interaction has been observed with RXR, ER, or GR (175). Mutational analysis of the TR LBD has identified a domain, termed the NCoR box, which is indispensable for the interaction of TR with NCoR (50). To substantiate the function of NCoR as a mediator of ligand-independent repression, fusion of NCoR to the Gal4-DBD effects potent repression at the reporter promoter bearing Gal4-DBD-binding sites (50). Moreover, deletion mutants have identified two receptor-interacting domains (RIDs) in the C-terminal portion of NCoR (175).

SMRT (silencing mediator for retinoic and thyroid hormone receptor) is the other important well-known corepressor of NRs. It was isolated on the basis of its interaction with RAR, RXR, and TR (176). Two C-terminal RID domains are present in the sequence of SMRT and are capable of differentially interact with individual receptors: for example, RAR α binds RID-1 exclusively, whereas TR binds both domains with equal affinity (177).

NCoR and SMRT are structurally similar (50, 178) but also differ functionally in several respects. For example, the functional diversity among RAR isoforms has been ascribed to the differential interaction with SMRT or NCoR: whereas RAR α and RAR γ interact with both corepressors, RAR β exhibits no affinity for either SMRT or NCoR (177). These corepressors differ most notably, however, in the mediation of transcriptional repression by

certain orphan receptors. Orphan receptor DAX-1, which interacts with NCoR (179), does not interact with SMRT. Similarly, RevErb exclusively recruits NCoR to the DNA, but not SMRT to effect transcriptional repression (180).

TRUP (thyroid receptor-uncoupled protein) is another transcriptional repressor, which attenuates hormone-dependent transactivation by TR and RAR, but has no effects on ER and RXR transactivation (181).

Notably, steroid hormone receptors, like ER, PR or GR, have little DNA-binding activity in the absence of hormone; indeed, steroid receptors are sequestered in the cytoplasm by ternary interactions with hsp90 and hsp70 (3). Anyway, a number of studies have since demonstrated the interaction of nuclear receptor corepressors with antagonist-bound steroid receptors. SMRT has been shown to interact with ER in the presence of tamoxifen (182). NCoR is also likewise able to interact with antagonist-bound PR-LBD and overexpression of NCoR and SMRT markedly suppress the partial agonist activity of RU486 bound to PR (183).

Chromatin Dynamics and Gene Transcriptional Activation

Activation of gene transcription definitely occurs as a result of combinatorial control of gene expression accomplished by NR-mediated recruitment of functionally distinct coregulator complexes: multiple coactivators contribute in a complementary way to transcriptional activation. Hence, it has become clear that transcriptional coregulators act directors of chromatin remodeling and nucleosomal organization, as master communicating with each other and with the transcriptional apparatus through a complicate network of post-translational modifications. The entire process of NR-induced coactivators recruitment, assembly of transcription machinery, and initiation of transcription is dynamic and may happen in a cyclic fashion. For example, the ER α transcription complex appears to repeatedly cycle on and off of the target promoters in the presence of estrogen (85). The cycling is probably regulated by phosphorylation of the C-terminal region of RNA-Polymerase II, exchange of coactivators (especially CBP and p300), and

covalent modifications, phosphorylation and acetylation, of coregulators (especially SRCs) (78,86,87). Specifically, post-translational modification of coregulators has been emerging as an elegant mechanism for controlling tissue- and promoter-specificity of gene expression. Among several identified coregulators, p160 family members and the histone acetyltransferase CBP appear to be particularly prone to modifications by kinase-mediated signaling pathways (78). Kinase-mediated signaling may also communicate directly with NRs: AF-1 domain phosphorylation might serve to further consolidate ligand-dependent NR-SRC interaction or to recruit SRCs to the promoter in absence of ligand (*Fig.3*).

Currently, two secondary coactivators have been shown to be part of the p160 primary coactivator complex and collaborate with p160 coactivators to mediate transcriptional activation: the histone acetyltransferase CBP (or the related protein p300), and the histone methyltransferase CARM1. Accumulating data support a sequential mechanism for p160 function: CBP/p300, CARM1, pCAF, PRMT1, and other specific secondary components are recruited to the promoter following the direct interaction with ligand-bound NRs and specifically acetylate and methylate histones around the promoter region. In fact, posttranscriptional modifications of histones represent the major target for coregulatormediate signaling and the final conduit to the regulation of gene expression (168). In the eukaryotic chromosome the histone represents the basic protein unit of the nucleosome, which constitutes the regularly repeating structure in which DNA is organized. The nucleosome core particle comprises a histone octamer, made up of two copies each of histones H2A, H2B, H3, and H4, around which is wrapped 1.7 turns of left-handed DNA superhelix (184). Much importantly, the net effect of this rearrangement is to create a thermodynamic barrier against the access of transcriptional factors to the DNA. Specifically, the amino-terminal tails of histones play an essential role in making internucleosomal contacts (185) and, for that reason, represent the major target of histonemodifying enzymes, such as acetylases and deacetylases, which ultimately regulate the access of transcriptional factors to the cognate DNA elements. Increased histone tails acetylation correlates with gene activation, whereas hypoacetylation or deacetylation has been associated with repression (187). The major effect of hyperacetylation of aminoterminal histone tails, especially at selective lysine residues, is to reduce the positive charge and hence uncouple their interaction with negatively charged DNA, and thereby creating an environment more accessible to TFs (188). Specifically, p300 and CBP can acetylate all four core-histone types and, whereas CBP exhibits no substrate specificity, p300 HAT activity is directed primarily towards histone H3 (189,190). The intrinsic HAT activity of pCAF (p300/CBP associated factor) primarily targets histones H3 and H4 (191). pCAF interacts *in vitro* with p300/CBP (191), SRC-1 (120), SRC-3 (57), and nuclear receptors (192,193), interactions that serve to stabilize the functional complex of receptor ate the promoter. Additionally, HAT activity is also conserved in members of p160 family, including SRC-1 (120) and SRC-3 (57), although no such activity has been identified in SRC-2. However, SRCs HAT activity is only marginal and does not seams to be crucial for the modification of nucleosomal structure. Instead SRCs function in this context is to recruit at the promoter diverse combination of stronger HAT activities possessed by secondary coactivators.

As previously mentioned (*Fig.3*), a multistep model has been envisaged for transcriptional activation by nuclear receptors, in which binding of receptor to the enhancer region directs modification of the local chromatin structure into a transcriptionally permissive state, followed by recruitment of GTFs (see later) to for the preinitiation complex at the promoter. Basically the entire process id orchestrated by coactivators, which are thought to be fundamental for recruiting chromatin-modifying enzymes, acetylases and ATPases complexes. In fact, following the initial assembly of primary coactivators to the promoter, the SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling complex is recruited through direct interaction with CBP/p300 and the CBP/p300-acetylated histone tails stabilizes the recruitment. The SWI/SNF complex possesses ATPase activity, causing active disruption of the chromatin state, in an ATP-dependent manner, and hence resulting in stable changes of DNA topology (81,82). The TRAP complex is in turn recruited to the chromatin through interactions with SRC/CBP/p300 preformed complex. The TRAP complex directly communicates with the basal transcriptional machinery loading initiation of transcriptional activation (83,84).

Broadly speaking, histone deacetylation represents a state of gene repression. The cloning of mammalian homologues of yeast deacetylases proteins (194,195,196), finally established a functional link between histone deacetylation and transcriptional regulation. Mammalian HDAC-1 (194), HDAC-2 (195), and Sin3 (196) proteins have been well documented to be involved in repression of transcription by nuclear receptors (197). Association between Sin3 and HDAC-1 and HDAC-2 has also been demonstrated *in vivo* (198). In addition, biochemical evidences suggest that Sin3 and HDACs exist in a stable preformed complex in mammalian cells (199,200). Moreover, anti-NCoR antibodies have been shown to specifically coimmunoprecipitate with histone deacetylases (53,201,54). Collectively, these data support the idea that nucleosomal condensation through recruitment of corepressors and associated histone deacetylases is the mechanism by which unliganded NRs inhibit the assembly of the preinitiation complex, maintaining a transcriptionally inactive steady state. Ligand binding is thought to induce release of corepressors enable the receptor to recruit PCAF, p300/CBP, and SRCs to effect histone acetylation and promote the transcriptionally permissive environment at the promoter.

General Transcription Factors

Nuclear receptors regulate transcription through enhancer and promoter elements that may be located thousands or hundreds of base pairs from the transcription initiation site, at which transcription is mediated by RNA polymerase II (Pol II) and its several associated genera transcriptional factors (GTFs), which are constituents of the so-called Pol II holoenzyme. The initial step in mRNA transcription is the binding of TFIID to the promoter, at short distance from the transcriptional start site. TFIID functions as a multiprotein complex composed of TATA-binding protein (TBP) and the highly conserved TBP-associated factors (TAFs). Human TFIID complex has been shown to be composed of a core group of subunits, containing hTAFII250, hTAFII135, hTAFII30, hTAFII20, and hTAF18 (202,203). Following TFIID binding, TFIIB, another important TF is recruited to the TBP-DNA complex. TFIIB possesses affinity for single-stranded DNA and places in

proximity to TATA box in response to a critical change in DNA topology induced by TBP (204). Binding of TFIIB is necessary for recruitment of TFII- α , which is followed by RNA polymerase II entrance (205). TBP and TAFIIs interact functionally with specific nuclear receptors. Several interactions between TBP and NRs have been reported. Protein-protein interaction assay, such as yeast two-hybrid system and in vitro binding assay with recombinant proteins, have detected an association between TBP and AF-2 domain of RXR (205) and AF-1 and AF-2 domains of ER (207). A similar association has been found for PR with TFIID (208). Moreover, interactions of NRs with other general transcription factors have been described: between TFIIF and AR (209), TFIIH and RAR (210), and between TFIIB with VDR (211) and other nuclear receptors (212). Interaction of general transcriptional factors and nuclear receptors may be influential in modulating a DNA-bound ternary complex between receptor, TFIIs, and TBP-TAFs, contributing to the assembly of final transcriptional complexes at NRs target promoters. Consistent with the designation that TFs recruitment is a rate-limiting step, direct contacts between NRs and RNA Polymerase II-associated TFs may represent the endpoint of a stepwise aggregation of hundreds of factors. Essentially, it is by influencing the rate of assembly of such factors that nuclear receptors, in association with their coregulators, achieve activation of hormone-regulated genes.

PART 2: Structure and Function of SRC Coactivators

The steroid receptor coactivator (SRC) gene family (also called p160 family) consists of three homologous members (SRC -1, -2, and -3), which acts as generic primary transcriptional coactivators for NRs and also other type of transcription factors. The major role of these coactivators is to specifically interact with hormone-activated NR, enanching their transcriptional activity and promoting the recruitment of chromatin modification enzymes to the promoter region. The molecular structure, as well as the fine spatio-temporal regulation, has been revealed to be essential for molecular mechanism of action and functional specificity of SRC family members. Most of the information concerning the biological function of p160 coactivators derives from the characterization of animal models, which revealed their fundamental role in development, organ maturation, endocrine regulation, and NR function. Accordingly, their disregulation and overexpression is critical for the progression of many type of cancer.

Contents:

- The p160 Primary Coactivators Family
- Structural and Functional Domains of SRC Family Proteins
- Role of SRC Proteins in Chromatin Remodeling and Transcriptional Activation
- Biological Function and Characterization of SRC Family Members

SRC-1 (NCoA-1) SRC-2 (TIF-2/GRIP-1/NCoA-2) SRC-3 (NCoA3/pCIP/AIB1/ACTR/RAC-3/TRAM-1) Functional Specificity of SRC Family Members

The p160 Primary Coactivators Family

According to the assumption that gene activation arises from a coactivators-driven signal transduction system, in which each component need to possess specific domains for interacting with upstream and downstream components, primary coactivators serve as the earliest and major nexus between DNA-bound transcriptional factors and cellular signaling pathways. These coactivators interact with ligand-bound nuclear receptors (1,5) recruiting histone acetyltransferases (HATs) and methyltransferases (DMTs) to specific enhancer regions (47), which facilitates chromatin remodeling and consequently assembly of general transcription factors.

The p160 steroid receptor coactivator (SRC) gene family was firstly identified in the 90's (29,30) and consists of three homologous members (28), which act as primary coactivators for NRs and certain other transcription factors. SRC-1 (full length SRC-1 or steroid receptor coactivator-1) was cloned through its ability to interact with the ligand bound PR, ER, or TR (29,30); SRC-2 (glucocorticoid receptor-interacting protein 1, transcriptional intermediary factor-2, or steroid receptor coactivator-2) was identified through its interactions with ligand binding domains of GR and ER (54,55); SRC-3 (p300/CBP interacting protein, receptor-associated coactivator 3, acetyl transferase ACTR, amplified in breast cancer 1, thyroid hormone receptor activator molecule-1, or steroid receptor coactivator-3) was initially identified in an amplified chromosomal region of a human breast cancer cell line and subsequently characterized as a nuclear receptor coactivator homologous to SRC-1 and SRC-2 (56,57,58,59). All three members of the SRC family are able to interact with many NRs in a ligand-dependent manner and significantly enhance NR-activated gene transcriptional. In addition to NRs, SRC family members, when experimentally expressed in cultured cells, also interact and coactivate certain other transcription factors such as AP-1 (60), serum response factor (61), nuclear factor-kB (NFkB) (62), and interferon- γ and cAMP regulatory element-binding protein (CREB) (63). Therefore, each member of SRC family seem to serve as a general coactivator for multiple NRs, providing an explanation for the functional redundancy of SRC members observed in vivo.

The amino acid sequences and biological functions of all known SRC-related proteins are evolutionarily conserved among different species. Avian SRC-1 is 75% identical to mammalian SRC-1 protein. Except human and rodent, SRC-2 was also identified in zebrafish (zTIF2) and frog (64). SRC-3-related proteins where also identified in fruit fly and frog: in *Drosophila* a coactivator for ectysone receptor, called Taiman, was identified by a genetic approach and found sharing 48% of sequence identity with the N-terminal helix-loop-helix domain of human SRC-3 (65); the *Xenopus* SRC-3 (xSRC-3) is 72% identical to mammalian SRC-3 (66) and was demonstrated that it can coactivate mammalian NRs such as retinoid X receptor, RAR, and TR.

Structural and Functional Domains of SRC Family Proteins

Human and rodent SRC proteins are about 160kDa and they are encoded from genes with an overall sequence similarity of 50-55% and sequence identity of 43-48% between the most conserved N-terminal bHLH/PAS three members (*Fiq.4*). Their domain (bHLH/Per/Ah receptor nuclear translocator (ARNT)/Sim domain) was originally discovered in Drosophila, where it is involved in DNA binding and heterodimerization between other proteins containing this kind of motif (67). In human, it has been shown that this domain is important for interaction of SRC-2 with myogenic factors (68). The central region of SRC family members is relatively conserved and contains three LXXLL (L, leucine; X, any amino acid) motifs that are responsible for the interaction with ligand-bound NRs (L1-L3 in **Fig.4**) (57,63,69,70). The LXXLL motif forms an amphipathic α -helix that binds a hydrophobic cleft present in the ligand-binding domain of NRs and accessible only after binding ligands (3,8,71). Single mutation of any one of these three LXXLL motifs does not completely abolish the interaction with NRs, suggesting the idea that they collaborate for the high-affinity binding of SRCs to NRs (72). In the carboxyl-terminal region are present two transactivation domains (AD1 and AD2), defined by the two-hybrid system

assay, which cooperatively enhance the activation function domains of NRs (55,73). The AD1 region is responsible for interaction with general transcription coregulators, CBP and p300, but does not interact with NRs (*Fig.4*). Interestingly, AD1 also contains three LXXLL-like motifs (L4-L6 in *Fig.4*) and mutations of one or more of these three motifs impair the interaction of SRCs with CBP and p300, indicating that the major role of AD1 is to recruit acetyltransferases for chromatin remodeling (fig.4) (9,70,74). The second transactivation domain, AD2, is responsible for interaction with histone methyltransferases, coactivator-associated arginine methyltransferase 1 and PRMT1 (75,76), recruitment of which is also a critical event for NR-directed local chromatin remodeling and assembly of the transcriptional machinery around the promoter region.



Similarity (Identity): hSRC-1/2 54% (46%); hSRC-1/3 50% (43%); hSRC-2/3 55% (48%)

Figure 4. Structural and functional domains of SRC family members and sequence homology. The similarity and identity of amino acid sequences for full-length human SRC proteins are indicated above the bars. The letters within the bars indicate structural domains, and the lines under the bars indicate domains that interact with different factors. bHLH/PAS: helix loop helix Per/ARNT/Sim homologous domain; S/T: serine/threonine-rich regions; LXXLL: typical LXXLL α -helix motif; HAT: histone acetyltransferase domains identified in SRC-1 and SRC-3. AD1 and AD2: transcriptional activation domains 1 and 2.

Role of SRC Proteins in Chromatin Remodeling and Transcriptional Activation

The C-terminal domains of SRC-1 and SRC-3 contain histone acetyltransferase (HAT) activities, raising the possibility that SRC coactivators may play a direct role in chromatin remodeling during the process of NR directed initiation of transcription (57,77). However, the SRC HAT activity is much weaker than those in CBP, p300, and p/CAF and inactivation of the HAT activity in SRC-1 by site-directed mutagenesis does not significantly affect its coactivating function in an *in vitro* transcriptional assay (77). In fact, the intrinsic HAT activity of SRCs is not essential for initiation of transcription. Instead, SRCs may play a major role in assembling general transcription factors through direct and indirect recruitment of other coactivators (Fig.3), which results in acetylation and methylation of specific histories (79,80) and initiation of transcription. First, ligand bindingtriggered interaction between SRCs and NRs results in the recruitment of secondary coactivators, such as CBP/p300 (78). Second, the SWI/SNF chromatin-remodeling complex is specifically recruited through the histone CBP/p300-acetylated regions and causes resistant remodeling of DNA topology (81,82). Third, the TRAP complex is recruited through the preformed SRC/CBP/p300 complex and more directly communicates with the transcriptional apparatus (83,84). Fourth, initiation of transcription, not only depends on progressively direct interaction of functional complexes, but is also regulated via the intercommunication between all these members, accomplished by many different secondary modifications (85,86). Importantly, coregulators always work as multiprotein complexes. For instance, the SRC family coactivators exist in a steady-state complexes consisting of six to ten stably associated components, which anyway are not static but rather are subjected to dynamic rearrangement related to specific post-translational modifications. Phosphorylation (87), acetylation (86), methylation (165,166), and ubiquitination (167) of coregulator complex members by their associated co-coregulators such as p300/CBP, CARM1, and the Fbw7 α (part of SCF E3 ligase) can define the affinity of SRCs for NRs or other members of the coregulator complex. As an important consequence of their existence as multiprotein complexes, coregulators are able to transmit signals from the environment by supplying a variety of enzymatic activities at the promoter of the genes.

Biological Function and Characterization of SRC Family Members

Our knowledge of SRC family members is based in part on expression patterns of mRNA and proteins and more specifically on phenotype of mouse models. Discussing each SRC member, both these aspects will be taken into account.

SRC-1 (NCoA-1)

The SRC-1 gene is located in chromosome 2 (p23) in humans and chromosome 12 (A2-3) in mice (88,89). SRC-1 was identified by yeast two-hybrid screen of a human B-lymphocyte cDNA library with bait encoding the PR LBD. SRC-1 gene is widely expressed in many tissues and cell types (90). During mouse embryonic development, SRC-1 is highly expressed starting from day 8.5 and it is important for a correct formation of different tissue (91,92). In adult mice, SRC-1 remains highly expressed in certain brain regions including olfactory bulb, hippocampus, piriform cortex, amygdala, hypothalamus, cerebellum and brainstem (92). Despite these tissue specific patterns in neuronal cells, no known human disease has been specifically linked to genetic defects of SRC-1 gene at this time. However, genetic models provided important clues for partial resistance to steroid hormones due to loss of SRC-1 function. For example, the estrogen-induced growth and estrogen- and progesterone- dependent uterine decidual response were decreased in ovariectomixed female SRC-1 -/- mice. Mammary gland ductal side branching and alveolar formation were reduced in ovariectomized female SRC-1 -/- mice treated with estrogen and progesterone. A similar partial response was observed from testosterone-1-stimulated prostate growth in castrated males SRC-1 mice (93). These observations in part indicate that SRC-1 serves as one of the in vivo coactivators to mediate transcriptional activity of steroid receptors. SRC-1 possesses a broad range of interaction with nuclear receptors, including ER, PR, GR, TR, RXR (213), HNF-4 (214), and PPAR- γ (215). In addiction to nuclear receptors, SRC-1 modestly coactivates other transcription factors, including AP-1 (216), serum response factor (217), and NF- κ B (218).

SRC-1 plays an important role in brain development (94). At birth, the gonads of male rats produce testosterone that is converted into dihydrotestosterone and estradiol in the brain. The dihydrotestosterone activates AR and results in behavioral masculinization. Estradiol activates ER and results in development of the sexually dimorphic nucleus (SDN) and behavioral defeminization in male rats. Interestingly, down-regulation of SRC-1 by infusion of antisense oligodeoxynucleotides (ODNs) into the neonatal stage significantly reduces the SDN volume, blocking behavioral defeminization. In contrast, SRC-1 down-regulation does not affect the masculinization on male sexual behavior, suggesting that SRC-1 plays an important role in ER-mediated SDN development and defeminization but not in AR-mediated masculinization.

In addition, SRC-1 is expressed at higher levels than other SRCs in the cerebella PC (95), and mice lacking SRC-1 exhibit a delay in PC development. The adult SRC-1 knockout mice also exhibit moderate motor learning dysfunction. Since TR and retinoid-related orphan nuclear receptor play important role in PC development, SRC-1 might be required for normal function of these nuclear receptors in PC development.

Intriguingly, multiple observations have suggested that the usage of SRC-1 by different TR isoforms is tissue specific. First, SRC-1 is important for both TR α - and TR β -mediated body growth since both TR α /SRC-1 and TR β /SRC-1 double-knockout mice exhibit more severe growth retardation than either TR α or TR β single-knockout mice. Second, SRC-1 partially mediates the TH effects on heart rates by TR α and TR β . Third, hypersensitivity to TH seen in TR α null mice, as demonstrated by overexpression of a TH regulated gene, 5' deoiodinase, in the liver, is abolished in SRC-1-/- mice, suggesting that the hypersensitivity in TR α null mice is due to TR β function enhanced by SRC-1 (96). Fourth, SRC-1 is required for normal down-regulation of TSH by both TR α and TR β in the pituitary. In the absence of TR α , SRC-1 expression is elevated in the pituitary, suggesting that the excess

amount of SRC-1 in TR α null mice may superactivate TR β and cause TH hypersensitivity for downregulation of TSH (97).

The role of SRC-1 in peroxisomal proliferator-activated receptor- γ (PPAR γ) function also exhibit certain levels of tissue specificity, which is probably due to relative amount PPAR γ and SRC family members. In liver SRC-1 seems to be not required for expression of PPAR γ -regulated genes. In contrast, in the brown fat, activation of PPAR γ triggers the recruitment of coactivator complex containing PGC-1, SRC-1 and CBP/p300. Inactivation of SRC-1 impairs the thermogenic activity of PGC-1 in the brown fat, decreases the energy expenditure, and results in obesity following a high-fat diet (98).

SRC-2 (TIF-2/GRIP-1/NCoA-2)

The SRC-2 gene is located in chromosome 8 (q21 in humans and chromosome 1 (A3-5) in mice (99). SRC-2 mRNA and protein have been detected in many tissues, including placenta, testis, brain, heart, liver, pancreas, and uterus. SRC-2 protein is undetected in hepatocytes, thyroid gland, and striated muscle by immunohistochemistry. These studies indicate hat SRC-2 is widely expressed in many organs and its expression amount varies between cell types and organs. SRC-2 associates in a ligand-dependent manner *in vitro* with several receptor LBDs (55) and, *in vivo*, with RAR α , ER, and PR in the presence of hormone (54,55,219).

Similar to SRC-1 -/- mice, SRC-2 -/- mice exhibit nearly normal somatic growth. However, the fertility is significantly reduced in both male and female SRC-2 null mice. Male hypofertility appears to be of Sertoli cell origin since SRC-2 is specifically expressed in this cell type in the testis and the absence of SRC-2 results in lipid accumulation and germ cells apoptosis. In agreement with the role of SRC-2 in mouse, some men with oligospermic infertility possess an AR mutation from methionine to valine that disrupts the interaction between AR and SRC-2 (100). The hypofertility of female SRC-2 mutant mice is due to a placental hypoplasia caused by the absence of SRC-2 in decidual stromal cells. These findings indicate that SRC-2 plays a critical role in reproductive behavior and functions.

Recent studies have shown that SRC-2 plays an important role also in lipid metabolism and energy balance (98). In the white adipose tissue (WAT), SRC-2 serves as a coactivator for PPARy. In SRC-2 -/- mice, WAT expresses high levels of leptin and lower levels of genes responsible for antilipolysis and fatty acid uptake and trapping, such as the perilipins, fatty acid binding protein P2, lipoprotein lipase, and PPARy, causing higher levels of lipolysis and a lower potential for fatty acid storage. In the brown adipose tissue (BAT), SRC-1 is a better coactivator than SRC-2 in the stabilization of PPARy and PGC-1. The absence of SRC-2 in BAT facilitates the formation PPARy/PGC-1/SRC-1 complex for PPARγ-dependent transactivation. Thus, BAT lacking SRC-2 expresses higher levels of uncoupling protein 1, PGC-1, and acetyl coenzyme A oxidase, causing higher energy expenditure due to enhanced fatty acid oxidation and uncoupling of respiration. As a result, SRC-2 null mice exhibit higher body temperature under cold conditions, less fat accumulation, lower levels of fasting glycemia and triglyceride, and higher insulin sensitivity. Collectively, these mice are better able to protect themselves against obesity induced by high-fat diet or hyperphagia. Interestingly, a high-fat diet induces SRC-2 expression in both WAT and BAT, which may reflect part of the molecular mechanism for the enhancement of fat accumulation (98).

SRC-2 is also expressed in proliferating myoblasts and postmitotic differentiated myotubes and potentiates skeletal muscle differentiation by acting as a critical coactivator for MEF-2 (68). However, no defect in skeletal muscle development was observed in SRC-2 deficient mice, suggesting that other SRCs may compensate for the loss of SRC-2 function in skeletal muscle development *in vivo*.

SRC-3 (NCoA3/pCIP/AIB1/ACTR/RAC-3/TRAM-1)

The SRC-3 gene is located in chromosome 20 (q12) in humans and chromosome 2 (H2-4) in mice (56,89). Similar to the other members of the family, experiments based on Northern blot analysis reveal that SRC-3 mRNA is also widely expressed. More notably, a knock-in mouse model harboring a β -galactosidase reporter downstream of the endogenous SRC-3 promoter reveled that the mouse SRC-3 gene is mainly expressed in mammary gland

epithelial cells, oocytes, vaginal epithelial layer (34), indicating that, although widely expressed, SRC-3 is selectively higher in some specific cell types.

SRC-3 -/- mice display growth retardation and reduced adult body size (101) with decreased white adipose tissue mass (46). Although the reproductive function of male SRC-3 -/- mice is only slightly reduced, the development and function of the female reproductive system is abnormal (34). First, estrogen levels are significantly lower in female SRC-3 -/-, which in turn causes a delay in pubertal development and mammary gland growth. Second, mammary development in response to combined stimulation of estrogen and progesterone is decreased in SRC-3 -/- female mice. Third, the ovulation capacity, after fertilization when mating with fertile males, is also substantially reduced, probably as a consequence of the poor follicular development due to the estrogen inefficiency or, partially, because of the absence of SRC-3 in the oocytes. Collectively, these results indicate that the major physiological functions of SRC-3 are distinct from those of SRC-1 and SRC-2.

Another aspect is that SRC-3 is coexpressed with ER α and ER β also in the endothelial cells and vascular smooth muscle cells and may facilitate the estrogen-mediated vasoprotective effects, through inhibition of neointimal formation after vessel injury (102). For example, the neointimal growth in ovariectomized wild-type mice is almost completely inhibited by estrogen treatment, but only partially inhibited in ovariectomized SRC-3 -/- mice due to an insufficient suppression of vascular cell proliferation by estrogen (102).

Recently, SRC-3 was found to be associated with the $I\kappa B$ kinase (103). The $I\kappa B$ kinase can phosphorylate SRC-3 and promote nuclear localization of SRC-3. In addition, SRC-3 is able to promote NF- κ B-mediated gene expression while the expression of known NF- κ B target genes is reduced in SRC-3 -/- mice (103). These observations support a former discovery that SRC-3 is a NF- κ B coactivator too (104), suggesting that SRC-3 can play an important role in inflammatory and immune response as well as cell survival mediated by NF- κ B.

- 33 -

Functional Specificity of SRC Family Members

The SRC family is defined by an overall sequence similarity of 40% between the three members, reflecting their functional correlation (*Fig.4*). The most extending sequence conservation is in the N-terminal region, in which the bHLH/PAS domain is located. Importantly, the homology in this region for the SRC members is unique among PAS-containing proteins (110), identifying the SRC proteins as a distinct family of PAS factors. The bHLH-PAS domain serves as a protein-protein interaction surface (118) other than assist in the DNA-binding. Accordingly, like other PAS proteins, evidence suggests that SRC members are capable of forming heteromultimeric and homomultimeric complexes *in vivo* (220). Anyway, while the considerable sequence similarity between SRC family members indicates some functional redundancy, there is nevertheless sufficient sequence divergence to indicate also autonomy of function. Moreover, the putative use of alternative splicing junctions in the C-terminus give rise to more considerable sequence complexity. For example, SRC-1 and SRC-2 are distinguished by a 65-aminoacids deletion in SRC-2 with respect to SRC-1 (*Fig.4*).

Protein-protein interaction assays and *in vitro* or *ex vivo* experiments have made it clear that SRC family members may possess many common features, but also important functional and tissue specificity. On one hand, the viable and fertile phenotype of knockout mice lacking functional SRC-1, SRC-2, or SRC-3 further support the notion that SRC family members may be able to partially compensate each other's function *in vivo* (34,93), probably due to the similar structure of functional domains as well as their partially overexpression patters in certain tissues. Additionally, it could be equally possible that some biological functions are dependent on the total amount of SRC family members. However, several studies have demonstrated the existence of a precise specificity between NRs, in terms of select distinct downstream coactivators and, therefore, selective activation of target genes for different NRs may depend on differential recruitment of specific SRCs. For example, microinjection of expression plasmids for SRC-1 or SRC-2, but not SRC-3, was shown to rescue RAR-dependent transcription in SRC-1-immunodepleated cells, suggesting that SRC-3 cannot compensate for the function of

SRC-1 and SRC-2 in these assays (63). More interestingly, a recent study demonstrated that PR interacts preferentially with SRC-1 in breast cancer cells, which recruits CBP and enhances acetylation of histone H4. In contrast, GR interacts preferentially with SRC-2, which recruits p/CAF and results in histone H3 acetylation. This study suggests that selective recruitment of SRCs by different NRs may determine the specificity of coactivator complexes that in turns reflects the specificity of transcriptional signals (79). In addiction, variable tissue-specific expression patterns of SRC family members may be also responsible for their functional specificity. For example, SRC-3 has been found to be specifically overexpressed in primary breast tumors (56) against the relatively low expression of SRC-1 and SRC-2. Although members of SRC family are widely expressed, their expression levels are often tissues and cell type related. The differences in temporal and spatial expression of SRCs may explain, at least in part, the discrepancy between *in vitro* experiments, where all SRCs enhance most NR-dependent transcription and *in vivo* experiments, where SRC-1, SRC-2 and SRC-3 knockout mice exhibit differing phenotypes.

PART 3: SRC-3 Steroid Receptors Coactivator: Structure and Function

Steroid receptor coactivator-3 (SRC-3/pCIP/AIB1/ACTR/RAC3/TRAM-1) is a member of the p160 family. SRC-3 is importantly required for normal animal growth and development of sexual characters and it is often overexpressed or amplified in many type of cancers, especially human breast cancer. Specifically, SRC-3 is required for the complete functionality of ER. Therefore, it is likely that SRC-3 also plays an important role in estrogen-stimulated proliferation and hormone-related tumorigenesis. Nevertheless, it has been shown that SRC-3 can also modulate divers hormone-independent pathways. Phosphorylation, along with other posttranscriptional modifications, plays a pivotal role in regulating SRC-3 cellular functions and allows SRC-3 to act as an important integrator of many signaling pathway. For this reason, SRC-3 exemplifies the paradigm of the mammalian transcriptional program complexity.

Contents:

- Physiological and Cellular Functions of SRC-3
 Role of SRC-3 in Mice Normal Growth and Sexual Functions
 Role of SRC-3 in Vasoprotective Effect of Estrogen
- Molecular Structure of SRC-3
- Molecular Mechanism of Action of SRC-3
 - Hormone-dependent Signal Transduction
 - Hormone-independent Signal Transduction Pathway
- Selective Phosphorylation of SRC-3
 Extranuclear Phosphorylation of SRC-3
- SRC-3 Cellular Degradation
- SRC-3 in Oncogenesis
 - **Clinical Studies**
 - Transgenic Mouse Models
- Biological Function of SRC-3 in vivo: Concluding Remarks. The Exemplification of
- Transcriptional Program Complexity
Physiological and Cellular Functions of SRC-3

Previous studies indicate that SRC-3 is required for normal animal growth and is often amplified or overexpressed in many cancers, including breast cancer (56,105), prostate cancer (106,107), ovarian cancer (101), endometrial carcinoma (108), and gastric cancer (109). SRC-3 was firstly localized in a frequently amplified chromosomal region, 20q12 (56) and named Amplified in Breast cancer 1 (AIB1) but is also known as NCoA3, pCIP (63), RAC-3 (110), ACTR (57), and TRAM-1 (58). Overexpression of SRC-3 is demonstrated to promote initiation and progression of cancer by affecting many important signaling pathways; anyway, the mechanism of SRC-3-mediated growth regulation remains still unclear. However, many evidences revealed that SRC-3 possesses different physiological roles in respect to the other two members of p160 family. SRC-1 knockout mice exhibit a partial resistance to steroid hormones and a reduction in growth of steroid target organs in response to hormonal treatment (93). Elimination of SRC-2 revealed that it plays a critical role in mouse reproductive function (100). Unlike SRC-1 and SRC-2, SRC-3-null mice are small in size and show delayed puberty, reduced female reproductive function, and reduced mammary gland development (101,103).

SRC-3 acts as a promiscuous coactivator in enhancing transcriptional activity of a great number of different NRs (63) in response to hormonal activation, regulating genes specifically involved in cellular proliferation and differentiation. SRC-3 interacts not only with estrogen receptor (8,40), progesterone receptor (111), and thyroid hormone receptor (112), but also with other transcriptional factors, like NF- κ B (104), the signal transducer STAT (113) and the transcriptional activator E2F1 (114). Thus, it is conceivable that SRC-3 activity and regulation may influence a variety of cellular process, affecting the expression levels of many genes. Moreover, as described later, regulation of SRC-3 by phosphorylation has been revealed to be a sophisticated mechanism for specifically communicating external signals to the nucleus and represents a novel function for transcriptional regulators that is not directly restricted to the DNA level.

- 37 -

Role of SRC-3 in Mice Normal Growth and Sexual Functions

In mouse, SRC-3 is tissue-specifically expressed and distributed mainly in the oocytes, mammary glands, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, smooth muscle, hepatocytes, and vaginal epithelium (34). SRC-3-knockout mice exhibit a pleiotropic phenotype showing dwarfism, delayed puberty, reduced female reproductive function, and blunted mammary gland development. This phenotype could be explained by the fact that SRC-3 plays a role in both growth regulatory pathways and the production of estrogen, as proved by hormonal analysis. Moreover, these distinct pathologies observed in SRC-3-null mice, but not knockout mice for SRC-1 or SRC-2, suggest that the physiological role in development of SRC-3 is distinct from that of the other members of SRC family. Additionally, when compared with SRC-1, obvious differences in expression patters exist between the two genes (34). For example, in neocortex, SRC-1 is highly expressed, whereas SRC-3 is lowly expressed; in cardiac muscle, SRC-1 is highly expressed but SRC-3 is undetectable. These differential expression patterns reflect the distinct phenotypes observed in mice where the two genes have been individually knocked out.

Disruption of SRC-3 in mice basically results in alteration of the regulatory pathway for growth hormone (GH) function and reduced production of estrogen (E2). Knockout mice for SRC-3 also possess deficiency in IGF-1 production, although the mechanism that leads to this decreasing is unclear. These low levels of IGF-1 and GH most likely cause the observed growth retardation in SRC-3 -/- mice, resulting in dwarfism (34). In contrast, the low levels of systemic E2 are responsible for the pubertal delay in female SRC-3 -/- mice (34), because the timing for vaginal opening appears identical in both wild type and knockout mice after treating animals with E2. The mechanism by which SRC-3 absence causes estrogen deficiency may depend on a retardation of hormonal production in the ovary, where the majority of estrogen is synthesized. More specifically, the granulose cells in the ovary may have a reduced sensitivity to the follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), due to a secondary effect of SRC-3, maybe through an unknown interaction between the granulsa and the oocytes, where SRC-3 is highly expressed. Consistent with the delayed puberty and the E2 insufficiency, reproductive function in SRC-3 -/- female mice is also

affected (34), in terms of ovulatory capacity and length of estrous cycle, as a direct consequence of the depletion of SRC-3 in the oocytes, where it is normally highly expressed. Moreover, SRC-3 is also highly expressed in the epithelial cells of mammary gland ducts and it may play an important role in mammary gland development (34). Indeed, mammary gland ductal growth is strongly reduced in SRC-3 -/- mice, also if the low level of E2 seems to be the major factor in growth retardation of mammary gland in null mice, because estrogen therapy successfully rescues the growth deficiency. On the other hand, mammary gland alveolar development in SRC-3 null mice is dramatically decreased also in response to E2 treatment.

Role of SRC-3 in Vasoprotective Effect of Estrogen

Vasoprotective effects of estrogen are well recognized and attributed to both systemic effects, such as decreasing in total serum cholesterol and lipoproteins, and direct effects on cardiovascular system, mediated by ER- α and ER- β (115). SRC-3 is expressed in vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) and is required for the estrogen-dependent vasoprotective effect mediated by ERs (116) through the inhibition of neointima formation. Experiments in SRC-3 null mice show that the neointima formation is significantly higher in knockout female than in wild type female mice (117) following vessel injury. This difference diminishes after ovariectomy, suggesting that the difference in neointimal growth between wild type and knockout mice is dependent on ovarian hormones. Neointimal growth in ovariectomized wild type mice is almost completely inhibited following estrogen treatment but only partially in ovariectomized SRC-3 null mice (117), suggesting that loss of SRC-3 function decreases the estrogen-dependent inhibition of neointima formation. Therefore, SRC-3 may facilitate vasoprotection by ER after vascular trauma, and, since that a reduction of ER levels is observed human coronary diseases, loss of ER coactivator function may also result in increased susceptibility to cardiac diseases.

Molecular Structure of SRC-3

The SRC-3 gene encodes a 160-KDa protein that is 40% sequence similar to the other SRC family coactivators. Furthermore, SRC family members possess similar functional domains (Fig.4). The N-terminal basic helix-loop-helix-Per/ARNT/Sim (bHLH-PAS) domain is the most conserved region (60% identity among the three SRCs) (56). The bHLH-PAS domain serves as a protein-protein interaction surface for various bHLH-PAS-containing factors (118) other than assist in the DNA-binding. It is also possible that this region can participate in intramolecular and intermolecular interactions to regulate the transcriptional activity (44). The conserved central region contains multiple LXXLL motifs (where L is leucine and X is any amino acid) that interact with a hydrophobic cleft in the nuclear receptors LBD, which is formed as a result of ligand-induced conformational change (71,119). In the C-terminus are located two transcriptional activation domains (AD1 and AD2) and constitute the receptor interaction domain of SRCs. The AD1 contains multiple LXXLL motifs that are responsible for the interaction with histone acetyltransferase (HAT) CBP and p300. Although SRC-3, like SRC-1, C-terminal domains possess HAT activity, it is weaker than that of CBP, p300 and p/CAF (120). AD2 can interact with protein arginine methyltransferases (PRMT), such as CARM1 and PRMT1 (75,121). Based on this molecular structure, it seems clear that SRCs serve as adaptor protein to recruit additional coactivators and basal transcription machinery to the promoter, which is critical for promoting local chromatin remodeling and NR-directed transcriptional activation.

Molecular Mechanism of Action of SRC-3

Hormone-dependent Signal Transduction

According to the fact that SRC-3 is a member of the steroid receptors coactivator family, it is actually necessary for the complete functioning of ER (122,123). Therefore, it is likely that SRC-3 also plays an important role in estrogen-stimulated proliferation and hormone-

related tumorigenesis. In fact, estrogen-signaling modulation is closely related to transcriptional expression of genes involved in the generation of breast, ovarian and prostate cancer. In line with this notion, suppression of SRC-3 leads to reduction of the recruitment of ER and polymerase II to the target promoters. Moreover, it seems that inhibition of SRC-3 protein expression has a more determinant effect on lowering ER-dependent transcription than does the inhibition of other p160 protein SRC-1 (124), underling the fact that SRC-3 may function as a specific coactivator for ER activity. Cyclin D1, which is frequently overexpressed in tumors, is an ER α target gene, and its expression is enhanced by SRC-3-driven functional interaction of ER and cyclin D1 promoter (125). The spicing variant SRC-3- Δ 3 can increase the estrogen-dependent induction of neoplasia in a variety of tissues and contributing to development of hormone resistant breast cancers (126). All these findings suggest that SRC-3 is required for the complete functionality of steroid hormone receptors, especially for ER. Overexpression and/or amplification of SRC-3 are likely to facilitate transformation induced by ER signaling.

Hormone-independent Signal Transduction Pathway

SRC-3-driven transformation has also been detected in tumors that are not targeted by steroid hormones, such as gastric cancer and HCC (109,127,128). Overexpression of SRC-3 also exists in ER- and PR-negative breast cancer (129). This clinical evidence supports the hypothesis that SRC-3 can enhance also hormone-independent proliferation during tumorigenesis. Actually, extensive investigations reveal that SRC-3 can interact with a broad spectrum of transcriptional factors in addition to steroid receptors (60,113,114,130), indicating that different signal pathways, other than hormone signaling, can be affected by SRC-3 overexpression or deregulation (*Fig.6*). As we will present later, in the results section, phosphorylation of SRC-3 has been showing to be an important step for promoting its nuclear translocation and activating the transcriptional coativating function. SRC-3 can be phosphorylated in specific target residues upon interaction with steroid hormones (39,150). However, SRC-3 is predominantly phosphorylated in a steroid-

independent manner by many signal receptors in response to a variety of growth factors stimulation, integrating different signaling pathways.

E2F1 signal pathway. E2F1 transcriptional factor has been shown to regulate cell cycle progression by modulating the expression of proteins required for the G1/S transition and DNA synthesis. In the G0 and early G1 phases, RB binds to E2F1 suppressing its transcriptional activity. Phosphorylation of RB by CDK results in the release and activation of E2F1 (131). After heterodimerization with its binding partner DP-1 or DP-2, E2F1 promotes the transcription of target genes, including cyclin A, cyclin E, Cdk2, cdc25A, and E2F1 itself. E2F4, another E2F family member, appears to operate as a repressor by recruiting RB to E2F-regulated promoters and consequently it is required for cell cycle exit and differentiation (132). Recently, SRC-3 has been found to directly interact with E2F1, but not with E2F4 (114). Consequently, overexpression of SRC-3 may enhance the transcription of E2F1 target genes promoting cell proliferation in a hormone-independent mechanism.

Insulin-like growth factor-1/AKT pathway. Insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) has diverse roles in cell processes, promoting growth, proliferation, cell survival, and migration (133). The binding of IGF-1 to its cognate receptor, IGF1R, triggers phosphorylation of the receptor and activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K), which is followed by activation of AKT. Both *in vitro* and *in vivo* data reveal that SRC-3 expression level is closely associated with the IGF-1 expression level (34,101,134). Moreover, IGF1R expression level is reduced in SRC-3 knockdown mice breast cancer cells and is highly phosphorylated in tumors derived from MMTV-SRC-3 transgenic mice (134,135). Consistently, the activity of AKT is increased in the MMTV-SRC-3 mouse model (134) and as a result, downstream pathway of AKT are affected, mostly at phosphorylation level. In the MMTV-SRC-3 transgenic mice model, GSK-3 β , the substrate of ATK, is strongly phosphorylated at Ser 9, resulting in reduced β -catenin phosphorylation level and translocation of β -catenin into the nucleus, leading to activation of target genes, such as cyclin D1 (134).

NF-κB signal pathway. Rel/Nuclear factor-κB (NF-κB) is a dimeric transcriptional factor

that plays important role in growth control, differentiation, and apoptosis (136). The inactive form of NF-κB is localized in the cytoplasm and consists of 3 subunits: the DNA-binding p50 and p65 subunits, and an inhibitory subunit, called IκB, which is bound to p65. Once IκB is released upon phosphorylation by IκB kinase (IKK), NF-κB will translocate into the nucleus and bind to target genes (136). Aberrant NF-κB activation is implicated in inducing cancer of the breast, prostate gastrointestinal tract, liver, pancreas and skin. SRC-3 can interact and coactivate p65/NF-κB (104). Recently SRC-3, but not SRC-1, has been reported to associate with IKK, suggesting the essential role of SRC-3 in the NF-κB pathway (103). In response to tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , SRC-3 is phosphorylated by IKK and complexes with NF-κB, translocating from cytosol to nucleus. As a result, some NF-κB target genes are activated, such as interleukin (IL)-6, which acts as an important autocrine cytokine for tumor progression and metastasis (137), especially prostate cancer (138). Introduction of wild type SRC-3 in SRC-3 null MEF cells can restore IL-6 induction by TNF- α , but not SRC-3 phosphorylation mutants (39), indicating that phosphorylated SRC-3 is tightly linked to NF- κ B transcriptional activity.

C/EBP β *signal pathway.* There are two C/EBP β isoforms: liver-enriched activating protein (LAP) and liver-enriched inhibitory protein (LIP). It is thought that LIP functions as a dominant negative. In the mammary gland, increased expression of LIP is associated with rapid mammary epithelial cell proliferation during pregnancy (139). In CMV-SRC-3- Δ 3 transgenic mice, there is a reduced LAP/LIP ration, due to the induction of LIP expression level (135), which in turns can trigger hyperplasia in ER-independent manner. However, so far little is known about how overexpression of SRC-3 can directly induce LIP expression and whether SRC-3 can bind to C/EBP β promoter.

HER2/neu/MAPK signaling pathway. Although deregulated SRC-3 does not affect MAPK pathway activity (122), it serves as a conduit from MAPK signaling to ER (fig.8. MAPKs regulate SRC-3 activity by phosphorylation and enhance ER transcriptional activity by increasing the recruitment of p300 and associated HATs to the promoters (40). In breast cancer patients, HER2 and SRC-3 expression levels are closely associated with development of tamoxifen resistance, suggesting a crosstalk between SRC-3 and HER2

(140).

As described above, SRC-3 is a well-established oncogene. First of all, use of MMTV-SRC-3 is sufficient to initiate tumorigenesis. Furthermore, SRC-3 overexpression is detected in a variety of cancer and affect many signaling pathway other that NRs, such as HER2/MAPK, IGF/AKT, NF- κ B, which are frequently deregulated in many cancers. Reduction of SRC-3 in cancer cells by RNAi knockdown can markedly reduce tumor formation in nude mice (107) and deficiency of SRC-3 in mouse model can suppress tumorigenesis, when challenged with carcinogens (122). However, it is still to be clarified how SRC-3 activities are modulated during carcinogenesis. It has been suggested that phosphorylation of SRC-3 is strongly associated with SRC-3 oncogenic potential. Recently SRC-3 was also found to physically interact with ER81, a PEA3 family member, and drive MMP-1 expression, which might be involved in metastasis (141). Thus, it is not unlikely that SRC-3 interacts with other transcriptional factors or even other proteins unrelated to the transcriptional complex.



Figure 6. The broad range of SRC-3 interactants. SRC-3 interacts with multiple signaling pathways other than with steroids receptors (SRs). Tyrosine kinase receptors, like HER-2, phosphorylate SRC-3 through the MAPKs, whereas IKK complex can directly phosphorylate SRC-3. Phosphorylation acts as an activation switch for SRC-3 functional activity into the nucleus, where it can bind a broad range of nuclear receptors and transcriptional factors (TFs), depending on the cellular context. Some TFs have been characterized ad direct binding partners of SRC-3 for activating target genes (solid arrows). Some other proteins are not known as direct or indirect targets of SRC-3 (dashed arrows), including LIP (C/EBPb isoform) and several components of IGF-1/AKT pathway.

Selective Phosphorylation of SRC-3

The fact that SRC-3, in addiction to nuclear receptor, can coactivate a number of other distinct transcriptional factors, such as NF-kB, E2F, C/EBP, AP-1, STAT, p53 (60,113,114,130,140,142), suggests that it is involved a much broader role in cellular functions and diverse physiological processes. It is now evident that many phosphorylation pathways, including MAPKs, IKK and HER2/neu (41,103,140), specifically influence SRC-3 activity, but it is still unclear how different signaling pathways can exert different physiological functions. Consequently, it could be postulated that distinct cellular signals may differentially phosphorylate SRC-3 at distinct amino acids, preferentially directing its activity to different pathways. Recently, six phosphorylation sites have been characterized (39), which are specifically targeted by different kinases and all important for the optimal interaction of SRC-3 with transcriptional activators and other coactivators, as shown by mutational substitution of phosphoamino acids with non-phosphorytable alanine. Using siRNA, p38 has been identified as a kinase that phosphorylates S505, S543, S860, and S867 whereas IKK phosphorylates S857 in living cells (39). Interestingly, different combinations of phosphorylation in these sites are required for different physiological function of SRC-3, which could be not redundant with those of SRC-1 and SRC-2. In fact, amino acid sequence alignment reveled that not all of these six sites are conserved between the three p160 members: only phosphoamino acids T24, S505, and S543 are conserved in SRC-1 and only S505 and S543 are conserved in SRC-2. The remaining three amino acids, S857, S860, and S867, are unique for SRC-3 (39). In this regard, not all SRC-3 phosphorylation sites are equally required for maximal activity of SRC-3 in different signaling pathways. While phosphorylation at all six sites is important for interaction with ER and AR, it is not induced by TNF- α , which induces phosphorylation of all but the S860 site. Consequently, mutation to alanine at any of these sites impairs the ability of SRC-3 to coactivate E2-induced ER, while mutation at all six sites but S860 affects TNF-adependent interaction with NF-κB. Likewise, alanine-mutation of T24, S543, S857, and S867, but not S505 and S860 sites, negatively influences expression of IL-6 gene.

According to all these findings, it appears that SRC-3 phosphorylation is extremely important for achieving its complete function as a coactivator and probably specific phospho-conformations of SRC-3 differentially interacts with transcriptional activators, which in turn selectively regulate different target gene promoters. Concerning to this hypothesis, it seems also that SRC-3 possesses the capacity to act as a downstream effector for a wide variety of cellular signaling, functioning as a common phosphorylation target for different stimuli and integrating multiple signals to gene expression and growth responses.

Extranuclear Phosphorylation of SRC-3

As mentioned earlier, different stimuli induce distinct patterns of SRC-3 phosphorylation, and mutations at different phospho-sites have different downstream effects. How E2 induces phosphorylation of SRC-3 is poorly understand. E2 can induce cellular response through direct interaction with ER, but it can also induce a rapid and transient activation of various kinase cascades independently to prior gene transcription (143). Usually, this "nongenomic" action of E2 is mediated by the interaction with the cytoplasmic-localized ER (144), as shown for the activation of Src/ERK pathway through the interaction with MNAR (modulator of non-genomic activity of ER). Alternatively, in an ER-independent way, E2 has been shown to activate MAPK pathway through the membrane-bound G proteincoupled receptor (145). It is well established that ER shuttles between nucleus and cytoplasm, although it is mainly detected into the nucleus (146,147). In the absence of ligand, 5-10% of GFP-ER is localized in the cytoplasm (146,148), whereas E2 increases ER nuclear localization. It also has been shown that E2 induces a translocation of SRC-3 from cytoplasm to the nucleus (101,103,149). E2-induced phosphorylation of SRC-3 requires a direct interaction between SRC-3 and ER that occurs in the cytoplasm and it does not require DNA binding and nuclear localization as classically believed for the interaction of coactivators with transcriptional factors (150). Both the AF-1 and AF-2 domains of ER seem to be necessary for maximal E2-induced phosphorylation of SRC-3 and a direct interaction between ER-LBD domain and the coactivator is required. The inability of 4-hydroxil tamoxifen (4HT) to induce SRC-3 phosphorylation further supports this point. However, the mechanism by which kinases are recruited to ER-SRC-3 complex is not clear. It is possible that E2-bound ER can first recruit kinases via its AF-1 and AF-2 domains, allowing subsequent phosphorylation of SRC-3, or, vice versa, SRC-3 or either ER recruit kinases to the ER-SRC-3 preexisting complex. Anyway, phosphorylation of the major phosphorylation sites of ER is not a prerequisite for SRC-3 phosphorylation (150). The important idea provided by these findings is that E2 can induce assembling of an extranuclear SRC-3-ER complex prior to promoter binding. This complex could serve as convergence point for cross-talking cell signaling pathways and ER transcriptional activity resulting in a much fine-tuning activity of transcriptional coactivators.

SRC-3 Cellular Degradation

Recently, it has been revealed that SRC-3 degradation is regulated by REG γ -directed proteasome 20S activity, in an ATP- and ubiquitin-independent manner (151). Usually, destruction of intact cellular proteins is largely orchestrated by ATP-dependent ubiquitination and subsequent degradation by 26S proteasome. The REG-20S proteasome only degrades short peptides. Li and coworkers (151) provided evidences that the REG γ -20S complex can selectively target an entire protein for destruction, in this case SRC-3. REG γ interacts directly with SRC-3 and its overexpression accelerates the turnover of SRC-3, whereas REG γ silencing through small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) results in accumulation of SRC-3. The most striking feature in Li's study is the biochemical evidence for the unconventional degradation of SRC-3 by REG γ -20S proteasome, which was thought only to degrade small peptides (152). SRC-3 was degrades in a cell-free proteasome proteolysis assay, in the presence of the 20S proteasome and heptameric REG γ , without exogenous ATP and ubiquitin pathway components. On the other hand, the REG α/β complex did not promote the degradation of SRC-3. Moreover, SRC-1 is incapable to bind REG γ and to be degraded by REG γ . Ultimately, given to the fact that

ATP and chaperons were absent in the cell-free proteolytic assay, the hypothesis is that internal unstructured sequences of SRC-3 may serve as endoproteolytic sites for the entry into the REG_Y-20S complex. These internal SRC-3 sequences are predicted to be disordered with long loops and polyglutamine loops. Additionally, the N-terminal 38 residues and the C-terminal147 residues are also unfolded. It is thinkable that these disordered sequences may serve as cleavage sites for the 20S proteasome, given the ATP-independent nature of SRC-3 degradation. However, it is currently unclear if the 20S proteasome possesses any substrate specificity *in vivo* and it is known that SRC-3 can be also ubiquitinated and degraded by the 26S proteasome (153). Therefore, it is possible that SRC-3 stability is regulated by interplay of ubiquitin-dependent and -independent pathways, which could provide a much precise mechanism for controlling SRC-3 abundance. These observations give rise to the proposal that REG_Y is required for a fine tumor-suppressive mechanism for restricting the uncontrolled accumulation of SRC-3, given to the fact that SRC-3 is a broad-range protein involved in many aspects of cell proliferation and survival, probably more that the other p160 members.

SRC-3 in Oncogenesis

SRC-3 gene is localized on a frequently amplified region, 20q12, and it is often found in many cancers, including breast, gastric, prostate, endometrial, and esophageal carcinoma. Consequently, many evidences indicate SRC-3 as an important oncogene and directly implicated as a causal factor in the genesis of human cancer. Accordingly, aberrant expression of SRC-3 has been associated with hormone-sensitive and -insensitive cancers.

Clinical Studies

In breast cancer biopsies, SRC-3 has been shown being amplified or overexpressed in 5%-10% and 30%-60% of cases, respectively (56,154). In tamoxifen-treated patients, SRC-

3 overexpression is associated with high levels of HER-2, tamoxifen resistance, and low survival expectative, underlining the important cross talk between SRC-3, HER-2 and ER (140,155). In prostate cancer, study of the expression of SRC-3 revealed that the expression level of SRC-3 correlate directly with tumor grade and stage of disease (106). Moreover, it was reported that the splicing variant SRC-3- Δ 3, encoding a 130 kDa protein that lacks the N-Terminal HLH and a portion of the PAS domain, possesses a strong steroid receptor coactivator activity *in vitro*, even when present at low level, if compared with the full-length SRC-3 (126). This splicing variant of SRC-3 has been shown to be highly expressed in breast cancer biopsies (156). Additionally, a recent study has revealed that in breast cancer SRC-3 overexpression correlates with the absence of ER and PR (129), suggesting that SRC-3 may also act via other transcriptional factors that ER or PR during tumorigenesis. Consistent with this finding, SRC-3 is also found to be involved in many types of non-steroids-related tumors, such as pancreatic cancer, gastric cancer, colorectal carcinoma and hepatocellular carcinoma (109,127,128,157,158). SRC-3 is associated with cancer progression, metastatic potential, and tumor reassurance.

Transgenic Mouse Models

The most helpful model for SRC-3 studying in mice was the transgenically overexpressed SRC-3 gene under the control of mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV) LTR (134). The overexpression of MMTV-SRC-3 was specifically associated with extremely high tumor incidence in aging animals, with an average latency of 16 months. High tumor incidence was found in mammary glands, pituitary, uterus and lung, consistently with the high ectopic expression of SRC-3 in these organs (134). Moreover, most of the mammary tumors were invasive and several adenocarcinomas were metastatic.

A second very powerful transgenic model for investigating SRC-3 function in cancer was the cytomegalovirus (CMV) promotering SRC-3- Δ 3 (135). Mammary cell proliferation and ductal ectasia were found in CMV-SRC-3- Δ 3 mice, and other phenotypes similar to those founded in MMTV-SRC-3 mice.

Expectantly, as mentioned above, knockout mouse model for SRC-3 show reduction in

mammary gland alveolar development during pregnancy, and resistance to growth hormones and estrogens (34,101). In addiction, SRC-3 deficiency significantly suppresses the incidence of MMTV-H-Ras induced mammary ductal hyperplasia, tumorigenesis and metastasis to the lung (159). Most of the SRC-3 +/+ and SRC-3 +/- H-Ras overexpressing mice develop many mammary neoplasia lesions by the age of 17 weeks and fifty percent of theme present breast tumors by the age of 30-40 weeks. All these mice develop palpable breast tumors by the age of 70 weeks. In comparison, 50% of SRC-3 -/- mice still have normal mammary gland morphology by the age of 80 weeks. Moreover, depletion of SRC-3 also significantly reduces the mammary tumorigenesis induced by chemical carcinogens (160). Parallel to defects in sexual organs, SRC-3 knockout mice display also metabolic defects, with reduction in adipose tissue deposition and growth retardation. In fact, SRC-3 exerts an important role in lipid metabolism by enhancing transcription of PPARγ2, essential for progression of adipocyte differentiation (46).

Biological Function of SRC-3 *in vivo*: Concluding Remarks. The Exemplification of Transcriptional Program Complexity

Similar to SRC-1 and SRC-2, *in vitro* and *ex vivo* experiments have clearly demonstrated that SRC-3 is a transcriptional coactivator for nuclear receptors and other transcription factors. SRC-3 functions by recruiting at the promoter both HATs (CBP, p300, pCAF) and histone methyltransferases (CARM1 and PRMT1), which are necessary for chromatin remodeling and gene transcriptional initiation. Firstly, SRC-3 has been shown to regulate somatic growth through affecting IGF-1 expression. Second, SRC-3 participates in the regulation of puberty, vasoprotection, and female reproductive functions, coactivating steroids receptors. Third, SRC-3 plays a role in regulation of ovulation too, through still undefined mechanism. Fourth, SRC-3 is involved in the regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. Finally, SRC-3 has a general coativating function in hormonal regulation of cell proliferation and its altered expression and activity are strongly related to

tumorigenesis. However, SRC-3 has recently been found to regulate cellular processes other than transcription, functioning at the translational level of cytokine mRNAs and repressing their translation (173). All the functional roles that SRC-3 exerts in vivo are summarized in Fig.7. The most important question that still needs to be addressed concerns the in vivo relationship between the three p160-members and other classes of coactivators. It is now well accepted that coactivators always exert their function as multiprotein complexes. This concept underlines the complexity necessary to accommodate a broad range of developmental, physiological, and environmental programs. The equilibrium existing between the many different states of transcriptional control is fundamentally regulated at the level of coregulators and especially through posttranscriptional modifications of coregulators. SRC-3 serves as a good example to demonstrate how posttranscriptional modifications contribute to the biological complexity, signal integration, and the propagation of biological programs. SRC-3 in fact exists in a complex that includes kinases, ubiquitin ligases, ATPases, methyltransferases, acetylases. Initially, SRC-3 is likely to be SUMOylated (at aa 723 and 786) (167) and hypophosphorylated at serine/threonine residues (39), existing as an inactive protein in its basal state. After phosphorylation at serine 505 and 509, especially through a GSK3dependent manner, SRC-3 becomes monoubiquitinated at residues 723 and 786 (167), becoming able to function as a transcriptional coactivator. The ubiquitination sites are progressively polyubiquitinated during subsequent rounds of transcription, ultimately leading to SRC-3 degradation through the 26S proteasome. Independent on this, other phosphorylation sites are targeted by other kinases, including p38, IKK, and MAPKs, and are necessary for SRC-3 to form divergent multiprotein complexes and coactivate its full range of transcription factors (39). Additionally, methylation and acetylation of SRC-3 (165,166), along with proteasome-mediated degradation, leads to the coregulator complex disassembly and, beside phosphorylation, contribute to the coregulator dynamics.



Figure 7. *Biological effects of SRC-3 in vivo.* Transgenic mouse models and cultured cell experiment have revealed that SRC-3 plays important and wide roles in different cellular processes, regulating as many functions as somatic growth, puberty, vasoprotection, mammary gland development, and metabolism. SRC-3 exerts its effect by interacting with transcriptional factors at the gene promoter level or interplaying with cytoplasmic signaling pathways.

PART 4: TRANSCRIPTION BY ESTROGEN RECEPTOR AND MECHANISM OF ESTROGEN ACTION

Estrogen receptor (ER) primarily acts as a nuclear transcription factor upon binding with the specific ligand 17- β estradiol (E₂). However, emerging data have identified a separate pool of estrogen receptors in the plasma membrane compartment, where it (as well as other steroid hormone receptors) is thought to trigger rapid and non-genomic signaling from various kinase pathways. Moreover, there is increasing evidence that cell-signaling pathway and the phosphorylation status of transcription factors and associated coregulators determines the overall response to the hormone. ER is synthesized in many cell types as two forms, ER α and ER β , which are products of separate genes. The two receptors do not completely overlap in the various tissues and recent evidence indicates that there are specific actions of E₂ that can be attributed to one receptor but not to the other.

Contents:

- Signaling by Estrogen and Non-genomic Action of ER
- Mechanism of Action of ER in the Nucleus
- Modulation of ER function by Phosphorylation
- Tissue Distribution and Physiological Role of ER α and ER β

Signaling by Estrogen and Non-genomic Action of ER

Estrogens are a group of steroid compounds, named for their importance in woman estrous cycle, and function primarily as a female sex hormone, but they are also expressed in males, where regulate certain functions of the reproductive system and maturation of sperm. The principal estrogen hormone is $17-\beta$ estradiol, which is also converted into estrone and estriol that anyway are much weaker agonist of ER (221) and hence are thought to be inactive or suggested to possess some tissue specificity (222). Like other steroid hormones, E₂ readily diffuse across the cell membrane and inside the cell specifically interact with its cognate receptor, ER. Primarily, ligand binding to ER in the nucleus leads to conformational changes that regulate the ability of the receptor to recognize the specific DNA binding sequences (hormone response elements) and interact with related coactivators, promoting transcription (the so called genomic action) of target genes involved in cell proliferation, differentiation and homeostasis. However, although the majority of ER is localized and activated in the nucleus, there is clear evidence that a small fraction of the receptor is localized at the cell membrane, either in the presence or absence of E2 (223,224,225,226,227), where it would mediate rapid response to the estrogen through the activation of different signaling pathways (the so called non-genomic action), occurring in a cell-type specific manner and including activation of MAPKs (230,302,303,304,305,306,307,308) and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt pathway (309,310,311,312,313), induction of ion channel fluxes (229,314,315), G-protein-coupled receptor-mediated second messenger generation (cAMP calcium) and (316,317,318,319,320,321,322,323), as well as stimulation of growth factor receptors (324,325). The most accepted view is that these receptors are membrane associated by anchoring with scaffold proteins. Candidate interaction proteins are caveolin-1/-2 and the caveolin-binding protein streatin, a calmodulin-binding member. Caveolae are specialized regions of the plasma membrane that assemble and organize signaling protein complexes (228). Overexpression of caveolin-1 in MCF-7 cells, as well as overexpression of striatin, has been shown to increase the E2-dependent ER α localization to the plasma membrane

(229,326). Striatin has also been reported to serve as a scaffold for the formation of an ER α -G α i complex (326). Other candidate molecules involved in formation of these signaling complexes include heat shock protein 90 (Hsp90), matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), G-proteins (Gai), modulator of non-genomic action of ER (MNAR), c-Src, and Shc. The Src-homology and collagen homology adaptor (Shc) binds to docking sites of many growth factor receptors and directly associates with ER through an interaction between its SH2 domain and the N-terminal part of ER (230). ERa, Shc and insulin-like growth factor (IGF-IR) have been shown to interact on the cell membrane in MCF7 cells and treatment with siRNA for Shc, or IGF-IR, attenuate the E_2 -induced ER α translocation to cell membrane and E₂ stimulation of MAPKs (231). MNAR (327) acts as a scaffold protein and is anchored to c-Src via its SH3 domain interaction with a PXXP motif on MNAR. This complex is further stabilized by binding of c-Src's SH2 domain to a phosphorylated tyrosine of ER α and binding of ER α to a LXXL motif present in MNAR. Consequently, activation of c-Src kinase activity leads to downstream signaling by Ras and Raf to MAPKs (328). In addition to scaffold proteins, ER lipid modifications are also involved in ER membrane targeting. Specifically, cysteine 447 appears to be a critical palmitoylation site (232,233).

Rapid response mediated by estrogen is specific for different tissues. Within the cardiovascular system, rapid signaling pathway initiated by ER has been well defined. In fact, estrogen is able to exert rapid modulation of the vascular endothelium via the enhanced production of nitric oxide (NO), a vasoprotective molecule that promotes vasodilatation, inhibition of platelet aggregation, leukocyte adhesion, and smooth muscle cell proliferation, protecting the arteries against injury (48). ER uses scaffold molecules and localization to caveolae (329,330), as described above, to induce activation of eNOS via PI3K/Akt pathway (309,310). In MCF-7 breast cancer cells, E₂-dependent activation of ERK via ER α association with Shc, c-Src, and Ras, results in cell cycle progression (230,302). Estrogen can also induce stimulation of IGF-IR by interaction with ER in breast cancer cells and consequent signaling through PI3K/Akt pathway, resulting in enhanced cell proliferation (331,332,333). G protein-coupled receptor (GPR30), an orphan receptor,

can also bind to ER in breast cancer cells and induce activation of PI3K in a way dependent to EGF-R (324,325). In neuronal cells, E₂, through membrane-associate ER action, rapidly triggers ERK-1/-2 activation (334), leading to the expression of cFos gene (335), and genes with neuroprotective effects like neurotensin. Acting through MAPK pathway, ER can also confer protection against β -amyloid peptide (309). In pituitary, through calcium flux ER induces a rapid depolarization at the plasma membrane, which promote release of prolactin (336,337). In osteocytes, E₂-triggered signaling confers protection against bone loss, inducing antiapoptotic mechanisms by activation of Src/Shc/ERK pathway (303,304). ER α may also interact with PKC to affect osteoblast differentiation (338).

Although ERs at the plasma membrane and in the nucleus appear to act by very different mechanisms, their cell biological roles may overlap and be complementary. In fact, kinase signaling can rapidly activate transcription by NRs and play an important role in posttranslational modification of both NRs and associated cofactors. ER α is phosphorylated in multiple serine and threonine sites (see later) by MAPKs, resulting in increased receptor stability and transcriptional activity (247). Members of p160 family are also specific targets of MAPKs. More importantly, by affecting many different intracellular pathways, in addition to its classical transcriptional activity, ER can mediate the extremely broad spectrum of its physiological function in different cell types.

Mechanism of Action of ER in the Nucleus

Primarily, estrogen receptor is a nuclear transcription factor (genomic action) and, like other steroid hormone receptors, is activated upon direct binding with specific ligand and also modulated by posttranslational modification including phosphorylation. In the absence of hormone, a fraction of ER monomers is transiently sequestered in the cytoplasm associated with heat shock protein (3,13). Following binding to the hormone, the receptor dimerizes and translocate to the nucleus, where is able to bind sequence-specific hormone

response elements (HRE). Typically, hormone binding and localization to the specific DNA sequence is accompanied by increasing in receptor phosphorylation (see ahead) and receptor recruits coactivator complexes and activates transcription of specific target genes by DNA Pol II.

Ex vivo expression of wild type and mutated mammalian ER (234) allowed functional analysis of ER structure and characterization of distinct functional domains (16,186,235,236,237). Similar to other NRs, the N-terminal region (A/B domain) of ER contains a constitutively active transactivation function (AF-1 region) (23,74). The most conserved region is the DNA binding domain (DBS, C domain) (11), which contains the Pbox, a short motif responsible for DNA-binding specificity to a sequence typically containing a palindromic hexanucleotide 5'-AGGTCA-3', and is involved in ER dimerization (15,24). The less conserved D domain behaves as a flexible hinge region and contains the nuclear localization sequence (NLS), which extends into the C domain. Ligand-binding domain (12) (LBD, E domain) is the largest and possesses the conserved secondary structure of a three-layered 12-helices sandwich, typical of all NRs (186), in which is embedded the ligand-binding cavity. Helix 12 (H12) is the most important, orientating differentially in the presence or the absence of ligand (238). Following the binding of agonist, H12 adopts a position in which a conserved glutamate in the AF-2 and a conserved lysine in helix 3 grip the ends of the helical motifs that contain the LXXLL consensus sequence present in most coregulators (239). The leucine residues of the LXXLL helix pack into a specific hydrophobic pocket formed upon H12 reorientation, stabilizing the interaction with the receptor (186,240,241). Similar to coregulators, corepressors that include NCoR (50) and SMRT (176) interact with unliganded ER through an elongated helix of sequence LXXI/HIXXXI/L, called CoRNR-box (51,242,243), which in the absence of agonist occupies the same hydrophobic pocket contacted by LXXLL motif, because it can displace the H12. On the contrary, this extended helix of NCoR and SMRT is too long to accommodate in the hydrophobic pocket when H12 assumes the activated configuration in response to agonist binding. Thus, agonist binding reduces the affinity of ER, and NR in general, for the CoRNR-box of corepressors and increase the affinity for the LXXLL motif of coregulators. The E domain is responsible of also other functions, possessing a dimerization interface, a second NLS, and a second transactivation function (AF-2) (22). The very C-terminal part of ER contains the F domain, which exerts a complex mudulatory function (244,245).

ER can associate with distinct subsets of cofactors (178,339). The majority of these cofactors bind to the LBD and so far only very few coactivators are likely to function in ERspecific manner, considering that the various NRs appears to utilize similar cofactors (340). With regard to ER, it has been found that, in the case of SRC-1 and -2, the NR-box 2 has the highest affinity for agonist-bound ER α , while in SRC-3 the NR-box 1 serves as the primary docking site (341). Additionally, acetylation of lysine residues adjacent to NR-box 1 in SRC-3 abolishes the interaction with AF-2 domain of ER α and may represent one important mechanism for attenuation and feedback regulation in ER-regulated gene expression (87). The interaction of coregulators with ER can be controlled at several levels. In the case of SRC-3, six phosphorylation sites are required for coactivation of ER (39) and different combination of phosphorylated residues modulate its interaction with cocoactivators partners (e.g. CBP and p-300), allowing specific regulation of endogenous genes by ER. On the other side, conventional corepressors, like NCoR and SMRT, can associate to antagonist-bound ER (342) and it has been proposed that they can play a role in regulating ER activity in tumors treated with antiestrogens (182). There is evidence that histone deacetylase activity required by corepressors complexes like NCoR/SIN3/HDAC2 is required for the transcriptional repression of tamoxifen-bound ER (49,182,343). However, direct binding of antagonist-bound ER to corepressors has not been demonstrated yet, indirect recruiting mechanisms are also possible and it also possible that ER antagonists, via realignment of H12 (344), may expose yet unidentified corepressor binding epitopes. Importantly, a putative ER-specific corepressor has been identified by two-hybrid screen (342), which is called REA (repressor of estrogen receptor activity) and competes with SRC-1 coativating activity.

The traditional model for transcriptional activation of specific genes by E_2 -activated ER, envisage the direct binding of the receptor to the EREs. Today we know that ER can also

modulate gene expression without this direct binding to DNA, but rather via the participation in the formation of preinitiation complexes by other transcriptional factors. The most characterizes example is the physical interaction of ER, after hormone binding, with AP1 complex and stimulation of transcription through Jun/Fos transcription factors (246). Another example of indirect action on DNA is the interaction between ER and NF κ B complex, which prevents expression of interleukin-6 promoter (345). Additionally, unliganded-ER can interact with Sp1 transcription factor, enhancing its affinity for DNA and promoting transcription of retinoic acid receptor (RAR-1) gene (346,347).

Result from these studies suggest that in the nucleus ER can mediate signaling from different pathways by a complex crosstalk between EREs-dependent or independent genomic action, and interacts with a repertoire of coregulators and other associated proteins, which in turn determine the expression level and the specificity of regulated genes.

Modulation of ER Function by Phosphorylation

Basically, steroid hormone receptors are hormone-activated transcriptional factors whose activities modulated posttranscriptional modifications, are also by including phosphorylation (247). In some cases, enhanced cell signaling is also sufficient to cause activation of receptors in culture medium depleted of steroids (248). All of the steroid receptors contain multiple phosphorylation sites. Normally, the receptors are partially phosphorylated in the absence of hormone and are more highly phosphorylaed after hormone treatment. Some of the sites exhibit enhanced phosphorylation in response to hormone, while other sites are phosphorylated exclusively in presence of hormone. Most of the sites are serines or threonins located in the N-terminal part of the receptor, although there is also a conserved region of Ser-Pro or Thr-Pro in the hinge region of the receptor. In addition to Ser/Thr sites, there is a limited evidence to support tyrosine phosphorylation too. In ER α , phosphorylation of Tyr⁵³⁷ has been described (249,250). Some of the phosphorylation sites of steroid receptors are also conserved across species. In the case of ER α , eight phosphorylation sites (Ser 104, 106, 118, 167, 236, and 30, Thr 311 and Tyr 537) have specifically identified (250). Specific phosphorylation of these residues contribute to a variety of ER functions including receptor stability, nuclear localization, transcriptional activity, interaction with coregulators, splicing, and, in some cases, phosphorylation may determine whether a subsequent posttranslational modification will occur.

Most of the information has been obtained using transfected receptors but nevertheless it has clearly been showed that the actions of some kinases are receptor-specific and may also be cell-type specific and it is likely that many of the responses may be target gene-specifically. Estrogen receptor activity can be generally modulated by cyclin-dependent kinases (251), like Cdk2, which enhances the activity of various steroid receptors. On the other hand, p38 MAPK enhances specifically ER α activity by phosphorylation of Thr³¹¹, increasing also its nuclear localization on endometrial cells (252). Phosphorylation of Ser¹⁰⁴, Ser¹⁰⁶, Ser¹¹⁸ appears to be particularly important for functional association with coregulators (253,254). Ser¹¹⁸ is also implied in interaction with splicing factors (255). Ser¹⁶⁷ phosphorylation plays a role in optimal DNA binding *in vitro* and binding to endogenous promoter *in vivo* (254,264,257). This serine is target of casein kinase II (258), Rsk (259) as well as Akt (257). Ser³⁰⁵ phosphorylation increases transcriptional activity and has been implied in preventing acetylation of Lys³⁰³ (260). Interestingly, Lys³⁰³ is often mutated in breast cancer to Arg, and this mutation increases sensitivity to estrogen (261).

In addition, there are multiple pathways for hormone-independent estrogen receptor activation. One of the best characterized is the EGF (epidermal growth factor)-dependent activation of ER α in HeLa cells in the absence of hormone, by specific phosphorylation of Ser¹¹⁸ and Ser¹⁶⁷ (262,263), typically resulting in the activation of MAPKs (259,264). Phosphorylation in the amino terminus of ER β by p42/p44 MAPK also induces ligand-independent activation through enhancing the association with SRC-1 (265). Oppositely, Ser²³⁶ phosphorylation of ER α by PKA has been implied in inhibition of hormone-independent dimerization and DNA binding, but this inhibition is overcome by the addition

- 61 -

of estradiol (266). However, signaling pathways that induce hormone-independent action also potentiate the corresponding hormone-dependent activity.

Phosphatases also play a role in regulating activity of ER. It has been shown that overexpression of protein phosphatase 5 (PP5) reduces Ser^{118} phosphorylation and transcriptional activation of ER α , while reducing expression of PP5 enhances transcriptional activity (267).

In addition to directly modifying the receptor, there is increasing evidence that ER functions are regulated by changes in the phosphorylation state of associated coregulators. For example, the p160 coactivators are extensively phosphorylated by different kinases in multiple signaling pathways. Phosphorylation of SRC-1 is important for the interaction with receptors (268). Phosphorylation of SRC-2 by p42/p44 MAPK may potentiate the activation of receptors (269,270). SRC-3 is highly phosphorylated and plays a broader role in modulating the activity of many transcription factors. Steroid receptors require specific phosphorylation of SRC-3 sites to achieve complete potentiation of transcriptional activity (39,43). ER α itself can also induce phosphorylation of SRC-3 in the presence of estradiol (271). Phosphorylation of corepressors also influences their ability to repress transcription. Phosphorlation of SMRT, by MEKK1, causes nuclear export, relieving repression (170). MEKK1 also provoke dissociation of NCoR from androgen and estrogen receptor, enhancing transcriptional activity (272).

The simplest mechanism for influence phosphorylatyon of component of steroid receptor pathway is the direct interaction between kinases or phosphatases and receptor or coagulators. In some cases, anyway, these modifying enzymes are brought to the target by proteins that interact with the receptor. For example, $I\kappa K$ associates with SRC-3, which is also a substrate for phosphorylation, is important for the hormone-dependent phosphorylation of Ser¹¹⁸ in ER α (43,273). In the case of GR, Hsp90 is a mediator for P5 phopshatase interation with the receptor (274).

Cell signaling pathways that regulate phopshprylation of steroid receptors and their ceregulators are critical in determining the activity of the receptor under different physiological condition. All these data also point to the fact that posttranslational

- 62 -

modifications are as fundamental as hormonal induction for the optimal activity of steroid receptors and much importantly they regulate the specificity of target-gene transcription.

Tissue Distribution and Physiological Role of ER α and ER β

Jensen and Jacobsen were the first to describe that the biological effects of estrogen are mediated by receptor proteins (276). The cloning of ER α was reported in 1986 (276,277), but in 1995 a second ER isoform, named ERβ, was cloned from a rat prostate cDNA library (278), revealing new significance of ER function, especially with respect to our understanding of estrogen action in male. Both the isoforms are widely expressed in the organism often at significantly different levels, accomplishing also non-overlapping role. Estrogen exposure is fundamental for the correct development of mice urogenital tract, and lack of E2 action results in structural and functional alteration of male reproductive system (348, 349, 350, 351). In these organs, ER β is the highest expressed isoform in several species (352,353,354,355). In the testis, both ER α and ER β are expressed, but differently localized (356,357,358). E2 appears to play a crucial role for normal epididymal and testicular function, where the hormone is synthesized by aromatase (350). ER β is highly expressed also in the inner epithelial cell layer of rat urethra (279,280). In the prostate, ER β is the predominant ER, as revealed by immunohistochemistry, while ER α has been detected only in the stromal compartment (280,281). Estrogen has been clearly linked with prostate pathologies, synergizing with androgen. In fact, animal experiments show that E2 plays a role in prostatic neoplasia, benign prostatic hyperplasia and prostate cancer (359,360,361), but the specific role is still unknown. However, knockout mice have revealed that the absence of ER leads to structural and functional alteration in the prostate (301).

The importance of E2 for the development of female breast tissue is well documented. The female mammary gland undergoes a surge of cell divisions during puberty, and throughout the adult like there is cyclical proliferation and involution during estrous cycle. Women aromatase deficient patients, unable to convert testosterone to estrogen, show no breast

development at the onset of puberty (282,283,284). ER α knockout female mice have lost the capacity to develop mammary gland tissue (301,362). E2 is as well fundamentally linked to the induction and progression of mammary carcinoma. More than 70% of primary breast cancer in women are ER α positive and show estrogen-dependent growth (285). The possible role of ER β , which is also expressed in mammary gland, in normal breast tissue development or breast cancer development is however as yet unknown (286).

Estrogen and androgen play important role also in bone metabolism and homeostasis. During adolescence, they are involved in modeling of bone. In the adult, E2 is also involved in remodeling of bone and, particularly, it is crucial for post-menopausal women to protect from bone loss and development of osteoporosis (363,364,365). In osteoblast, E2 stimulates synthesis and secretion of IGF and inhibits that of cytokines, IL-1 and IL-6, which are involved in resorption (366,367). E2 also stimulates synthesis and secretion of osteoprotegrin, a protein with a critical role in inhibition of the function of osteoclasts (368,369). Suppression of osteoclastic bone resorption and stimulation of osteoblastic bone formation form the basis of the bone-preserving effect of E2. Loss of ER α in mice is associated with decreased longitudinal and radial limb growth in both sexes (370,371).

In the cardiovascular system, both ER isoforms are expressed in endothelial cells (287,288), smooth muscle cells (289,290), and myocardial cells (279,280). The risk of women development of cardiovascular diseases increases dramatically after menopause, suspected to be a consequence of the cessation of estrogen production by ovaries (116). E2 exerts both nongenomic effects on vasodilatation, by acting on ion channels function (292) and nitric oxide synthesis (293,294), and long-term effects, by modulation of prostaglandin synthase, nitric oxide synthase, and endothelin gene expression (295,296,297).

Estrogen is reported to influence a variety of function also in the central nervous system (298). Expression of ER α and ER β differs in some areas but in others is overlapping (299,300). ER α is more expressed in the hypothalamus. Estrogen, through the hypothalamus-pituitary axis, regulates the expression and secretion of hormones such as luteinizing hormone, follicle stimulating hormone, growth hormone, and prolactin, from the

- 64 -

anterior pituitary gland (301).

Evidences accumulated suggest that $ER\alpha$ and $ER\beta$ regulate, at least in part, separate and distinct gene networks, particularly regarding tissue and cell specific effects of estrogen. Varying ratio between the two isoforms may be fundamental for obtaining the final hormone effect.

RESULTS

CHAPTER 1:

High Resolution Quantitative HTM Analysis of ER α Transcriptional Activity and Chromatin Remodeling

 $ER\alpha$ is a representative member of nuclear receptor transcription factors. Approximately 70% of breast cancer patients are positive for elevated $ER\alpha$ expression at diagnosis. Several anti-estrogen have been developed and used in anti-cancer therapy and include 4-hydroxitamoxifen (4HT) and ICI 182,780 (ICI). These molecules act as transcriptional antagonist by promoting the repressed state of promoter-localized ER, which, in turns, generates a transcriptionally prohibitive environment and chromatin condensation. Differently, binding of agonist to ER increases the recruitment of multiple coactivators and chromatin remodeling proteins, leading to chromatin decondensation.

In this study, we have developed a model system (PRL-HeLa cell line) that is valuable to High throughput microscopy (HTM) analysis of chromatin remodeling and ER α functional response to ligand.

Contents:

- Introduction to High Throughput Microscopy (HTM)
- HTM Analysis of Protein Expression Level in EGFP-ERα-transfected Cell Population
- Engineered PRL-HeLa Cell Line for Studying Ligand-dependent Chromatin Remodeling by ERα
- Quantitative Determination of PRL-array Size via HTM

Introduction to High Throughput Microscopy (HTM)

Traditional biochemical and reporter assay approaches are representative of an averaged evaluation of cellular responses. Recent microscopic single-cell analyses in some cases provide markedly different results relative to classical approaches, due to the fact that individual cells could exhibit guiet varied responses. High throughput microscopy combines automated image acquisition to gualitative analysis at the individual cell level. HTM couples rapid acquisition of multiple cell pictures by a robotic fluorescencemicroscope (IC100, Beckman Coulter) to computational-imaging analysis software (Cytoshop, Beckman Coulter), under similar acquisition parameters (i.e. type of optics, number of fluorescent channels, exposure time, and number of optical fields) (see reference 372). Then, cells are easily identified basing on their DAPI staining (Fig.8). In this way, HTM allows quantitative study of variation in plenty of qualitative cellular features. HTM-coupled computational-imaging analyzer includes hundreds of cell morphological detection/measurement algorithms, which primarily allows to filter (or gate) the initial imaged cell population to obtain a more homogenous subpopulation of cell pictures, then susceptible for analysis. Specialized algorithms are supplied to measure specific phenomena, including protein subcellular localization. Finally, data are exported as excel files. These algorithms have already been applied for successfully quantify the cytoplasmic to nuclear translocation of NF κ B-p65 subunit (375). Here, we have adopted HTM as an analytical instrument to study ER α -regulated transcriptional activation in transfected-cell system. Ahead, in PART-2 section, HTM will be greatly applied for measuring subcellular localization of SRC-3 upon phosphorylation and interaction with ER α .

HTM Analysis of Protein Expression Level in EGFP-ER α -transfected Cell Population

In this paragraph, we will introduce the basic tools needed for HTM analysis system, in terms of images acquisition, data extraction, filtering, and data analysis of a population of HeLa cells exogenously expressing EGFP-ER α (*Fig.8-10*). We will describe how to use HTM to properly select cells for analysis based on cell viable morphology and expression of exogenous EGFP-ER α .

Cells are imaged by the IC100 microscope using the 40X/0.90 resolution objective, which gives a good balance between field size and resolution, using an exposure time of approximately 0.10 ms for DAPI and 500 ms for GFP fluorescence. Afterwards, acquired pictures are transferred to the imaging-analysis software Cytoshop for computational imaging analysis, which requires application of appropriate algorithms throughout three sequential steps.

Step 1. Initially, cells are identified and extracted by generating a *nuclear mask* around the DAPI-stained nucleus, through a predefined radius range and an optimized image filter, which is used to create marked object-background contrast, followed by automatic "thresholding". In this way, effects due to background fluorescence are subtracted and the mean image intensity is corrected. The corresponding cell channel mask or *extraction correlation radius*, which is used for the approximate identification of cytoplasm, is calculated and defined as an intersection between the "thresholded" channel, the *Voroni tessellation polygon*, and the *nuclear mask* (*Fig.8*). The resulting total cell population is biologically heterogeneous, containing apoptotic or dividing cells, and clusters of cells, which are not defined as a single cell. This total cell population contains also cells with high level of expression of GFP-ER α . Morphologically regular cells and properly expressing GFP-ER α will be filtered and selected in step 2 and 3, respectively.

Step 2. Threshold filters standard to Cytoshop software are used for removing aberrant cell types and properly select cells for analysis, based on viable morphology (*Fig.9*). Three filters are simultaneously applied to the total imaged cell population: 1) "DNA Content

Outliner", which removes apoptotic and mitotic cells based on DAPI intensity; 2) "DNA Cluster", which removes cell clusters that could not be resolved as individual cells; 3) The "Keep Cells Acquired with Two Channels" filter is combined with the two previous morphological filters, which are derived for the first fluorescent channel (DAPI) and applied to the second channel (i.e. GFP), in order to produce a more homogenous cell sub-population differentially expressing GFP-ER α .

Step 3. Finally, the morphological-selected cell sub-population is filtered for proper levels of expression (near endogenous) of GFP-ER α , by examination of the mean intensity value of cellular fluorescence (*Fig.10*). Cells that don't express green fluorescence at all (presumed to be non-transfected with GFP-ER α) are removed as well. On account of the fact that HeLa cells do not endogenously express ER gene, the lower and upper values of expression levels in GFP-ER α cells are arbitrarily set within a range of cellular fluorescence intensity comparable to presumed endogenous expression. As a result, GFP-ER α over-expression artifacts are automatically eliminated and a final population gallery of selected cells is obtained. It is anyway important to note that the expression range values are not absolute, but differs between experiments, due to biological and optical variability. Moreover, note also that from the original total population of ~ 6000 identified and morphologically filtered cells, only ~ 300 are ultimately selected for possessing the adequate level of GFP-ER expression.



B. Cytoshop imaging analysis:



Figure 8. Step 1: HTM images acquisition, cell identification and extraction. (A) The two fluorescence channels, DAPI and GFP-488nm, are imaged in a single plane, using a 40X/0.90 NA objective. More than one hundred pictures are acquired per coverslip and transferred to the Cytoshop imaging software for data analysis. (B) An automatic threshold algorithm subtracts background fluorescence, allowing image intensity correction. Contrast measurements identify DAPI-stained nuclei (nuclear mask) and the Voroni tessellation polygons define cell boundaries, required for delineating the approximate cytoplasm by the extraction correlation radius.



Keep Cells With Two Channels Filter

Keep morphological filters for GFP channel



Figure 9. Step 2: Morphological Filtering of Total imaged Cell Population. After cell identification and extraction, the original cell population, containing apoptotic or mitotic cells, unresolved nuclei clusters, is filtered to obtain a morphological selected sub-population of viable interphase cells. "DNA Content" algorithm is applied to identify the apoptotic and mitotic cells. "DNA Cluster" algorithm is applied to identify the cluster of non-resolved nuclei. The "Keep Cells With Two Channels" filter is then combined with the two previous filters and applied to the total population of GFP-ER α -expressing cells, to generate a morphologically homogenous population of interphase cells in the GFP channel. Cell presenting over-expression of GFP-ER α will be then eliminated (step 3). Representative galleries of aberrant and selected cells for the DAPI channel, and the corresponding cells for GFP channel, are depicted.






Fluorescence Range of Properly Expressing GFP-ERa Cells



Fluorescence Intensity in the GFP channel

Figure 10. Step 3: Selecting Cell Properly Expressing GFP-ER α . HeLa cells transiently transfected with GFP-ER α are examined for expression levels. Channel 0 (DAPI) and channel 1 (GFP) are imaged in the same plane and morphologically filtered as in Figure 9. (A) Two galleries featuring low and high expressing cells are depicted. A histogram is presented that demonstrate the broad range of GFP-ER α fluorescence expressions with a maximum intensity of ~ 1.8×10^6 . The range of fluorescence intensity for properly expressing GFP-ER α cells is conventionally identified between ~ 180000 and ~ 600000. Cells with lower or higher values are automatically discarded. Note that the vast majority of cells are not transfected or don't express detectable level of GFP fluorescence intensity. (B) A GFP-ER α expression final histogram after morphological and expression filtering and a representative image gallery of selected HeLa cells transiently expressing GFP-ER α are presented. Note the absence of lower/higher expressing cells.

Engineered PRL-HeLa Cell Line for Studying Ligand-dependent Chromatin Remodeling by ER α

We developed a HeLa cell line (PRL-HeLa) specifically engineered for the study of ER α transcriptional function (20). PRL-HeLa cells contain multiple and stable genomic integrations of a replicated prolactin (PRL) enhancer-promoter (*Fig.11 A*). The multiple integrations (PRL array) are spatially confined and are visualized by the accumulation of GFP-tagged ER α and fluorescently immunolabeled coregulators or RNA Polymerase II. The enhancer-promoter within the PRL-array contains repetitions (52X) of Pit-1/ERE binding site for ER α , following the physiological PRL distal enhancer (-1807 to -1498), and the proximal promoter, fused to a reporter gene, which enables to assay ER α -dependent mRNA expression through RNA fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) detection.

Different cellular clones were developed and characterized for responsiveness to ligand treatment and binding of ER and coregulators. Sequential cloning steps generated by recombination events 2X, 4X, 8X, 13X, 26X, and 52X Pit-1/ERE repeated sequences (20). Finally two different clones have been selected for containing stably integrated the 52X PRL-array into the genome: in clone referred as 23, the construct is integrated into two distinct chromosomes, and visualized as two separate spots when GFP-ER α targeted; clone 19 presents a single chromosome-integration (*Fig.11 B*). Concerning to both clone 23 and clone 19, quantitative Southern blotting indicated that approximately 150-300 total copies of 52X PRL-array are integrated in the cell.

PRL-HeLa cells were transiently transfected with GFP-ER α , resulting in localization of GFP-ER α on the 52X PRL-array. Addition of ER α agonist (17- β estradiol, E2) for 30 minutes causes a visible opening (decondensation) of the PRL-array relative to no ligand treated cells. Cells were then fixed and immunoassayed for endogenous SRC-1, -2, -3 recruitment to the PRL-enhancer/promoter and co-localization with GFP-ER α . All of the three coactivators tested occupy the GFP-ER-targeted array (*Fig.12*). Treatment with E2 leads also to co-localization of RNA Polymerase II to the PRL-array (*Fig.13*), and to transcriptional readout of the reporter gene, with an increased FISH signal of about 2 fold

over the level of vehicle (ethanol) treated cells and about 8 fold over the basal level of nontransfected cells (*Fig.14*). On the contrary, treatment for 30 minutes with the ER α antagonist 4HT or ICI induces a marked lowering in size (condensation) and displacement of p160 coregulators and RNA Polymerase II from the GFP-ER α targeted PRL-array (*Fig.12* and *Fig.13*). As expected, condensed PRL-array has a FISH signal reduction of more than 10 fold relative to the vehicle and about 25 times lower relative to E2 stimulation (*Fig.14*). Importantly, PRL-HeLa cells that are not transfected with GFP-ER α also present a basal level of PRL-array chromatin decondensation and RNA Polymerase II localization (about 12% of the total cell population), which corresponds to a minor FISH signal (*Fig.12* and *Fig.14*). Additionally, PRL-HeLa cells transfected with GFP-ER α but vehicle treated also present a subpopulation (about 15%) of cells with a detectable GFP-ER α transcriptional activity to the PRL-array (*Fig.12* and *Fig.14*), which is assumed as the ligand-independent ability of ER to bind specific responsive elements and partially activate transcription.

It follows that array size in this cell line expressing ER α is an indicator of receptor transcriptional functionality in response to ligand treatment. Much importantly, these data indicate that chromatin decondensation and transcriptional activation are direct reflections of ER α dependent coregulators recruitment to the PRL-array. For this reason, PRL-HeLa cell system allows the ability to measure the multiple aspect of ER α transcriptional activity by HTM, as it is shown in the next paragraphs, which is not possible in conventional cell lines.

Α.





Figure 11. 52X Prolactin integrated enhancer-promoter in PRL-HeLa cells. PRL-HeLa engineered cell line contains a chromosomally integrated prolactin (PRL) enhancer-promoter array (PRL-array) that regulates the expression of a reporter gene. (A) Schematic representation of PRL-array. Multicopy repetition (52X PRL enhancer) of Pit-1/ERE binding site (1D-PRL1-PRL5) follows the physiological PRL distal enhancer (-1807 to -1498) and the proximal promoter, which is fused to the reporter gene. (B) Transfection of PRL-HeLa cells with GFP-ER α results in the localization of GFP-ER α on the integrated prolactin promoter (yellow arrows). Treatment with E2 leads to a visible opening of the GFP-ER α -targeted array, while antagonist 4HT causes a drastic condensation. Both clone 23 and clone 19 are shown.



Figure 12. Localization of p160 family members on the 52X PRL-array. After 48 hours in hormone free media, Clone 23 PRL-HeLa cell line was transiently transfected with pEGFP-ER α expression vector and then treated with agonist (E2), antagonist (4HT or ICI), or vehicle, as indicated. Cells were then fixed and processed for immunostaining with antibodies specific for endogenous SRC-1, -2, or -3. Decondensed array are seen in vehicle and E2-treated cell, although E2 treatment results in a major decondensation. On the contrary, exposure to the antagonist leads to a visible condensation. All of the three p160-coactivators co-localize with GFP-ER α to the open PRL-array in presence of E2 but not to the condensed array. The DAPI channel is shown as merged with the GFP and the red channel. ICI-treated cells (not shown) display similar array condensation and coregulator displacement like 4HT-treated cells



Figure 13. Localization of RNA Polymerase II on the 52X PRL-array. After 48 hours in hormone free media, Clone 23 PRL-HeLa cell line was transiently transfected with pEGFP-ER α expression vector and then treated with agonist (E2), antagonist (4HT or ICI), or vehicle, as indicated. Cells were then fixed and processed for immunostaining with antibodies specific for the endogenous RNA Polymerase II. Clearly decondensed and Polymerase-targeted array appears following E2 exposure in GFP-ER α transfected cells. Nevertheless, a small subpopulation of cells showing slight decondensation of the array is also present in vehicle-treated cells, while the vast majority of cells present cytoplasmic diffusion of ER α . Also, constitutive chromatin decondensation of the array is revealed in non-transfected cells by Polymerase localization. On the contrary, exposure to the antagonist leads to a visible condensation and Polymerase displacement. Percentages of subpopulations are indicated. The DAPI channel is shown as merged with the GFP and the red channel.



Figure 14. Analysis of the transcriptional response of the 52X PRL-array. After 48 hours in hormone free media, Clone 23 PRL-HeLa cell line was transiently transfected with pEGFP-ER α expression vector and then treated with agonist (E2), antagonist (4HT or ICI), or vehicle, as indicated. Cells were then fixed and processed for FISH and imaged as described in Methods. Fluorescence is shown in green and mRNA FISH signal is shown in red. The merge includes DAPI-staining in blue. Intensity of FISH signals at the PRL-array was quantified by the freeware-imaging program GimpShop (see Material and Methods) and graphed. The treatments are also indicated below the graphs. While there is a constitutive FISH signal in non-transfected cells, it increases significantly in cells with arrays targeted by GFP-ER α (p<0.01) and treated with E2. A small, but significant FISH signal at the array in cells treated with antagonist (p<0.001).

Quantitative Determination of PRL-array Size via HTM

In our early experiments, we show that PRL-array shape and size may vary considerably and correlate with agonist or antagonist exposure of PRL-HeLa cells transiently expressing GFP-ER α . In this section, we will illustrate how high throughput microcopy can be a useful tool for quantifying the transcriptional response of 52X PRL-array to ER α ligands at the single cell level.

Transiently GFP-ERa-transfected PRL-HeLa cells were treated for 30 minutes with vehicle, 10nM of E2, or 10nM of antagonist (4HT or ICI), fixed and immunolabeled for anti-RNA Pol II, DAPI stained, and imaged on IC100 using the high numerical aperture 40X, 0.9 NA, objective. The secondary antibody is conjugated to Alexa 647 (Molecular Probes), which gives a signal in the far-red wavelength. Cells were imaged for DAPI, red immunofluorescence, and GFP fluorescence. Exposure time was approximately 0.1 ms for DAPI, 500 ms for immunolabeled RNA Polymerase II, and 2 seconds for GFP-ER α . Pictures from the total cell population, for the three different channels, were collected and analyzed with Cytoshop software, as described in previous sections and in Methods. Channel 0 (DAPI) was used to find the focus on nuclei; channel 1 visualizes GFP- $ER\alpha$ transfected cells and identified the PRL array; channel 2 for RNA Pol II. To maximize the number of PRL-array imaged in focus, the Z-plane section for GFP-ER α was offset 1 µm from the DAPI focal plane. Up to 100 fields per coverslip were imaged to obtain an unfiltered total cell population of at least 5000 cells. An aggregate algorithm was automatically applied to identify the GFP-ER α array (aggregate), before morphological filtering. The aggregate identification parameters are 350 (maxim area in pixel), 30 (object scale), 5 (minimum peak height). These parameters were determined to be optimal for identifying arrays in cells treated with either agonist (large array) or antagonist (small array) and for excluding non-array identified aggregates. Thereafter, mitotic and apoptotic cells, nuclei clusters, out of focus, and over-expressing transfected cells were removed from the images collection, using classical morphological and expression filters, and resulted in a gallery of selected cells (Fig.15 A). An additional filter (Number of Aggregates

Identified per Cell <3) was then applied to the morphology/expression-selected subpopulation, in order to include only cells with maximum of two aggregate per cell. Finally, a homogenous cell population was generated and visually and manually inspected for colocalization between GFP-ER α -targeted array and RNA Polymerase II immunostaining. Cellular parameters, like PRL-array size, were automatically measured at single cell level (for each ligand treatment) and directly exported as an excel data file. HTM analysis shows a drastic difference in the PRL-array size, depending on the exposure to specific ER α ligands (agonist or antagonist), which we would call ER α -dependent chromatin remodeling. These results indicate a basal array size (vehicle control) in pixels of 78.8 ± 4.2 (*Fig.15 B*). Treatment with E2 causes a spatial expansion of the array (131.9 ± 4.5). Treatment with antagonist 4HT or ICI causes array contraction (42.7 ± 3.0 and 45.3 ± 2.6 respectively). Array size for each treatment is significantly different than vehicle control (p<0.01).

In conclusion, we could assume that PRL-array size is a reliable indicator of ER α liganddependent regulation of transcription, as shown in figure 14. Here, PRL-HeLa cell line and HTM has successfully demonstrated the capability to quantitatively measure the variation of the array size upon ligand treatment. In the next chapter, we will show HTM as a convenient tool for demonstrating distinct aspect of ER α transcriptional function in relationship with the coregulator SRC-3.



Figure 15. HTM analysis of PRL-array size. PRL-HeLa cells (Clone 23) were transiently transfected with GFP-ER α , fixed and DAPI/RNA Pol II stained upon treatment with ligands. Raw pictures from the total cell population were collected and analyzed with Cytoshop software. (A) A representative field of E2 treated cell images is presented. An aggregate algorithm was used to identify, mask (red) and quantify the PRL-array. Out of focus, over-expressed and irregular-shaped transfected cells (gray circles) are removed from the images collection, as previously shown in figures 8-10, resulting in a gallery of selected cells (yellow circles). An additional filter (*Number of Aggregates Identified per Cell <3*) was applied in order to remove cells with non-array aggregates identified arrays. (B) From this gallery, cellular parameters, like PRL-array size were measured and automatically exported as an excel file. Size values obtained are graphed and presented as mean array area in pixels (n cells > 100 for each treatment). Error bars represent SE (**, P<0.01).

CHAPTER 2: Regulation of SRC-3 Cellular Localization and Dynamics by Phosphorylation and ER α Interaction

SRC-3 belongs, together with SRC-1 and SRC-2, to p160/SRC (steroid receptor coactivators) family of general transcription coactivators of nuclear receptors (NRs). SRC-3 is strongly suggested to play an oncogenic role in cancer: it is amplified in ~10 % of human breast cancer and in the majority of tumors. SRCs are essentially localized in the nucleus. However, weak, but significant, expression is also observed in the cytoplasm. Here, with an extensive use of cellular microscopy, including quantitative high throughput microscopy (HTM), we will demonstrate that SRC-3 is in fact a primarily nuclear protein and that a fraction of the cellular pool shuttles between nucleus and cytoplasm. Moreover, phosphorylation state and interaction with ER α regulate the compartmental dynamics of SRC-3. We also demonstrate that inhibition of SRC-3 phosphorylation results in reduced ER α -dependent transcription in PRL-HeLa cell line and intranuclear ER α -SRC-3 complex formation. Finally, we suggest that the nuclear-cytoplasmic shuttling of SRC-3 may be important for facilitating nuclear translocation of estrogen receptor.

Contents:

- SRC-3 Is Primarily a Nuclear Protein
- Quantification of SRC-3 Cellular Localization Using High-resolution HTM
- SRC-3 Localization Is Regulated by Phosphorylation
- EGF Induces Phosphorylation of SRC-3 and Promotes SRC-3 Nuclear Localization
- Phosphorylation of SRC-3 Regulates Interaction and Colocalization with ER α
- SRC-3 Phosphorylation Is Required for Promoter interaction with ERα and Transcriptional Readout at the PRL-array
- SRC-3 Shuttles Between Nucleus and Cytoplasm Affecting Estrogen Receptor Translocation into the Nucleus

SRC-3 Is Primarily a Nuclear Protein

To examine the subcellular distribution of endogenous SRC-3, we used HeLa cells immunolabeled with a monoclonal anti-SRC-3 antibody (*Fig.16A*). The vast majority of cell revealed an intense nuclear signal, although in a few cells (>8%) weak cytoplasmic staining was also observed.

We repeated the experiment using HeLa cells transiently transfected with GFP-SRC-3, confirming that SRC-3 is localized primarily in the nucleus (*Fig.16B*). However, in this case it was noted that numerous cellular globules (or speckles) accumulate in cells expressing high levels of GFP-SRC-3, probably due to non-physiological polymerization of the transfected protein when present at much higher-than-endogenous levels, as reported previously for several GFP-overexpression-based cytological studies (374,375). To avoid any possible alteration in our quantitative analyses (see later), we excluded all cells having more than three times the level of endogenous SRC-3 expression by HTM-automated filtering (as described in ref. 372).

Additionally, to eliminate concerns associated with the exogenous transfection of GFPfused protein, we also generated a HeLa cell line stably expressing HA-SRC-3 under the control the tetracycline (Tet) promoter, which is reversibly turned on and off in the presence or absence of the antibiotic tetracycline, or its derivative doxycycline (DOX). HA-SRC-3 expression was repressed in the presence of 200 ng/ml DOX in hormone-free medium. To express HA-SRC-3, cells were grown in DOX-free medium for 48 hours. Immunolabeling with anti-HA antibody confirmed that SRC-3 is localized in the nucleus (*Fig.16C*).

Taken together, these results show a clear prominent nuclear localization of endogenous SRC-3 and transiently transfected SRC-3, when this is expressed at approximately physiological levels and without accumulation of cellular speckles.

- 84 -



Figure 16. SRC-3 is a predominantly nuclear protein. (A) HeLa cells immunolabeled for endogenous SRC-3. (B) Transient expression of GFP-SRC-3 in HeLa cells. (C) HeLa cells stably expressing HA-SRC-3 under the control of Tet promoter. The expression of HA-SRC-3 is repressed in the presence of doxycycline (+DOX) and activated when cells grow in DOX-free medium (-DOX). HA-SRC-3 is expressed in the nucleus as shown by immunodetection using anti-HA antibody. DAPI staining delineates the nuclei. Deconvolution microscopy was performed either with 63X or 20X objective (see methods).

Quantification of SRC-3 Cellular Localization Using High-resolution HTM

To quantitatively characterize SRC-3 localization, accurate imaging analysis was performed by HTM. HeLa cells were immunolabeled for endogenous SRC-3, fixed and DAPI stained. The secondary antibody was conjugated to Alexa 647. Afterwards, cells were imaged for DAPI and red immunofluorescence by IC100 microscope, using the 40X/0.90 resolution objective, and computationally analyzed by Cytoshop. As previously described in chapter 1, morphological filters were applied to generate a final gallery of selected cells. Examination of the mean nuclear fluorescence of endogenous SRC-3 indicates a broad range of expression (*Fig.17*).





Morphological/expression Selected Cell Gallery

Figure 17. Analysis of endogenous SRC-3 nuclear localization by HTM. The expression level of endogenous SRC-3 in HeLa cells is examined by immunofluorescence and HTM. Two channels are imaged in a single plane, channel 0 (DAPI) and channel 1 (SRC-3), and the resulting cell population is morphologically filtered as in figures 8-10. A histogram is presented that demonstrates the broad range of SRC-3 nuclear immunofluorescence. A selected gallery containing cells with correct expression levels is shown. Two galleries featuring high and low expressing cells are also depicted.

In a second pivotal experiment, we examined the mean nuclear fluorescence of transiently expressed GFP-SRC-3 in HeLa cells. The pEGFP-SRC-3 transfected cells were imaged for DAPI, red immunolabeling for endogenous SRC-3, and GFP for exogenously expressed SRC-3, maintaining the same exposure time. Only cells expressing nearendogenous levels of coactivator were selected for analyses (as previously described in figure 10, concerning with GFP-ER α transient transfection), after morphological filtering. Notably, overexpression of GFP-SRC-3 causes the formation of non-physiological speckles. We excluded all cells in our analyses having more than 3 times the level of the average SRC-3 endogenous fluorescence. All cells included in the range of nuclear fluorescence corresponding to endogenous level of SRC-3 expression, selected through HTM filtering, do not exhibit speckles formation (see ref.6).

We used HTM analysis to show that both endogenous SRC-3 and transiently expressed GFP-SRC-3 are predominantly localized in the nucleus. The quantitative FLIN value, defined as "*Fractional Localized Intensity In the Nucleus*", is an accurate HTM parameter that measures the ratio between nuclear and total fluorescence of SRC-3 in the cell. This measurement is independent of cell-to-cell variations in signal intensities and it's defined as a percentage value from 0% (absence of nuclear fluorescence) to 100% (absence of fluorescence in the cytoplasm, which indicates that the protein is completely nuclear localized) (*Fig.18A*).

Measurements of thousands of cells expressing endogenous SRC-3 gave an average FLIN value of 96% \pm 0.08, thus indicating that in an average cell, 96% of SRC-3 fluorescence is nuclear (*Fig.18B*). Importantly, when gated for a near-endogenous expression level in HeLa cells, exogenous GFP-SRC-3 also showed high FLIN values, similar to those of the endogenous protein (Average FLIN = 95% \pm 0.11, *Fig.18B*).

These results quantitatively confirm that SRC-3 in almost completely localized in the nucleus. Nevertheless, a small amount of protein is also detected in the cytoplasm (on average, about the 4% of total cellular amount). Moreover, they indicate that GFP-SRC-3 may be used as a reliable representation of endogenous SRC-3 function, when expressed at near-physiological levels in HeLa cells.

- 87 -





Figure 18. Automated quantification of SRC-3 subcellular localization using HTM. (A) Schematic depiction of FLIN value determination by HTM, defined as the ratio between nuclear and total fluorescence of a specific protein. Filters standard to Cytoshop were used to gate and extract the imaged cell population; nucleus and cytoplasm are identified. The degree of nuclear localization is represented by the fraction of total fluorescence measured in the nucleus. (B) HeLa cells were grown for 48 hours in hormone-free medium. Shown are filled-area graphs of the Fractional Localized Intensity In the Nucleus (FLIN) obtained for the cell population imaged. FLIN values were measured for endogenous SRC-3 (panel 1) and transiently expressed GFP-SRC-3 (panel 1). The numbers of cells analyzed and the FLIN averages are indicated. (Inset) Representative cell galleries which belong to the extracted cell subpopulation are shown as example.

SRC-3 Localization Is Regulated by Phosphorylation

To analyze the upstream effectors that may regulate the subcellular localization of SRC-3, we studied the impact of the phosphorylation status of SRC-3 at the cellular level. Previous studies have shown that the phosphorylation of SRC-3 is important for its coactivation function and that this phosphorylation can be mediated by ERK1/2 (p44/p42) *in vitro* (39,40). Thus, we treated HeLa cells with the MEK inhibitor U0126, which is a noncompetitive inhibitor of MEK-dependent ERK phosphorylation (376). At the same time, treatment by cycloheximide prevented new protein synthesis and SRC-3 distribution was analyzed by immunolabeling. HTM was use to quantify the redistribution of the coactivator in response to U0126 through determination of the FLIN value. Exposure to U0126 resulted in a partial redistribution of SRC-3 to the cytoplasm (FLIN value of ~ 0.87), while in the same experiment, FLIN value for SRC-1 did not significantly change (FLIN value of ~ 0.98), meaning that the effect of the inhibitor is specific to SRC-3 (*Fig.19*).



Figure 19. Inhibition of SRC-3 phosphorylation impedes its nuclear localization. HeLa cells were cultured 48 hours in hormone-free medium and then incubated for 4 hours with MEK kinase inhibitor U0126 (45μ M) or vehicle, as a control, both in the presence of cycloheximide (50μ g/ml). HTM quantification of nuclear localization of endogenous either SRC-3 or SRC-1 is reported as histograms, showing the average FLIN values collected for each treatment. Error bars represent SD (**, P<0.01).

To confirm that the effect of U0126 on SRC-3 localization was due to the inactivation of ERK1/2, we used RNAi to knock down the expression of ERK1/2 in HeLa cells (*Fig.20A*). The reduction of both ERK1 (p44) and ERK2 (p42) together resulted in a significant shift of SRC-3 to the cytoplasm, corresponding to a FLIN value of ~ 0.78 (*Fig.20B*), without affecting the expression level of SRC-3 (*Fig.20A*). Also in this case, the effect on SRC-3 relocation was specific since the subcellular distribution of the other p160 coactivator, SRC-1, was not changed upon the same RNAi treatment (FLIN of ~ 0.98) (*Fig.20B*).



Figure 20. Knock down of both ERK1 and ERK2 induces cytoplasm relocation of SRC-3. (A) HeLa cells were transfected with siRNA for ERK1, ERK2, both together (ERK1+2), or a control siRNA. 72 hours after transfection, reduction of protein levels for both kinases was demonstrated by immunoblotting with anti-ERK1/2 antibodies. Tubulin levels were determined as a loading control. (B) Coverslips corresponding to siRNA control and siRNA ERK1+2 were immunolabeled for anti-SRC-3 or anti-SRC-1 and then scanned with HTM. Corresponding FLIN value were determined and reported a fill-area histograms, demonstrating that RNAi of ERK1 and 2 result in a much decreased nuclear localization of endogenous SRC-3, compared to control RNAi or to the same treatment for endogenous SRC-1. Representative cell galleries are also shown.

Finally, to further investigate the phosphorylation-dependent localization of SRC-3, we used a GFP-tagged SRC-3 mutant in which six previously identified phosphorylation sites (T²⁴, S⁵⁰⁵, S⁵⁴³, S⁸⁵⁷, S⁸⁶⁰, S⁸⁶⁷) were replaced by alanines (GFP-SRC-3 A₁₋₆) (39,151). This mutant is partially and visibly localized in the cytoplasm (Fig.21A). Likewise, wild-type GFP-SRC-3 shows similar cytoplasmic localization following treatment with U0126. Cycloheximide was added to the medium at the same time as the inhibitor, in order to prevent synthesis of new coactivator, demonstrating the partial accumulation of SRC-3 within the cytoplasm. HTM analysis was performed and indicated that the average FLIN value for GFP-SRC-3 A_{1-6} was ~ 0.82, compared to the value of ~ 0.98 obtained for the wild-type GFP-SRC-3 (Fig.21B), corresponding to a average redistribution of ~15% of the GFP-SRC-3 A₁₋₆ pool from the nucleus to the cytoplasm. When cells were treated with U0126, wild-type GFP-SRC-3 also presented a similar relocation in the cytoplasm (FLIN value of ~ 0.83). In addition, the FLIN value was compared to that obtained in the case of wild-type GFP-SRC-1 upon treatment with U0126, showing that cellular localization of GFP-SRC-1 is not affected (FLIN value of ~ 0.98) by the MEK-inhibitor (*Fig.21B*), whereas the effect is specific to SRC-3.

Both the U0126 and RNAi studies clearly suggest a role for ERK1/2-directed phosphorylation in regulating the residency of SRC-3 in the nucleus. Moreover, the non-phosphorylatable GFP-SRC-3 mutant is more localized in the cytoplasm, compared to the wild type. Together, these data suggest not only that phosphorylation regulates SRC-3 localization but also that the main phosphorylation sites involved are situated within these six mutated sites, previously identified.



Figure 21. The non-phosphorylatable SRC-3 mutant display altered subcellular localization. (A) HeLa cells were transiently transfected with wild type GFP-SRC-3 or GFP-SRC-3 A_{1-6} mutant and pictures were taken with deconvolution microscope using a 63X objective lens. DAPI staining delineates the nucleus. GFP-SRC-3 A_{1-6} shows slight but significant cytoplasmic localization in most of the cells observed. Similarly, GFP-SRC-3 was partially shifted to the cytoplasm in the presence of the kinase inhibitor U0126. Bar, 5 μ m. (B) HeLa cells transiently expressing GFP-SRC-3 (wild type), GFP-SRC-3 A_{1-6} , or GFP-SRC-1, were cultured 48 hours in hormone-free medium and then incubated for 4 hours with U0126 (45 μ M) or vehicle, both in the presence of cycloheximide (50 μ g/ml). HTM quantification of FLIN is reported as histograms. Error bars represent SD (**, P<0.01).

EGF Induces Phosphorylation of SRC-3 and Promotes SRC-3 Nuclear Localization

To further investigate how nuclear localization of SRC-3 is regulated by phosphorylation, we took advantage of the fact that the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is an essential link in the receptor-mediated ERK1/2 activation pathway (39,377). Indeed, if our previous conclusion is correct, EGF treatment should induce an enhancement in SRC-3 nuclear localization. To test our hypothesis, we used HMT analysis of HeLa cells transfected with GFP-SRC-3, GFP-SRC-3 A_{1-6} , or GFP-SRC-1. Compared to control experiments, where cells were exposed to vehicle only, the addition of EGF (100 ng/ml) for 1.5 hours stimulated a significant increase of GFP-SRC-3 accumulation within the nucleus, corresponding to an increase of the measured average nuclear intensity from 116383 to 188613 (indicating an increase of about 38%) (*Fig.22*). Conversely, pretreatment of cells with U0126 (for 1 hour) prior to EGF abrogated the nuclear accumulation of GFP-SRC-3. Differently, treatment with EGF alone or preincubation with U0126 had no significant effects on GFP-SRC-3 A_{1-6} or GFP-SRC-1 localization (*Fig.22*).

Note that the increased observed in nuclear fluorescence after EGF treatment is, at least in part, due to an increase in the average FLIN value, referred to translocation of SRC-3 from cytoplasm to nucleus. Indeed, although already high in untreated cells (~ 0.95), the SRC-3 FLIN value further increased to ~ 0.97 after EGF treatment (data not shown). However, we believe that a part of the increased nuclear intensity is also due to the nuclear accumulation of a diffuse pool of SRC-3 in the cytoplasm, which is not detectable with the FLIN algorithm, whereas increase in the average nuclear intensity is easier measurable.



Figure 22. High-resolution HTM quantification of SRC-3 nuclear localization upon EGF treatment. HeLa cells were transfected with GFP-SRC-3, GFP-SRC-3 A₁₋₆, or GFP-SRC-1 and treated for 1.5 hours with vehicle, EGF (100 ng/ml) or U0126 (45 μ g/ml for 1 hour) + EGF (100 ng/ml for 1.5 hours). Cells were fixed, DAPI stained and analyzes by HTM. The histograms show the nuclear fluorescence intensity values. Error bars represent SD (**, P<0.01).

These results indicate the hypothesis that EGF-induced phosphorylation of SRC-3 leads to an increased residency time of SRC-3 in the nuclear compartment. To definitively demonstrate the link between EGF-induced nuclear localization of SRC-3, we investigated the effect of EGF on SRC-3 phosphorylation using site-specific antibodies in HEK293 cells transfected with Flag-tagged SRC-3. The phosphorylation of SRC-3 at threonine 24, and at serines 857 and 860, was enhanced in the presence of EGF (*Fig.23A*). However, pretreatment with U0126 reduced the EGF-dependent phosphorylation of serine 857 and serine 860 (*Fig.23B*), but not of threonine 24, suggesting that these two serine sites are major targets of EGF-induced phosphorylation through ERK1 and ERK2. Interestingly, when these two sites were in combination, but not independently, mutate to alanine in a GFP-tagged SRC-3 (GFP-SRC-3 A_{4-5}), the coactivator partially localized in the cytoplasm (FLIN value of ~ 0.87) (*Fig.24*). This result indicates the importance of serines 857 and 860 in regulating nuclear localization of SRC-3 only when simultaneously phosphorylated, while individual phosphorylation is not sufficient to induce nuclear retaining of SRC-3.



Figure 23. EGF induces phosphorylation of SRC-3 at specific sites. (A) HEK293 cells grown in phenol red-free DMEM (supplemented with 5% charcoal-dextran stripped FBS) were cotransfected with an expression plasmid for wild-type Flag-SRC-3. After transfection, cells were grown in medium containing 0.5% FBS for 36 hours and stimulated with EGF (100 ng/ml) for 1 hour before harvest. Flag-SRC-3 was immunoprecipitated by anti-Flag antibodies and separated on an 8% SDS-PAGE gel. Immunoblotting was performed using the indicated phosphorylation state-specific antibodies. Anti-Flag antibody was used as control for protein loading (total F-SRC-3). Arrows indicate phosphorylation status at threonine 24, and serines 857 and 860. (B) Cells were treated as described above, except for the right lane, where the cells were preincubated with U126 (45 μg/ml for 1hour). Immunoblotting was performed using the indicated phosphorylation status grown in the cells were preincubated with U126 (45 μg/ml for 1hour). Immunoblotting was performed using the indicated state s



GFP-SRC-3 wild type

GFP-SRC-3 A4-5

Figure 24. HTM analysis of cellular localization of GFP-SRC-3 A4-5 double mutant. HeLa cells were transiently transfected with GFP-SRC-3 (wild type), GFP-SRC-3 single mutant for each phosphorylation site (T²⁴, S⁵⁰⁵, S⁵⁴³, S⁸⁵⁷, S⁸⁶⁰, S⁸⁶⁷), or GFP-SRC-3 A₄₋₅ (double mutation in S⁸⁵⁷ and S⁸⁶⁰). Cells were then cultured 48 hours in hormone-free medium, with any treatment, and HTM quantification of FLIN was performed and here reported as histograms. Error bars represent SD (**, P<0.01). Representative cells galleries are also reported for evidencing the partial cytoplasmic localization of GFP-SRC-3 A₄₋₅ with respect to the wild type GFP-SRC-3.

Phosphorylation of SRC-3 Regulates Interaction and Colocalization with ER α

To determine the role of SRC-3 phosphorylation in the context of ER interactions at the single cell level, we next examined the effect of U0126 inhibition in cells co-expressing ER α and SRC-3. HeLa cells were cotransfected with GFP-SRC-3 and HcRed-ER α and incubated with 10 nM E2 for 2 hours with or without a 1-hour pre-incubation with U0126. A Z-series of focal planes were digitally imaged and deconvolved with the DeltaVision constrained iterative algorithm to generate high-resolution images.

In E2-treated cells, we observed co-reorganization of GFP-SRC-3 and HcRed-ER α into a hyper-speckled colocalization pattern (*Fig.25A*). Strikingly, when the cells were pre-treated with U0126, nuclear GFP-SRC-3 and HcRed-ER α showed much less colocalization, suggesting that in the presence of ER α , U0126 does not alter SRC-3 nuclear detainment in general, but it may specifically inhibit the colocalization with nuclear partners.

To accurately quantify this phenomenon, we used HTM and measured the variance of the fluorescent signal in the nucleus (NVAR) of GFP-SRC-3 and HcRed-ER α upon hormone or inhibitor treatment. The NVAR value is another HTM algorithm that specifically detects the *Nuclear Variation* of speckled pattern, measuring the statistical variation in pixel brightness of channels of interest (GFP and HcRed in this case) in the nucleus. Hence, NVAR values are directly linked to the presence or absence of nuclear hyper-speckling. We observed that, in the absence of hormone, the average NVAR value of both proteins was very low (0.24 and 0.14 for GFP-SRC-3 and HcRed-ER α , respectively, *Fig.25B*). On the contrary, in presence of estradiol, the average fluorescence variation of both GFP-SRC-3 and HcRed-ER α increased to 0.9 and 0.13, which correspond to an increase of about four and nine times, respectively. However, when cells were pretreated with U0126, this increase was abolished. We also found that E2 was not able to induce the coreorganization of the GFP-SRC-3 A₁₋₆ mutant and HcRed-ER α into a hyper-speckled pattern (*Fig.26A*). Accordingly, the corresponding NVAR values were no significantly modified (*Fig.26B*).



Figure 25. SRC-3 phosphorylation by ERK1/2 is necessary for colocalization with ER α . HeLa cells expressing GFP-SRC-3 and HcRed-ER α were incubated in hormone-free medium for 48 hours. Cells were then treated for 2 hours with vehicle or 10nM E2. Where indicated (U0126/E2) cells were pre-treated for 1 hour with U0126 (45 μ M) and then treated with E2 for 2 hours. The inset shows a magnification of the selected subnuclear region (white square). Note that addition of E2 resulted in a redistribution of both proteins into the same foci only in the absence of U0126. (B) Automated quantification of the variation in the subnuclear pattern of SRC-3 and ER. HeLa cells transiently expressing GFP-SRC-3 and HcRed-ER α were treated as described in (A) and analyzed by HTM with the 63X high-resolution objective (>100 cells). The histograms show the subnuclear variation measurement (NVAR X 10⁻²), which is the statistical variation in pixel brightness for each channel (GFP-SRC-3 and HcRed-ER α) in the nuclear compartment. Note that the increase in NVAR for both SRC-3 and ER in the presence of hormone is inhibited by pretreatment with U0126. Error bars represent SD (**, P<0.01).



Figure 26. SRC-3 A1-6 phosphorylation mutant is unable to colocalize with ER α . (A) HeLa cells expressing GFP-SRC-3 A₁₋₆ and HcRed-ER α were treated and analyzed as described above in figure 26A. (B) Automated HTM quantification of the variation in the subnuclear pattern (NVAR) of GFP-SRC-3 A₁₋₆ and HcRed-ER α was performed as described above in figure 26B. In this case there are no significant divergence between the different treatments. Error bars represent SD.

The E2-induced phosphorylation of ER α by ERK1/2 at serine 118 is still controversial (42,378,379). However, to test whether the inhibitor effect of U0126 on SRC-3 and ER α colocalization is due to a decrease in ERK1/2 phosphorylation of SRC-3 alone not involving ER phosphorylation, we abrogated the direct regulation of ER by ERK1/2 phosphorylation through the use of the S118A mutation (235). The result shows that in the presence of E2, the GFP-ER α 118A can still colocalize with SRC-3 (*Fig.27A*) at a level comparable to that of wild type ER, quantified through HTM calculation of NVAR value (*Fig.27B*). This data indicate that the phosphorylation of ER α at serine 118 by ERK1/2 is not a prerequisite for promoting ER α /SRC-3 colocalization.



Figure 27. Inhibition of ER α *by ERK1/2 doesn't prevent colocalization with SRC-3.* (A) HeLa cells expressing Flag-SRC-3 (in red) and GFP-E α R118A (in green) were treated and analyzed as described above in figure 26A, except that after fixation and immunodetection of SRC-3 by anti-Flag antibody. (B) Automated HTM quantification of the variation in the subnuclear pattern (NVAR) of Flag-SRC-3 and GFP-ER α 118A was performed as described above in figure 26B. Error bars represent SD (**, P<0.01).

Since the NVAR values are directly linked to the presence of subnuclear hyperspeckles, these results in part demonstrate that the ERK1/2 phosphorylation of SRC-3 is necessary for both its intranuclear organization and concomitant interaction with ER. To confirm the interaction between SRC-3 and ER α , hormone induction was carried out in MCF-7 cells, which endogenous SRC-3 endogenous express both and ERα. Following immunoprecipitation with an anti-ER α antibody, the co-precipitated SRC-3 was detected by Western blotting with anti-SRC-3 antibody. As expected, in the absence of hormone wild-type SRC-3 interacted minimally with ER α , and this interaction was greatly enhanced by E2 (*Fig.28*). However, when the cells were pre-incubated with the U0126 inhibitor, a marked reduction in the interaction between ER α and coactivator was observed (*Fig.28*). This reduction was not due to a decreased protein expression since the total amount of SRC-3 was constant.

Taken together, these results indicate that the lower levels of transcriptional activation previously observed for the SRC-3 phospho-mutant (39) are due, at least in part, to a reduced interaction between the SRC-3 mutant and ER α . Finally, this result shows that phosphorylation events are important for regulating the interaction between ER α and SRC-3 in the cell.



Figure 28. SRC-3 and ER\alpha physically interact in MCF-7 cells. MCF-7 cells were incubated for three days in 5% stripped-dialyzed serum. E2 (10nM) and U0126 (45 μ M) were added for 1 hour (indicated by a +). Preincubation with U0126 was of 2 hours (lane 4). Coimmunoprecipitation assay was performed using anti-ER α antibody (top), and coprecipitated SRC-3 was detected by Western blotting using anti-SRC-3 antibody (middle). Note that the E2-induced ER/SRC-3 interaction is reduced in the presence of U0126.

SRC-3 Phosphorylation Is Required for Promoter Interaction with ER α and Transcriptional Readout at the PRL-array

The results described above indicate that a considerable fraction of the nuclear pools of SRC-3 and ER α can interact in an ERK1/2 phosphorylation-dependent manner. However, those studies do not allow us to discriminate the minute fraction (e.g., a small percent of the total nuclear volume) involved in transcriptional activation of genes from the whole pool of nuclear SRC-3 and ER α . Moreover, phosphorylation events might be important for increasing the rate of interaction of both proteins in the bulk nucleus, but it is not necessarily certain that this post-translational modification is also imperative for the corecruitment of both NR and coactivator to a promoter during gene activation. To answer this question, we next visually evaluated the amount of receptor and coactivator involved in transcriptional activation using the PRL-HeLa cell line, previously described in chapter 1. This cell line (Clone 19) (see chapter 1 and Material and Methods) carries the chromosomally integrated ER α -regulated reporter gene array (PRL-array), which allows us to visualize the recruitment of ER α , SRC-3, or SRC-1, and RNA Polymerase II, and accordingly, the transcriptional readout of mRNA FISH signal upon transcription activation. When cells were treated with E2, the PRL-array became visible within a few minutes, as revealed by GFP-ER α and endogenous SRC-3 and SRC-1 colocalization (see *Fig.12*). This accumulation was also accompanied by a clear recruitment of RNA Polymerase II (see *Fig.13*) and mRNA transcription from the reporter gene (FISH signal > 10 fold over control) (see Fig.14). However, when cells were pretreated with U0126 for 1 hour, whereas ER α still accumulated at the PRL-array, SRC-3 recruitment decreased (*Fig.29A*) and a marked reduction of the colocalization pattern with ER α was detected, using the Pearson's colocalization coefficient (Rr) (see Material and Methods) (Fig.29B). Interestingly, the PRL-array remained decondensed, indicating that in this system, although interaction between SRC-3 and ER α was abolished in the presence of U0126, $ER\alpha$ was still able to recruit other coregulators involved in chromatin remodeling, such as SRC-1 (Fig.29A and Fig.29B).



Figure 29. Recruitment of endogenous SRC-3 at the PRL-enhancer/promoter is abrogated by U0126. (A) The PRL-HeLa cells (Clone 19) were transiently transfected with GFP-ER α and treated with E2 (10nM) or vehicle, fixed and immunolabeled for endogenous SRC-3 or SRC-1. Where indicated, cells were pretreated with U0126 (45µM) and then further incubated with E2 (U0126/E2). A Z-series of focal planes was digitally imaged and deconvolved with the DeltaVision algorithm. Circles indicate the accumulation of ER or SRC-3/SRC-1 at the PRL-array. Note that, in contrast to SRC-1, the ligand-dependent recruitment of SRC-3 is inhibited by the presence of U0126. Bar, 2.5 µm. (B) Quantification of the colocalization pattern between endogenous SRC-3 (or SRC-1) and GFP-ER α at the PRL-array using the Pearson's colocalization parameter (Rr) (see Material and Methods). Error bars represent SD (**, P<0.01). The inset box shows example of areas of PRL-array that are selected for calculation and the corresponding Rr value.

To further confirm the importance of phosphorylation for SRC-3 recruitment at the promoter, GFP-SRC-3 wild type was compared with its mutant GFP-SRC-3 A₁₋₆. Both the constructs were cotransfected with HcRed-ER α in PRL-HeLa cells clone 19. Cells were then incubated for 30 minutes with E2 or vehicle.

As expected, the results show that GFP-SRC-3 was successfully corecruited at the PRLarray with HcRed-ER α (*Fig.30A*) in the 97.8% of the cell population expressing both the ER and SRC-3 constructs (*Fig.30B*). In contrast, when GFP-SRC-3 A₁₋₆ was coexpressed with HcRed-ER α , we saw a marked reduction of cells with HcRed-ER α and GFP-SRC-3 A₁₋₆ colocalizing at the PRL-array, upon E2 treatment (37.7% of the cell population) (*Fig.30A* and *Fig.30B*). Interestingly, we also found that transcriptional activation at the PRL-array was markedly reduced in cells coexpressing HcRed-ER α and GFP-SRC-3 A₁₋₆, compared to that of cells transfected with GFP-SRC-3, as reflected by the mRNA fluorescent *in situ* hybridization signal observed at the array (*Fig.30A*). In fact, a decrease of about two fold in FISH intensity was quantified in cells with arrays targeted by GFP-SRC-3 A₁₋₆ and treated with E2 (*Fig.30C*). Moreover, HTM automated quantification of PRL-array size revealed a corresponding reduction of the average measured area of GFP-SRC-3 A₁₋₆ -targeted array (119.9 ± 7.8 pixels), compared to that of GFP-SRC-3 -targeted array (69.1 ± 11.8 pixels) (*Fig.31*), revealing a lowered ability of chromatin remodeling by activated ER as a result of impaired SRC-3 phosphorylation.

Taken together, these results could reflect the consequence that recruitment of other coactivators (e.g. CBP) (39) is affected by defects in SRC-3 localization at the PRL-promoter. Also, these results clearly underscore the importance of SRC-3 phosphorylation as a condition for an optimal localization at the promoter and are consistent with previous observation showing that phosphorylation sites governed by the MAPK pathway are required for the coactivation of ER (39).



Figure 30. SRC-3 phosphorylation is essential for recruitment at the PRL-promoter and coactivation of ER-dependent transcription activation. (A) PRL-HeLa cells (Clone 19) transiently coexpressing HcRed-ER and GFP-SRC-3 or GFP-SRC-3 A1-6 were treated with E2 (10nM) or vehicle, and then fixed and DAPI stained. A Z-series of focal planes was digitally imaged and deconvolved with the DeltaVision constrained algorithm. Arrows indicate the accumulation of ER or SRC-3 at the PRL-array and the FISH signal. Note that in contrast to GFP-SRC-3 (wt), the non-phosphorylatable mutant GFP-SRC-3 A1-6 is not completely corecruited with ER. Bar, 5 μ m. (B) Histogram represents the proportion of the cotransfected cell population that has visible accumulation of both HcRed-ER and GFP-SRC-3 (or GFP-SRC-3 A1-6) at the PRL-array in response to E2 stimulation (cells counted > 100). (C) FISH signal of the PRL-array was quantified by the freely available GimpShop software (see Material and Methods). Histogram represents the FISH intensity calculated for the cell population depicted in (A), following E2 stimulation and presenting a visible array. Error bars represent SD (**, P<0.01).



GFP-SRC-3 A1-6

Figure 31. HTM quantification of PRL-array size upon GFP-SRC-3-targeting. PRL-HeLa cell population described in figure 30 was also scanned by HTM and the PRL-array size was determined by Cytoshop algorithms (as previously described in Chapter 1 and in Material and Methods). Size values, obtained for PRL-HeLa cells expressing either GFP-SRC-3 (wt) or GFP-SRC-3 A1-6 together with HcRed-ER, in the presence of E2, are graphed and show the mean array area in pixels (n cells > 50). Error bars represent SE (**, P<0.01). Representative cell galleries are also shown for comparison. PRL-array is identified through the localization of GFP-SRC-3 or GFP-SRC-3 A1-6, and masked in red. Note the visible reduction in the PRL-array area when the GFP-SRC-3 A1-6 mutant targets the array.

SRC-3 Shuttles Between Nucleus and Cytoplasm Affecting Estrogen Receptor Translocation into the Nucleus

The ability of coactivators to regulate gene expression is not only dependent upon their dynamics within the nucleus, but also upon their general cellular compartmentalization. This important concept points to the supposition that coactivators can move between different compartments to gain access to transcriptional sites, interacting with transcriptional factors, and deeply impacts the understanding of coactivators mechanism of action.

In order to first determine whether a fraction of SRC-3 shuttles between nucleus and cytoplasm, we used an indirect approach by incubating cells with a specific inhibitor of nuclear export, leptomycin B (380), and then analyzing the effect of the drug on nuclear compartmentalization of SRC-3. For these experiments we used T47D cells, which express endogenous SRC-3, showing a slightly lower FLIN value (87%) (*Fig.32* left panel) than HeLa cells (see *Fig.18B*). We exploited this difference and used HTM to assess the response to inhibition of nuclear export. When T47D cells were cultured in hormone-free medium for 48 hours and then incubated with leptomycin B for 4 hours, FLIN levels increased to 97% (*Fig.32* right panel), suggesting that the small pool of cytoplasmic SRC-3 is in part the result of active nuclear export.

This observation suggests the idea that, if SRC-3 is able to shuttle from the nucleus to cytoplasm, a dynamic situation could exist during which the coactivator transiently interacts with cytoplasmic proteins. If this hypothesis is true, and the interaction between SRC-3 and its cytoplasmic partner is strong enough, then SRC-3 may be able to return to the nucleus with its associated protein. To verify this hypothesis, an GFP-ER α mutant, referred as ER(Δ NLS) and lacking amino acids 250 to 303 (151), which encompasses the ER nuclear localization signal (NLS), was used in cotransfection assay with Flag-SRC-3. Once transfected with SRC-3, ER(Δ NLS) appeared to be cytoplasmic in the absence of hormone E2 (*Fig.33A*), with a calculated average FLIN value of about 0.46 (*Fig.33B*). However, upon administration of E2, the receptor was shifted in the nucleus (FLIN value of

~ 0.95) (*Fig.33A* and *Fig.33B*). Therefore, in the presence of E2, ER(Δ NLS) may be transported in the nucleus by a "piggyback" mechanism involving the cytoplasmic fraction SRC-3. Consequently, a Flag-SRC-3 mutant, referred as SRC-3(Δ NES), that lacks amino acid 1031 to 1130, encompassing the nuclear exporting sequence (NES), failed to carry ER Δ (NLS) in the nucleus also in the presence of E2 (FLIN value of ~ 0.58) (*Fig.33A* and *Fig.33B*).

Taken together, these results indicate that SRC-3 location reflects a dynamic state in which the coactivator continuously crosses the nuclear membrane, interacts with cytoplasmic estrogen receptors, and potentially helps them to shuttle into the nucleus.



Figure 32. SRC-3 shuttles from nucleus to cytoplasm. T47D cells were cultured for 48 hours in hormonefree medium and the incubated with leptomycin B (40nM) or vehicle for 4 hours. Cell were fixed, immunolabeled for endogenous SRC-3, and then analyzed by HTM. FLIN values were quantified and the corresponding fill-area graphs are plotted. The average FLIN values are also indicated in addition to the number of cells analyzed. Note the shift of the graph in the presence of leptomycin B, which is indicative of an increased nuclear localization of SRC-3.


Figure 33. Hormone-dependent interaction between SRC-3 and ER(Δ NLS) results in the cotransportation of coactivator/receptor into the nucleus. (A) GFP-ER(Δ NLS) mutant was cotransfected with empty Flag-vector, Flag-SRC-3 wild type, or the Flag-SRC-3(Δ NES) mutant. 48 hours after transfection, cells were incubated with E2 (10nM), or vehicle, for 8 hours in presence of cycloheximide (50µg/ml). Then cells were fixed, and immunolabeled with anti-Flag antibodies. A Z-series of focal planes was digitally imaged and deconvolved with the DeltaVision algorithm. DAPI staining delineates the nuclei. Note that E2-induced the shift of ER(Δ NLS) in the nucleus do not occurs when coexpressed with SRC-3(Δ NES). (B) Automated quantification of ER(Δ NLS) subcellular localization using high resolution HTM. The histograms show the average FLIN values obtained for ER(Δ NLS) (n cells > 100). Error bars represent SE (**, P<0.01).

DISCUSSION

CHAPTER 1:

HTM Analysis of ER α Transcriptional Activity and Chromatin Remodeling

We have described the use of a chromosome-integrated reporter gene array (PRL-array) in HeLa cells (PRL-HeLa). These genomic integrations derive from the enhancer-promoter region of the prolactin gene and contain multicopy hormone response-binding elements for the estrogen receptor alpha (ER α). PRL-array can be visualized by the accumulation of GFP-tagged ER α and colocalization of fluorescently immunolabeled p160 family coregulators, and RNA Polymerase II. This colocalization appears typically ligand-dependent.

In our experiments, we investigated chromatin remodeling at the PRL-array and the transcriptional activation of the reporter gene in response to treatments of PRL-HeLa cells with agonist or antagonist or ER α . We were able to observe remarkable differences is the array size (closing and opening), when it was targeted by GFP-ER ER α , and we interpret these changes as a reflection of alteration in the large-scale chromatin state (chromatin remodeling). The chromatin remodeling that we observed at the PRL-array, in response to agonist (E2) treatment, correlates well with colocalization of coactivators and RNA Polymerase II, and with the transcriptional readout of the reporter gene, detected by mRNA FISH. The rapid loss of these factors from the array in response to antagonists (4HT or ICI) is consistent with striking reduction in the array size and undetectable levels of FISH signal. It follows that PRL-array size is an indicator of ER transcriptional activity in response to ligand. Moreover, we demonstrated PRL-array to be a physiologically relevant construct for visualizing gene transcription, chromatin remodeling, DNA targeting, and coregulator recruitment. For these reasons, we think that PRL-HeLa cell line described here would be an extremely useful model system for the single-cell analysis of multiple events associated with transcriptional activation, or repression, directed by the estrogen receptor and associated coregulators.

Importantly, we also detailed the realization of high throughput microscopy (HTM) as a valid method to quantify ER functionality at the PRL-array. HTM combines automated image acquisition of thousands of cells to computational high-resolution analysis of diverse cellular parameters, achieved through specialized algorithms constrained to the software. Cells are identified basing on DAPI staining and examined for morphology, protein expression and localization.

In this study, HTM has been successfully demonstrated to be an extremely useful implement to quantitatively measure the variation of the PRL-array size upon ligand treatment. Moreover, HTM allows the simultaneous study of numerous aspects of transcriptional regulation, including protein subcellular localization, nuclear translocation, and proteins colocalization.

CHAPTER 2:

Regulation of SRC-3 Cellular Localization and Dynamics by Phosphorylation and ER α Interaction

During last decade, an extensive amount of work has been directed toward the understanding of how posttranscriptional modification (PTM) of coregulators could influence expression of genes. In fact, PTM represents the major conduit for coregulatormediated regulation of transcription, through the ability to guide a variety of transcriptional factors with which the coregulator interacts, because the role of coregulators is to assemble the multiple complexes of the transcriptional apparatus. The important idea is that DNA, chromatin proteins, transcriptional factors, coregulators, RNA holoenzyme, and signaling enzymes all communicate with each other through the reversible network of epigenetic modifications. In this way, coregulators can be "differentially coded" by PTMs and, acting both as targets and as propagators of PTMs, allow the extremely broad degree of combinatorial control of gene transcription existing. Biological decision can be implemented in very fine proportion due to the great combinatorial possibilities inherent in the "PTM coregulator code".

It is estimated that about 25,000 human genes exist, differential splicing of which yields more than 125,000 different coding transcripts and potential proteins. When we consider that about 300 coregulators exist, and we suppose that, in any single coregulator, approximately eight PTMs of six different chemical types can occur, and we also consider that at least six different coregulators are contained within one transcriptional complex, then the potential combinations of combinatorial control employed could be terrifically high. In addition, an important concept, that is increasingly emerging, is that coregulators also control a variety of biological processes outside the nucleus. This underlines the extraordinary complexity of physiological, developmental, and evolutional program of mammalian phenotype.

According to laws of chemical equilibrium, coregulator control of transcriptional is dictated by molecular interaction and specific affinity with functional partners, as well as by the local concentration of these two interactants in the cell. SRC-3 provides a good example of how PTM of a coregulator contributes to the biological complexity, by signal integration and propagation of transcriptional program (6). SRC-3 specific phosphorylation at multiple residues by diverse kinases ultimately results in the recruitment of coactivator-associated proteins, including CBP, p300, CARM1, which leads to the selective engagement of distinct transcriptional factors, such as nuclear receptors, NF- κ B, STAT, or E2F1.

In our study, we have shown that SRC-3 is capable of trafficking from the nucleus to the cytoplasm at a steady state and without any stimuli, and that this property confers SRC-3 the capability to interact with cytoplasmic partners (i.e. cytoplasmic pool of ER α). Phosphorylation plays a role in the cellular location and functionality of SRC-3. Indeed, we found that EGF modulates the SRC-3 "phosphocode" at specific threonine/serine residues and consequently enhances its nuclear localization and interaction with nuclear receptors (i.e. ER α). Finally, we have established that SRC-3 phosphorylation is not only important for colocalization with ER in the nucleus, but also for functional ER/SRC-3 complex formation and transcriptional activation of a model promoter (PRL-array).

- 113 -

SRC-3 phosphorylation can be integrated in a comprehensive cellular network (*Fig.34*) where it coordinates coactivation function of ER, influencing functional localization of the receptor, and promoter occupancy.

SRC-3 subcellular localization.

Making extensive use of high-resolution microscopy and HTM, we established that SRC-3 is primarily a nuclear protein. Only a small amount of protein was detected in the cytoplasm (on average, about the 4% of total cellular pool), which is in fact in accordance with the presence of a nuclear localization signal (150,381). Our findings are also consistent with various immunohistochemical observations (64,155,382) and with the its well established role as coactivator of NRs (111).

However, using a biochemical approach, other groups reported SRC-3 to be mainly localized in the cytoplasm (43,150). We could explained this discrepancy as a result of condition-dependent SRC-3 extractability, by the observation that >50% of nuclear proteins are lost from the nucleus within 10 min of cell disruption (383), a phenomenon that has also been observed for some steroid receptors (384,385). Nevertheless, some reports indicate the presence of SRC-3 in the cytoplasm directly in tissue sections (150,155,160). To reconcile these observations, we should consider several issues. First, SRC-3 can shuttle between the nucleus and the cytoplasm over the course of an hour. Furthermore, Kuang and colleagues (160) examined the subcellular localizations of SRC-3 in the mammary gland and suggested that cellular concentrations and the subcellular localization of the coactivator in this organ are both developmental-dependent and malignant state specific. In line with these findings, using breast epithelium of transgenic mouse model, Avivar et al. have shown that SRC-3 is cytoplasmic in non proliferative cells whereas nuclear in dividing cells (386). In addition, by comparing the expression of SRC-3 in normal and malignant breast tissue, List and colleagues found that there is an increased nuclear retention, with concomitant decrease of cytoplasmic SRC-3, as normal epithelium progresses to a more tumorigenic phenotype (155).

The differential localization of SRC-3 is of interest, since changes in subcellular

compartmentalization have also been described for other transcription or replication factors relevant to breast cancer, such as BRCA1 and p53 (387,388). SRC-3 contains both a NLS and a NES (150,381), and developmental or oncogenic functions of SRC-3 might be activated or repressed by cellular events favoring one of these two types of signal pathways: nuclear import or nuclear export. Our results, showing the effect of a MEK1/2 inhibitor (U0126) on SRC-3 subcellular localization, strongly suggests that activation of cytoplasmic kinases such as ERK1/2, perhaps through membrane-initiated pathways, could be a key to modulating the cellular location of SRC-3 and its function in the nucleus of normal versus malignant cells.

Physiological relevance of SRC-3 nuclear-cytoplasmic shuttling.

The nucleocytoplasmic shuttling properties of proteins have been ascribed to many nuclear receptors (389,390). These proteins have almost exclusively nuclear functions and, therefore, it has been difficult to explain the physiological relevance of the phenomenon. In contrast, our observations about SRC-3 subcellular localization appear to be critical for a better understanding of the biological function of this transcriptional coactivator.

An increasing number of observations reveal that SRC-3/AIB1 has a role in extranuclear events or is modified in the cytoplasmic compartments (39,43,392). For example, in a recent study, SRC-3 has been shown to play an unexpected role in repression of mRNA cytokine production at the translational level (174). This translational repression is dependent on the cytoplasmic association of SRC-3 with known translational repressors TIA-1 (T cell intracellular antigen 1) and TIA-1-related protein. It has also been shown that SRC-3 is involved in ovary cell migration and promotes metastasis in breast tumor cells, perhaps by assisting proper localization of FAK (focal adhesion kinase) to cellular extensions and membrane protrusions (392). These observations may imply that, at some point, a fraction of the coactivator has to be cytoplasmic to achieve these functions. Furthermore, nucleocytoplasmic shuttling properties may also provide a nexus for crosstalk between SRC-3 and cytoplasmic kinase pathways. Indeed, Wu et al. and Wang et al. have independently shown that SRC-3 interacts with three members of the lkB

kinase complex (IKK) (39,393). Two of these kinases (IKK α and NEMO) have been to shown be exclusively localized in the cytoplasm (394,395), implying that a fraction of the coactivator is necessarily cytoplasmic.

Finally, nucleocytoplasmic shuttling capabilities of SRC-3 might also serve as a regulatory process for the cell to modulate SRC-3 transcriptional function. For example, SRC-3 may be associated with different proteins at the steady-state level depending on its localization. Consequently, this phenomenon might lead to a compartment-specific activity of the coactivator as it has been reported that SRC-3 HAT activity was very robust when nuclear, but is dramatically decreased when it is cytoplasmic (141).

Our observations suggest that SRC-3 has a nuclear coactivation role as a main function, but may also have biological function in the cytoplasm. Concerning to this hypothesis, SRC-3 nuclear function can be regulated by membrane-initiated pathways and posttranslational modification occurring in the cytoplasm (e.g. phosphorylation). In the same way, SRC-3 cytoplasmic function can be regulated by posttranslational modification and/or interaction with specifically cytoplasmic localized protein (e.g. cytoplasmic ERs). We observed that the small pool of cytoplasmic SRC-3 is in part the result of active nuclear export, whereas phosphorylation increases its nuclear retention. Consequently, we suggest a dynamic state in which the coactivator continuously crosses the nuclear membrane, interacts with cytoplasmic localized ER α , and eventually, if the interaction between SRC-3 and its cytoplasmic partner is strong enough, SRC-3 may be able to return to the nucleus with its associated protein.

Cellular compartmentalization of SRC-3 is regulated by phosphorylation through the ERK1/2 signaling pathway.

Previous studies have shown that the phosphorylation of SRC-3 is important for its coactivation function and that this phosphorylation can be mediated by ERK1/2 (p44/p42) *in vitro* (39,40). We demonstrated that ERK1/2 kinases regulate the cellular localization of SRC-3 at several levels: nuclear retention, subnuclear speckling and promoter occupancy. Consistent with these findings, we found that a SRC-3 mutant, with alanine substitutions at

six previously identified phosphorylation site (T^{24} , S^{505} , S^{543} , S^{857} , S^{860} , S^{867}), showed a greatly enhanced tendency to localize in cytoplasm. Our data suggest not only that phosphorylation regulates SRC-3 localization but also that the main phosphorylation sites involved are situated within these six mutated sites.

ERK1/2 are the terminal effectors of the classical mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade, which consists of signal transduction from the MAPKKKs (A-, B-, and C-Raf) to MAPKKs (MEK1/2), and finally to the MAPKs (ERK1/2). ERK1 and ERK2 have 83% of amino acid identity and are variably expressed in all tissues (reviewed in ref. 396). They are strongly activated by growth factors, like EGF (397). Indeed, in our studies, we shown that the EGF-stimulated phosphorylation of SRC-3, at threonine 24, serine 857 and serine 860, increased its nuclear localization. Interestingly, threonine 24 is located within the NLS of SRC-3 (residues 16 to 38) (381) and is also conserved in the NLS of SRC-1, which also can shuttle between the nucleus and cytoplasm (398). Accordingly, through the use of MEK specific inhibitor U0126, which is a noncompetitive inhibitor of MEK-dependent ERK phosphorylation (376), we identified serine 857 and serine 860 as potentially distinct targets of ERK1/2. HTM was use to quantify the redistribution of the coactivator in response to U0126 through determination of the FLIN value. Exposure to U0126 resulted in a partial redistribution of SRC-3 to the cytoplasm (FLIN value of ~ 0.87), while in the same experiment, FLIN value for SRC-1 did not significantly change (FLIN value of ~ 0.98), meaning that the effect of the inhibitor is specific to SRC-3. Interestingly, when serine 857 and serine 860 were in combination, but not independently, mutate to alanine in a GFP-tagged SRC-3, the coactivator partially localized in the cytoplasm (FLIN value of ~ 0.87). Finally, we confirmed the specificity of ERK1/2 pathway to induce nuclear localization of SRC-3 (but not SRC-1) using ERKs-directed RNAi and quantifying the cellular distribution of SRC-3 through HTM analysis.

We cannot exclude the possibility that other kinases may also be involved in SRC-3

subcellular localization. The inhibitory effect of U0126 starts to be observed at a low concentration (~15 μ M); higher concentrations (100 μ M) increase cytoplasmic localization of SRC-3, but other kinases could be inhibited at this level of inhibitor (376,399), further reducing SRC-3 phosphorylation. However, we shown that the specific inhibition of ERK1/2 by RNAi visibly increased the cytoplasmic localization of SRC-3.

Importantly, U0126 leads also to a marked reduction in the colocalization complexes between ER α and SRC-3 under E2 stimulation, measured at the level of nuclear speckles formation. The same result is obtained when the SRC-3 non-phosphorylatable is used. As expected, coimmunoprecipitation assay confirmed that the two proteins could physically interact. These data suggest a role for phosphorylation in nuclear organization of SRC-3 and transient interaction with hormone-bound NR.

Finally, to complete our understanding of the phosphorylation state of SRC-3 in terms of functional complexes with NR, we used a transcriptional model (PRL-array), based on the prolactin promoter/enhancer region, to visualize and quantify the transcriptional activation based upon ER α stimulation. In this way, we demonstrated that phosphorylation is a key post-translational event, not only for regulating interactions between SRC-3 and other coactivators, nuclear targeting, and subnuclear colocalization with ER, but also for stabilize the interaction with ER at the promoter level.

These findings offer new information for the understanding of SRC-3 function in the cellular context. At one level, the distinct spatiotemporal phosphorylation of SRC-3 causes its nuclear localization, shifting the equilibrium of molecular probabilistic interactions towards transiently stable, and functional, complexes formation at the promoter level. Alternatively, dephosphorylation of SRC-3 leads to the dissociation of functional complexes and the return of coactivator and receptor to the cellular pool (*Fig.34*).

- 118 -

ERK signaling pathway and SRC-3 links to cancer.

It is interesting to consider our observations in the light of compelling evidence implicating SRC-3 as a causal factor in the genesis of human cancers. The role of SRC-3 phosphorylation in oncogenic stimulation was established by Wu et al. (39), who studied the oncogenic potential of SRC-3 and found that wild-type SRC-3 collaborated with Ras to transform SRC-3^{-/-} MEFs, whereas non-phosphorylatable SRC-3 mutants caused only minimal transformation. Thus, it is plausible that, in normal tissues, a basal constant stimulation of SRC-3 leads to a neoplastic phenotype as a consequence of disregulation at any one of the multiple regulatory steps involved in its cellular compartmentalization or interaction with NRs. For example, both normal mammary development and breast cancer growth are under the influence of ER, which regulates cell proliferation (400). In addition to estrogens, many growth factors, like EGF, may also play an important role in regulating the growth of breast cancer cells by autocrine, paracrine, or endocrine mechanisms (401,402). As breast cancer cells have membrane receptors for the several growth factors they secrete, it has been proposed these growth factors activate the ERK signaling pathway (403). ERK1/2 activation, in turn, may induce SRC-3 phosphorylation, its retention in the nucleus and stimulation of ER activity (40,391). Interestingly, a clinical study of breast cancer patients showed that SRC-3 and HER2/neu (EGF receptor family member) expression levels are closely associated with worse prognosis, suggesting that a critical link between HER2/neu and SRC-3 might exist in breast cancer (141). Our current study further supports this notion by suggesting that constitutively active HER2 signaling (and hence ERK1/2 activation) would result in the increased phosphorylation of SRC-3 and its consequent prolonged nuclear residing time and longer coactivation of partner NRs.



Figure 34. Phosphorylation regulates the equilibrium of SRC-3 subcellular location and functionality. The majority of SRC-3 is resident in the nucleus, but both cytoplasmic and nuclear pool are dynamic and in a finely regulated equilibrium. SRC-3 possesses an NLS and an NES that guide its nuclear import and export, respectively. External stimuli activate the cytoplasmic ERK1/2 signaling pathway, which in turn enhances SRC-3 phosphorylation and results in an increased nuclear localization. In the nucleus, phosphorylated SRC-3 has high-affinity interaction with ER α , and other coregulators (e.g. CBP, p300, CARM1). These interactions lead to the formation of transiently associated protein complexes, which are generally not associated with transcription sites. When functionally bound to target DNA, ER α can specifically interacts with phosphorylated SRC-3, and recruits other member of the chromatin remodeling machinery to initiate transcriptional activation. Phosphorylation drives these equilibria and increases the probability of forming functional complexes. In the context of SRC-3 life cycle phosphorylation is critical for nuclear interaction and ER α -regulated gene expression. Moreover, the minor pool of cellular SRC-3 that shuttle from the nucleus to the cytoplasm, beside other functions, can eventually operate as cotransporter to the nucleus for the cytoplasmic localized ER α .

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Plasmid

The expression plasmid pCMV-Flag-SRC-3 was generated as described previously (39,271). pCMV-Flag-SRC3(Δ NES) code for a mutant lacking 1031 to 1130 and was generated by PCR. The expression plasmids for GFP-SRC-3, and HA-SRC-3 were generated by inserting SRC-3 fragment from pCMV-Flag-SRC-3 (43) into pEGFP-C3 and pTRE2hyg2-HA vectors, respectively (CLONTECH Laboratories, Inc). The 6 constructs GFP-SRC-3(A1) to (A6) (Individual alanine mutation of the 6 identified SRC-3 Phosphorylation Sites (39), as well as the GFP-SRC3(A1-6) construct (expression plasmid in which all six identified phosphorylation sites have been mutated to alanine (271), and the were generated by subcloning SRC-3(A4-5) fragment from pCMV-Flag-SRC3(A1-6) into pEGFP-C3. The expression plasmids GFP-ER and GFP-SRC-1 were made as described previously (17). GFP-ER(Δ NLS) have been already described (271). GFP-ER-S118A was generated by inserting ER(S118A) fragment from pCMV5-ER(S118A) (404) into pEGFP-C3.

Hormone and Inhibitors

In all experiments, estradiol (E2) was added to a final concentration of 10^{-8} M. Stock solutions of U0126 MEK kinase inhibitor (Promega) were made in DMSO (10mM), stored at -20°C, and used within 7 days. Where indicated, transfected cells were first pre-treated with 45 μ M U0126 for 1-3 hours and then throughout the duration of the experiment. EGF (Invitrogen) was dissolved in ethanol and used at 100 ng/ml. Leptomycin B (Sigma) was used at 40 nM, a concentration efficient to inhibit nuclear export of a NES-containing protein (405).

Cell Cultures

Grow cells in the appropriate growth media and serum (usually 5% fetal bovine serum) to 90-95% confluency. Refresh the growth media one day prior to sub-culturing the cells onto cover slips or well plates following standard trypsin digestion protocols. For NR experiments, the sub-cultured cells are grown in media that contains stripped and dialyzed serum that lacks hormones that can obfuscate results. The appropriate seeding density is dependent on many factors and must be empirically determined for each experiment. The cells are grown for 24-48 hours on the cover glass until ligand treatment or transfection of expression vectors. For routine culture, cells were maintained in complete Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) containing 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS). For transfection experiment, cells were plated one day before in DMEM medium w/o red phenol (Invitrogen) containing 5% dextran charcoal-stripped-dialyzed (FBS).

Generation of Stable Cell Lines

HeLa tet-off cell line expressing HA-SRC-3 were generated by transfecting a Hela tet-off cell line (CLONTECH Laboratories, Inc) with the expression vector pTRE2hyg2-HA-SRC-3. Stable transformants were selected in Hygromycin (200 µg/ml) and Neomycin (100 µg/ml) and resistant clones were screened for expression of SRC-3 by Western Blotting. The Production of the PRL array-HeLa cell line was performed as described for a similar cell line (20). Briefly, to establish a stable line bearing a chromosomally integrated array of p52X-PRL-DS-Red2-SKL plasmid, HeLa cells were plated in a 100 mm dish to a density of ~60% confluency in OptiMEM medium supplemented with 4% FBS. The cells were co-transfected with p52X-PRL-DS-Red2-SKL and pTK-Hygro (Clontech) at a 100:1 ratio, using a three-fold excess (by volume) of Fugene6 (Roche) reagent to DNA. After ~18 hours incubation with the DNA-lipid mixture, the cells were rinsed, detached, and split into ten 100-mm dishes. From this point, the cells were selected in OptiMEM supplemented with 4% FBS plus 400 µg/ml hygromycin. Approximately 100 colonies were picked and expanded directly into 24-well dishes, and then into a 35-mm dish containing a 12-mm diameter coverslip. To assess integration of p52X-PRL-dsRED2-SKL, coverslips were transiently co-transfected with GFP-ER and GFP-Pit-1 (both were tagged with GFP to maximize the fluorescent signal) and examined microscopically. A substantial percentage of dsRED2-SKL-positive cells with low diffuse levels of GFP signal in the nucleus had a single (sometimes two) bright intranuclear focus of fluorescence. These data suggested ER and/or Pit-1 interactions with an integrated 52XPRL array (presumably multicopy), and provided encouragement for the next step designed to separate cells based on reporter expression. To this end, we expanded several heterogeneous colonies of 52X-PRL HeLa cells. The clone [HeLa/52X-DM66-Red2-PTS #19] shown in this study was one of them and was named "PRL-HeLa clone 19". Note that, in contrast to the previously desdcribed [HeLa/52X-DM66-Red2-PTS #23], the clone 19 used in this study was purified from a second generation clonal cell line and showed much less basal activation in absence of hormone.

Immunoprecipitation and Western Blotting Analysis

MCF-7 or HEK293 cells were lysed in lysis buffer (20 mM Tris-HCI [pH 8.0], 125 mM NaCl, 0.5% NP-40, 2 mM EDTA, 0.2 mM NaF, 0.2 mM Na3VO4, protease inhibitor cocktail) for 15 min and the debris was cleared by centrifugation at 13,400 x g for 15 min at 4°C. Lysates were incubated overnight (4°C) with the indicated antibodies [anti-ER clone 60C (Upstate Biotechnology), or anti-Flag M2 (Sigma)]. The antibody was allowed to bind to protein A/G beads (Santa Cruz Biotechnologies) for 30 min and then washed extensively with lysis buffer. For Western blot analysis, the samples were resolved by SDS PAGE and

transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad). The indicated antibodies were diluted in TBST buffer (5% non-fat dry milk, 50 mM Tris-HCl, 150 mM NaCl [pH 7.5], 0.1% Tween 20) and added to the membranes for 1 hour at room temperature (RT) or overnight at 4°C followed by incubation with the appropriate horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies for 30 minutes at RT (Sigma). All proteins were detected with ECL Plus Detection Reagents (Amersham) and visualized by chemiluminescence.

DNA Transfection

Perform transfections by standard calcium phosphate precipitation protocols or by commercially available lipid based transfection reagents following the manufacturer's protocol. If cells are not to be transfected then perform the ligand treatments and proceed to the fixation and immunolabeling protocol. Remove the media containing the transfection reagent and expression vector and replace with media containing the appropriate ligand and control treatments. In our experience, empirically evaluating a variety of transfection reagents and protocols is required for optimal results, which can be significantly cell line specific.

RNA-mediated interference

MAPK1 (p42/ERK2)and MAPK3 (p44/ERK1) siRNAs were purchased from from the Validated Stealth RNAi Collection (Invitrogen). Cells were seeded in free-hormone media 1 day before transfection at 60% confluence in a 6 well-plate format (for Western Blot) containing glass coverslips (for HTM analysis). One hundred pmol of RNAi per well were transfected with Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) following the manufacturer's instruction. Seventy-two hours after transfection, coverslips were removed from the wells and proceed for immunochemistry, while remaining cells were collected in lysis buffer for Western Blot analysis.

Immunocytochemistry

Cells were grown on acid-etched and poly-D-lysine-coated glass coverslips (12 mm diameter). After the specified treatment, cells were removed from the incubator and immediately rinsed in ice-cold PBS, then fixed with a solution of 4% formaldehyde in PEM buffer (0.1 M PIPES, 2 mM EGTA, 3 mM MgCl2) and permeabilized in 0.5% Triton X-100 (in PEM, 30 min), then washed and quenched in sodium borohydride (0.5 mg/ml, 10 min in PEM). The cells were then washed and incubated for 1 hour (RT) in 5% non-fat dry milk in TBST (0.1M Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 0.15 M NaCl, 0.1% v/v Tween-20) before incubation overnight with primary antibody (at 4°C) and subsequently with fluorophores conjugated to appropriate secondary antibodies (goat anti-mouse Alexa 555, Molecular Probes). The primary antibodies used were: anti-HA (Clone 3F10) (200 ng/ml), anti-RC-1 (1 μ g/ml), and anti-AlB1/SRC-3 (0.5 μ g/ml) obtained from Roche Molecular Biochemicals, Upstate Biotechnology and BD Biosciences, respectively. After first and secondary antibody labeling, cells were post-fixed and quenched (as above), counter-stained with DAPI (0.5 mg/ml, ~1min), rinsed quickly in water, and then mounted on slides (ProLong Gold, Molecular Probes).

High Throughput Microscopy (HTM)

Cells were imaged using the Cell Lab IC 100 Image Cytometer from Beckman Coulter, Inc with a Nikon 40X Plan S fluor 0.90 NA objective except for the experiment described in Figure 25,2 6, and 37, where a Nikon 63X Plan Apo 1.20 NA objective was used. Three channels were imaged: channel (DAPI) was used to find the focus and nuclei; channel 1, for imaging GFP-SRC-3, GFP-SRC-3(A1-6), GFP-SRC-3(A4-5), GFP-ER and GFP-ERS118A, channel 2 for imaging endogenous SRC-3, SRC-1, or HcRed-ER. A Correlated

Channel Segmentation Algorithm was used to identify and quantify the localization and level of fluorescence of SRC-3/ER in the nucleus and the cytoplasm. After image acquisition and application of the Correlated Channel Segmentation algorithm, the total cell populations for each treatment were progressively filtered (gated) using the following criteria: non-transfected cells, nuclei clusters, mitotic cells, and apoptotic cells were filtered out from the total cell population using an intersection of DNA content gate, DNA clusters gate, and "keep 2 channels" gate. Filtration of low level expression of GFP-SRC-3 gates was generated as described in reference and applied to produce the final cell population to be analyzed. The images and masks were visually inspected for accuracy.

Fluorescence Deconvolution Microscopy and Quantitative Colocalization

Deconvolution microscopy was performed with a Zeiss AxioVert S100 TV microscope and a DeltaVison Restoration Microscopy System (Applied Precision, Inc.). Cells were imaged using either the 63X lens (both 1.40 NA). A Z-series of focal planes were digitally imaged and deconvolved with the DeltaVision constrained iterative algorithm to generate highresolution images.

Quantitative colocalization analysis (figure 29) were done with the Colocalizer Pro Software, using the Pearson's correlation coefficient (Rr). The estimation of Rr is one of the standard techniques applied for matching one image to another in order to describe the degree of overlap between the two patterns. The Rr coefficient accounts only for the similarity of shapes between the two images, and does not depend upon image pixel intensity values. Briefly, 10 images in each condition were acquired and analyzed by deconvolution microscopy. The Rr coefficient was calculated for each array transgene in each image and the average calculated values for each condition were ploted on the histogram.

Fluorescent In Situ Hybridization (FISH)

The methods used here, including procedures for non-isotopic probe preparation and fluorescent in situ hybridization, have been already published in numerous publication. Briefly, coverslips with adherent cells were rinsed twice in PBS, dipped in cytoskeleton (CSK) buffer (100 mM NaCl, 300 mM sucrose, 3 mM MgCl2, 10 mM PIPES, pH 6.8) (406) extracted on ice for 5 minutes in CSK buffer containing 0.5% Triton X-100 and 2 mM vanadyl-ribonucleoside complex (VRC; Gibco-BRL), rinsed in CSK/VRC, fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde/PBS for 10 minutes, rinsed again in PBS and stored in 0.4% paraformaldehyde at 4°C until use. Hybridization to RNA was carried out at 37°C in standard buffers containing 5 µg/ml probe and 50% formamide overnight. After incubation, samples were rinsed in a series of SSC buffers, detected for biotin using streptavidin, Alexa Fluor 594 conjugate (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) and rinsed in a series of PBS washes. Intensity of FISH signal at the PRL-promoter by the use of the free available software GimpShop.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was conducted at the Baylor College of Medicine in Houston (TX) under the supervision of prof. Michael A. Mancini, which I gratefully acknowledge for the didactic guide and friendship. I especially want to thank Larbi Amazit, for the important instructive and educational support, for all the encouragement, and the sincere feeling of reciprocal affection. I greatly thank my Italian tutors, prof. Giuliano Della Valle and prof. Marialuisa Melli, which allowed me to achieve this study in the U.S.A. that has been essential to complete my PhD program. For this reason I also thank La Fondazione Marco Polo for the initial financial support.

I also thank J. Zhong, K. M. Antalis, D. Townley, and M.G.Mancini for excellent technical contribution, friendship, and personal help.

This work was funded by DK-55622 (M.Mielke), Cain Cancer 1080001204 (B.W.O'Malley), HD08818 (B.W.O'Malley), and DK61589 (M.G.Mancini). The Integrated Microscopy Core used throughout this study was supported in part by U54 HDFIG 96008 (B. W. O'Malley) and P01 CA-06425 (D. Medina) and the Dan L. Duncan Cancer Center of Baylor College of Medicine.

The majority of the work presented in this thesis has been published on M.C.B. Oct.2007, p.6913-69-32 (Amazit *et al.*).

REFERENCES

- N. J. McKenna and B. W. O'Malley. Combinatorial Control of Gene Expression by Nuclear Receptors and Coregulators. Cell (2002).
- D. J. Mangelsdorf, C. Thummel, M. Beato, P. Herrlich, G. Schu tz, K. Umesono, B. Blumberg, P. Kastner, M. Mark, P. Chambon, and R. M. Evans. The nuclear receptor superfamily: The second decade. Cell (1995).
- 3. Tsai, M. J., and B. W. O'Malley. Molecular mechanisms of action of steroid/thyroid receptor superfamily members. Annu Rev Biochem (1994).
- Horwitz, K. B., T. A. Jackson, D. L. Bain, J. K. Richer, G. S. Takimoto, and L. Tung. Nuclear receptor coactivators and corepressors. Mol Endocrinol (1996).
- Hermanson, O., C. K. Glass, and M. G. Rosenfeld. Nuclear receptor coregulators: multiple modes of modification. Trends Endocrinol Metab (2002).
- Lonard, D. M., and B. W. O'Malley. The expanding cosmos of nuclear receptor coactivators. Cell (2006).
- 7. B. W. O'Malley. Coregulators: from whence came these "master genes". Mol. Endo. (2007).
- 8. C. M. Klinge. Estrogen receptor interaction with co-activators and co-repressors. Steroids (2000).
- D. P. Edwards. The Role of Coactivators and Corepressors in the Biology and Mechanism of Action of Steroid Hormone Receptors. Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia (2000).
- 10. L. P. Freedman. Anatomy of the steroid receptor zinc finger region. Endocrine Rev. (1992).
- J. Zilliacus, P. H. Wright, J. Carlstedt-Duke, and J-A Gustafsson. Structural determinants of DNA-binding specificity by steroid receptors. Mol. Endocrinol (1995).
- J.-M. Wurtz, W. Bourguet, J.-P. Renaud, V. Vivat, P. Cham-bon, D. Moras, and H. Gronemeyer (1996). A canonical structure for the ligand-binding domain of nuclear receptors. Nature Structural Biol. (1996).
- 13. W. B. Pratt and D. O. Toft. Steroid receptor interactions with heat shock protein and immunophilin chaperones. Endocrine Rev. (1997).
- 14. C. K. Glass. Differential recognition of target genes by nuclear receptor

monomers, dimers, and heterodimers. Endocrine Rev. (1994).

- P. S. Danielian, R. White, A. Lees, and M. G. Parker. Identification of a conserved region required for hormone dependent transcriptional activation by steroid hormone receptors. EMBO J. (1992).
- 16. M. G. Parker. Structure and function of estrogen receptors. Vitamins Horm. (1995).
- D.L. Stenoien, M.G. Mancini, K. Patel, E.A. Allegretto, C.L. Smith, and M. A. Mancini. Subnuclear trafficking of estrogen receptor-alpha and steroid receptor coactivator-1. Mol Endocrinol (2000).
- D.L. Stenoien, A. C. Nye, M. G. Mancini, K. Patel, M. Dutertre, B. W. O'Malley, C. L. Smith, A. S. Belmont, and M. A. Mancini. Ligand-mediated assembly and real-time cellular dynamics of estrogen receptor alpha coactivator complexes in living cells. Mol Cell Biol (2001).
- D.L. Stenoien, K. Patel, M. G. Mancini, M. Dutertre, C. L. Smith, B. W. O'Malley, and M. A. Mancini. FRAP reveals that mobility of oestrogen receptor-alpha is ligand- and proteasome-dependent. Nat Cell Biol (2001).
- Z.D. Sharp, M.G. Mancini, C.A. Hinojos, F. Dai, V. Berno, A.T. Szafran, K.P. Smith, T.P. Lele, D.E. Ingber, M.A. Mancini. Estrogen-receptor-alpha exchange and chromatin dynamics are ligand- and domain-dependent. J Cell Sci. (2006).
- K. Dahlman-Wright, A. Wright, J-A Gustafsson, J. Carlstedt-Duke. Interaction of the glucocorticoid receptor DNA-binding domain with DNA as a dimer is mediated by a short segment of five amino acids. J. Biol. Chem. (1991).
- L. Tora, J. White, C. Brou, D. Tasset, N. Webster, E. Scheer, and P. Chambon. The human estrogen receptor has two independent nonacidic transcriptional activation functions. Cell (1989).
- D. Metzger, S. Ali, J-M. Bornert, and P. Chambon. Characterization of the amino-terminal transcriptional activation function of the human estrogen receptor in animal and yeast cells. J. Biol. Chem. (1995).
- 24. M. Truss and M. Beato. Steroid hormone receptors: Interaction with deoxyribonucleic acid and transcription factors. Endocrin. Rev. (1993).
- 25. D. J. Mangelsdorf and R. M. Evans. The RXR heterodimers and orphan receptors. Cell (1995).
- 26. V. Gigue' re. Orphan nuclear receptors: From gene to function. Endocrine Rev. (1999).

- 27. Q. Zhao, S. Khorasanizadeh, Y. Miyoshi, M. A. Lazar, and F. Rastinejad. Structural elements of an orphan nuclear receptor-DNA complex. Mol. Cell (1998).
- J. Xu and Q. Li. Review of the in Vivo Functions of the p160 Steroid Receptor Coactivator Family. Mol. Endo. (2003).
- 29. Onate SA, Tsai SY, Tsai M-J, O'Malley BW. Sequence and characterization of a coactivator for the steroid hormone receptor superfamily. Science (1995).
- Takeshita A, Yen PM, Misiti S, Cardona GR, Liu Y, Chin WW. Molecular cloning and properties of a full-length putative thyroid hormone receptor coactivator. Endocrinol. (1996).
- 31. Xu J, O'Malley BW. Molecular mechanisms and cellular biology of the steroid receptor coactivator (SRC) family in steroid receptor function. Rev. Endocr. Metab. Disord. (2002).
- 32. Hager GL, Elbi C, Becker M. Protein dynamics in the nuclear compartment. Curr. Opin. Genet. 2002.
- 33. Xu, J, Qui, Y, DeMayo FJ, Tsai SY, Tsai M-J, and O'Malley BW. Disruption of the Steroid Receptor Coactivator 1 (SRC-1) Gene in Mice Results in A Syndrome of Partial Hormone Resistance. Science (1998).
- Xu, J, Liao L, Ning G, Yoshida-Komiya H, Deng C and O'Malley BW. The steroid receptor coactivator SRC-3 (p/CIP/RAC3/AIB1/ACTR/TRAM-1) is required for normal growth, puberty, reproductive function and mammary gland development. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. (2000).
- O'Malley BW. Molecular biology: Little molecules with big goals. Science (2006).
- Z, Puigserver P, Anderson U, Zhang C, Adelmant G, Mootha V, Troy A, Cinti S, Lowell b, Scarpulla RC, Spiegelman BM. Mechanisms of controlling mitochondrial biogenesis and respiration through the thermogenic coactivator PGC-1. Cell (1999).
- Feng, Q., P. Yi, J. Wong, and B. W. O'Malley. Signaling within a coactivator complex: methylation of SRC-3/AIB1 is a molecular switch for complex disassembly. Mol. Cell. Bio. (2006).
- Lonard, D. M., Z. Nawaz, C. L. Smith, and B. W. O'Malley. The 26S proteasome is required for estrogen receptor-alpha and coactivator turnover and for efficient estrogen receptor-alpha transactivation. Mol. Cell. (2000).
- 39. Wu, R. C., J. Qin, P. Yi, J. Wong, S. Y. Tsai, M. J. Tsai, and B. W. O'Malley. Selective phosphorylations of the SRC-3/AIB1 coactivator integrate genomic reponses to multiple

cellular signaling pathways. Mol. Cell. (2004).

- 40. Font de Mora, J., and M. Brown. 2000. AIB1 is a conduit for kinase-mediated growth factor signaling to the estrogen receptor. Mol. Cell. Biol. (2000).
- Gianni, M., E. Parrella, I. Raska, Jr., E. Gaillard, E. A. Nigro, C. Gaudon, E. Garattini, and C. Rochette-Egly. P38MAPK-dependent phosphorylation and degradation of SRC-3/AIB1 and RAR alpha-mediated transcription. Embo J. (2006).
- 42. Park, K. J., V. Krishnan, B. W. O'Malley, Y. Yamamoto, and R. B. Gaynor. Formation of an IKKalpha-dependent transcription complex
- 43. Wu, R. C., J. Qin, Y. Hashimoto, J. Wong, J. Xu, S. Y. Tsai, M. J. Tsai, and B.W. O'Malley. Regulation of SRC-3 (pCIP/ACTR/AIB-1/RAC-3/TRAM-1) Coactivator activity by I kappa B kinase. Mol. Cell. Biol. (2002).
- 44. Kim JH, Li H, Stallcup MR. CoCoA, a nuclear receptor coactivator which acts through an N-terminal activation domain of p160 coactivators. Mol. Cell. (2003).
- 45. Anderson P and Kedersha N. On again, off again: the SRC-3 transcriptional coactivator moonlights as a translational corepressor. Mol Cell. (2007).
- 46. Louet JF, Coste A, Amazit L, Tannour-Louet M, Wu RC, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, Auwerx J, O'Malley BW. Oncogenic steroid receptor coactivator-3 is a key regulator of the white adipogenic program. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A. (2006).
- Ashraf SI, Ip YT. Transcriptional control: repression by local chromatin modification. Curr. Biol. (1998).
- Jepsen, K., Hermanson, O., Onami, T.M., Gleiberman, A.S., Lunyak, McEvilly, R.J., Kurokawa, R., Kumar, V., Liu, F., Seto, E., et al. Combinatorial roles of the nuclear receptor corepressor in transcription and development. Cell (2000).
- 49. Lavinsky RM, Jepsen K, Heinzel T, Torchia J, Mullen TM, Schiff R, Del-Rio AL, Ricote M, Ngo S, Gemsch J, Hilsenbeck SG, Osborne CK, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG, Rose DW. Diverse signaling pathways modulate nuclear receptor recruitment of NCoR and SMRT complexes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (1998). 95:2920–2925.
- 50. TM, Schiff R, Del-Rio AL, Ricote M, Ngo S, Gemsch J, Hilsenbeck SG, Osborne CK, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG, Rose DW. Diverse signaling pathways modulate nuclear receptor recruitment of N-CoR and SMRT complexes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA (1998).
- 51. Horlein AJ, Naar AM, Heinzel T, Torchia J, Gloss B, Kurokawa R, Ryan A, Kamei Y, Soderstrom M, Glass CK, et al. Ligand-independent repression by the thyroid hormone receptor mediated by a nuclear receptor co-repressor. Nature (1995).

- 52. Hu X, Lazar MA. The CoRNR motif controls the recruitment of corepressors by nuclear hormone receptors. Nature (1999).
- 53. Heinzel T, Lavinsky RM, Mullen TM, Soderstrom M, Laherty CD, Torchia J, Yang WM, Brard G, Ngo SD, Davie JR, Seto E, Eisenman RN, Rose DW, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG. A complex containing N-CoR, mSin3 and histone deacetylase mediates transcriptional repression. Nature (1997).
- 54. Nagy L, Kao HY, Chakravarti D, Lin RJ, Hassig CA, Ayer DE, Schreiber SL, Evans RM. Nuclear receptor repression mediated by a complex containing SMRT, mSin3A, and histone deacetylase. Cell (1997).
- 55. Hong H, Kohli K, Trivedi A, Johnson DL, Stallcup MR . GRIP1, a novel mouse protein that serves as a transcriptional coactivator in yeast for the hormone binding domains of steroid receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (1996). 93:4948–4952.
- Voegel JJ, Heine MJ, Zechel C, Chambon P, Gronemeyer H. TIF2, a 160 kDa transcriptional mediator for the ligand-dependent activation function AF-2 of nuclear receptors. EMBO J .(1996). 15:3667–3675.
- 57. Anzick SL, Kononen J, Walker RL, Azorsa DO, Tanner MM, Guan XY, Sauter G, Kallioniemi OP, Trent JM, Meltzer PS. AIB1, a steroid receptor coactivator amplified in breast and ovarian cancer. Science (1997). 277:965–968.
- 58. H, Lin RJ, Schiltz RL, Chakravarti D, Nash A, Nagy L, Privalsky ML, Nakatani Y, Evans RM. Nuclear receptor coactivator ACTR is a novel histone acetyl transferase and forms a multimeric activation complex with P/CAF and CBP/p300. Cell (1997). 90:569–580.
- Takeshita A, Cardona GR, Koibuchi N, Suen CS, Chin WW. TRAM-1, A novel 160-kDa thyroid hormone receptor activator molecule, exhibits distinct properties from steroid receptor coactivator-1. J Biol Chem (1997). 272: 27629–27634.
- 60. Suen CS, Berrodin TJ, Mastroeni R, Cheskis BJ, Lyttle CR, Frail DE. A transcriptional coactivator, steroid r eceptor coactivator-3, selectively augments steroid receptor transcriptional activity. J Biol Chem (1998). 273: 27645–27653.
- Lee SK, Kim HJ, Na SY, Kim TS, Choi HS, Im SY, Lee JW. Steroid receptor coactivator-1 coactivates activating protein-1-mediated transactivations through interaction with the c-Jun and c-Fos subunits. J Biol Chem (1998). 273:16651–16654.
- Kim HJ, Kim JH, Lee JW. Steroid receptor coactivator- 1 interacts with serum response factor and coactivates serum response element-mediated transactivations. J Biol Chem (1998). 273:28564–28567.

- Na SY, Lee SK, Han SJ, Choi HS, Im SY, Lee JW. Steroid receptor coactivator-1 interacts with the p50 subunit and coactivates nuclear factor kB-mediated transactivations. J Biol Chem(1998). 273:10831–10834.
- Torchia J, Rose DW, Inostroza J, Kamei Y, Westin S, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG. The transcriptional coactivator p/CIP binds CBP and mediates nuclear-receptor function. Nature (1997). 387:677–684.
- 65. de la Calle-Mustienes E, Gomez-Skarmeta. XTIF2, a Xenopus homologue of the human transcription intermediary factor, is required for a nuclear receptor pathway that also interacts with CBP to suppress Brachyury and XMyoD. Mech Dev (2000). 91:119–129.
- 66. Bai J, Uehara Y, Montell DJ. Regulation of invasive cell behavior by taiman, a Drosophila protein related to AIB1, a steroid receptor coactivator amplified in breast cancer. Cell (2000). 103:1047–1058.
- 67. Kim HJ, Lee SK, Na SY, Choi HS, Lee JW. Molecular cloning of xSRC-3, a novel transcription coactivator from Xenopus, that is related to AIB1, p/CIP, and TIF2. Mol Endocrinol (1998). 12:1038–1047.
- 68. Huang ZJ, Edery I, Rosbash M. PAS is a dimerization domain common to Drosophila period and several transcription factors. Nature (1993). 364:259–262.
- 69. Chen SL, Dowhan DH, Hosking BM, Muscat GE. The steroid receptor coactivator, GRIP-1, is necessary for MEF-2C-dependent gene expression and skeletal muscle differentiation. Genes Dev (2000). 14:1209–1228.
- 70. Heery DM, Kalkhoven E, Hoare S, Parker MG. A signature motif in transcriptional coactivators mediate binding to nuclear receptors. Nature (1997). 387:733–736.
- 71. Voegel JJ, Heine MJ, Tini M, Vivat V, Chambon P, Gronemeyer H. The coactivator TIF2 contains three nuclear receptor-binding motifs and mediates transactivation through CBP binding-dependent and -independent pathways. EMBO J (1998). 17:507–519.
- 72. Shiau AK, Barstad D, Loria PM, Cheng L, Kushner PJ, Agard DA, Greene GL. The structural basis of estrogen receptor/coactivator recognition and the antagonism of this interaction by tamoxifen. Cell (1998). 95:927–937.
- 73. Leo C, Chen JD. The SRC family of nuclear receptor coactivators. Gene (2000). 245:1-11.
- 74. Onate SA, Boonyaratanakornkit V, Spencer TE, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, Edwards DP, O'Malley BW. The steroid receptor coactivator-1 contains multiple receptor interacting and activation domains that cooperatively enhance the activation function 1 (AF1) and AF2 domains of steroid receptors. J Biol Chem (1998). 273:12101–12108.

- 75. Li J, O'Malley BW, Wong J. p300 requires its histone acetyl transferase activity and SRC-1 interaction domain to facilitate thyroid hormone receptor activation in chromatin. Mol Cell Biol (2000). 20:2031–2042.
- 76. Chen D, Ma H, Hong H, Koh SS, Huang SM, Schurter BT, Aswad DW, Stallcup MR . Regulation of transcription by a protein methyltransferase. Science (1999). 284:2174–2177.
- 77. Koh SS, Chen D, Lee YH, Stallcup MR. Synergistic enhancement of nuclear receptor function by p160 coactivators and two coactivators with protein methyltransferase activities. J Biol Chem (2001). 276:1089–1098.
- 78. Koh SS, Chen D, Lee YH, Stallcup MR. Synergistic enhancement of nuclear receptor function by p160 coactivators and two coactivators with protein methyltransferase activities. J Biol Chem (2001). 276:1089–1098.
- Chakravarti D, LaMorte VJ, Nelson MC, Nakajima T, Schulman IG, Juguilon H, Montminy M, Evans RM. Role of CBP/P300 in nuclear receptor signalling. Nature (1996). 383:99– 103.
- Li X, Wong J, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW. Progesterone and glucocorticoid receptors recruit distinct coactivator complexes and promote distinct patterns of local chromatin modification. Mol Cell Biol (2003). 23: 3763–3773.
- Lee YH, Koh SS, Zhang X, Cheng X, Stallcup MR. Synergy among nuclear receptor coactivators: selective requirement for protein methyl transferase and acetyltransferase activities. Mol Cell Biol (2002). 22:3621–3632.
- 82. Dilworth FJ, Fromental-Ramain C, Yamamoto K, Chambon P. ATP-driven chromatin remodeling activity and histone acetyltransferases act sequentially during trans activation by RAR/RXR in vitro. Mol Cell (2000). 6: 1049–1058.
- Huang ZQ, Li J, Sachs LM, Cole PA, Wong J. A role for cofactor-cofactor and cofactorhistone interactions in targeting p300, SWI/SNF and Mediator for transcription. EMBO J (2003) 22:2146–155.
- 84. Sharma D, Fondell JD. Ordered recruitment of histone acetyltransferases and the TRAP/Mediator complex to thyroid hormone-responsive promoters in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2002). 99:7934–7939.
- 85. Ito M, Roeder RG. The TRAP/SMCC/Mediator complex and thyroid hormone receptor function. Trends Endocrinol Metab (2001) 12:127–134.
- Shang Y, Hu X, DiRenzo J, Lazar MA, Brown M. Cofactor dynamics and sufficiency in estrogen receptor regulated transcription. Cell (2000). 103:843–852.

- Chen H, Lin RJ, Xie W, Wilpitz D, Evans RM. Regulation of hormone-induced histone hyperacetylation and gene activation via acetylation of an acetylase. Cell (1999) 98:675–686 51.
- Rowan BG, Weigel NL, O'Malley BW. Phosphorylation of steroid receptor coactivator-1. Identification of the phosphorylation sites and phosphorylation through the mitogenactivated protein kinase pathway. J Biol Chem (2000). 275:4475–4483.
- Carapeti M, Aguiar RC, Chase A, Goldman JM, Cross NC . Assignment of the steroid receptor coactivator-1 (SRC-1) gene to human chromosome band 2p23. Genomics (1998). 52:242–244 53.
- 90. Ning G, Jurecic V, Baldini A, Xu J. Structure and chromosomal locations of mouse steroid receptor coactivator gene family. In Vitro Cell Dev (1999). Biol Anim 35: 481–486.
- Misiti S, Schomburg L, Yen PM, Chin WW. Expression and hormonal regulation of coactivator and corepressor genes. Endocrinology (1998). 139:2493–2500.
- 92. Misiti S, Koibuchi N, Bei M, Farsetti A, Chin WW. Expression of steroid receptor coactivator-1 mRNA in the developing mouse embryo: a possible role in olfactory epithelium development. Endocrinology (1999). (140:1957–1960).
- 93. Nishihara E, Yoshida-Komiya H, Chan CS, Liao L, Davis RL, O'Malley BW, Xu J. SRC-1 null mice exhibit moderate motor dysfunction and delayed development of cerebellar Purkinje cells. J Neurosci (1999). 23:213–222.
- 94. Xu J, Qiu Y, DeMayo FJ, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW. Partial hormone resistance in mice with disruption of the steroid receptor coactivator-1 (SRC-1) gene. Science (1999). 279:1922–1925.
- 95. Auger AP, Tetel MJ, McCarthyMM. Steroid receptor coactivator-1 (SRC-1) mediates the development of sexspecific brain morphology and behavior. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2000). 97:7551–7555.
- 96. Nishihara E, Yoshida-Komiya H, Chan CS, Liao L, Davis RL, O'Malley BW, Xu J. SRC-1 null mice exhibit moderate motor dysfunction and delayed development of cerebellar Purkinje cells. J Neurosci (2003). 23:213–222.
- 97. Sadow PM, Chassande O, Gauthier K, Samarut J, Xu J, O'Malley BW, Weiss RE. Specificity of thyroid hormone receptor subtype and steroid receptor coactivator- 1 on thyroid hormone action. Am J Physiol (2003). 284: E36–E46 64.
- 98. Sadow PM, Koo E, Chassande O, Gauthier K, Samarut J, Xu J, O'Malley BW, Seo H, Murata Y, Weiss RE. Thyroid hormone receptor-specific interactions with steroid receptor

coactivator (SRC) -1 in the pituitary. Mol Endocrinol (2003). 17:882-894.

- 99. Picard F, Gehin M, Annicotte J, Rocchi S, Champy MF, O'Malley BW, Chambon P, Auwerx J. SRC-1 and TIF2 control energy balance between white and brown adipose tissues. Cell (2002). 111:931–941.
- 100. Ning G, Jurecic V, Baldini A, Xu J. Structure and chromosomal locations of mouse steroid receptor coactivator gene family. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim (1999). 35: 481–486.
- 101. Ghadessy FJ, Lim J, Abdullah AA, Panet-Raymond V, Choo CK, Lumbroso R, Tut TG, Gottlieb B, Pinsky L, Trifiro MA, Yong EL. Oligospermic infertility associated with an androgen receptor mutation that disrupts interdomain and coactivator (TIF2) interactions. J Clin Invest (1999). 103:1517–1525.
- 102. Z, Rose DW, Hermanson O, Liu F, Heiman T, Wu W, Szeto D, Glieberman A, Krones A, Pratt K, Rosenfeld R, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG. Regulation of somatic growth by the p160 coactivator p/CIP. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2000). 97:13549–13554.
- 103. Yuan Y, Liao L, Tulis DA, Xu J. Steroid receptor coactivator-3 is required for inhibition of neointima formation by estrogen. Circulation (2002). 105:2653–2659.
- 104. Wu RC, Qin J, Hashimoto Y, Wong J, Xu J, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW. Regulation of SRC-3 (pCIP/ ACTR/AIB-1/RAC-3/TRAM-1) coactivator activity by IkB kinase. Mol Cell Biol (2002). 22:3549–3561 78.
- 105. Werbajh S, Nojek I, Lanz R, Costas MA. RAC-3 is a NF-kB coactivator. FEBS Lett (2000). 485:195–199.
- 106. Labhart P, Karmakar S, Salicru EM, Egan BS, Alexiadis V, O'Malley BW, Smith CL. Identification of target genes in breast cancer cells directly regulated by the SRC-3/AIB1 coactivator. PNAS (2003). 102(5):1339-44.
- Gnanapragasam, V. J., H. Y. Leung, A. S. Pulimood, D. E. Neal, and C. N. Robson. Expression of RAC 3, a steroid hormone receptor co-activator in prostate cancer. Br. J. Cancer (2001). 85:1928–1936.
- Zhou HJ, Yan J, Luo W, Ayala G, Lin SH, Erdem H, Ittmann M, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ.
 SRC-3 is required for prostate cancer cell proliferation and survival. Cancer Res. (2005).
 65(17):7976-83.
- 109. Glaeser, M., T. Floetotto, B. Hanstein, M. W. Beckmann, and D. Niederacher. . Gene amplification and expression of the steroid receptor coactivator SRC3 (AIB1) in sporadic breast and endometrial carcinomas. Horm. Metab. Res. (2001). 33:121–126.
- 110. Sakakura, C., A. Hagiwara, R. Yasuoka, Y. Fujita, M. Nakanishi, K. Masuda, A.

Kimura, Y. Nakamura, J. Inazawa, T. Abe, and H. Yamagishi. Amplification and overexpression of the AIB1 nuclear receptor co-activator gene in primary gastric cancers. Int. J. Cancer (2000). 89:217–223.

- 111. Li H, Gomes PJ, Chen JD. RAC3 a steroid/nuclear receptor associated coactivator that is related to SRC-1 and TIF2. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (1997). 94: 8479–84.
- 112. Han SJ, Demayo FJ, Xu J, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW. Steroid receptor coactivators SRC-1 and SRC-3 differentially modulate tissue-specific activation functions of the progesterone receptor. Mol Endocrinol (2006). 20: 45–55.
- 113. Ying H, Furuya F, Willingham MC, Xu J, O'Malley BW, Cheng SY. Dual functions of the steroid hormone receptor coactivator -3 in modulating resistance to thyroid hormone. Mol Cell Biol (2005). 25: 7687–95.
- 114. Arimura A, van Peer M, Schroder AJ, Rothman PB. The transcriptional coactivator p/CIP (NCoA-3) is up-regulated by STAT6 and serves as a positive regulator of transcriptional activation by STAT6. J Biol Chem (2004). 279: 31105–12.
- 115. Louie MC, Zou JX, Rabinovich A, Chen HW. ACTR/AIB1 functions as an E2F1 coactivator to promote breast cancer cell proliferation and antiestrogen resistance. Mol Cell Biol (2004). 24: 5157–71.
- 116. Mendelsohn, M. E. and Karas, R. H. The protective effects of estrogen on the cardiovascular system. N Engl J Med (1999). 340:1801-11.
- 117. J. Xu. The role of SRC-3 in estrogen-dependent vasoprotection during vascular wall remodeling postinjury. Nuclear Receptor Signaling Atlas (2002). 1:1-3.
- 118. Y. Yuan, L. Liao, D.A. Tulis, J. Xu. Steroid receptor coactivator-3 is required for inhibition of neointima formation by estrogen. Circulation (2002). 2653–2659.
- 119. Huang ZJ, Edery I, Rosbash M. PAS is a dimerization domain common to Drosophila period and several transcription factors. Nature (1993). 364: 259–62.
- Brzozowski AM, Pike AC, Dauter Z, Hubbard RE, Bonn T, Engstrom O, et al. Molecular basis of agonism and antagonism in the oestrogen receptor. Nature (1997). 389: 753–8.
- 121. Spencer TE, Jenster G, Burcin MM, Allis CD, Zhou J, Mizzen CA, et al. Steroid receptor coactivator-1 is a histone acetyltransferase. Nature (1997). 389: 194–8.
- 122. Koh SS, Chen D, Lee YH, Stallcup MR. Synergistic enhancement of nuclear receptor function by p160 coactivators and two coactivators with protein methyltransferase activities. J Biol Chem (2001). 276: 1089–98.

- 123. Kuang SQ, Liao L, Wang S, Medina D, O'Malley BW, Xu J. Mice lacking the amplified in breast cancer 1/steroid receptor coactivator-3 are resistant to chemical carcinogen-induced mammary tumorigenesis. Cancer Res (2005). 65: 7993–8002.
- Azorsa DO, Cunliffe HE, Meltzer PS. Association of steroid receptor coactivator
 AIB1 with estrogen receptor-alpha in breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat (2001).
 70: 89–101.
- Shao W, Keeton EK, McDonnell DP, Brown M. Coactivator AIB1 links estrogen receptor transcriptional activity and stability. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2004). 101: 11599– 604.
- 126. Planas-Silva MD, Shang Y, Donaher JL, Brown M, Weinberg RA. AIB1 enhances estrogen-dependent induction of cyclin D1 expression. Cancer Res (2001). 61: 3858–62.
- Reiter R, Oh AS, Wellstein A, Riegel AT. Impact of the nuclear receptor coactivator AIB1 isoform AIB1-Delta3 on estrogenic ligands with different intrinsic activity. Oncogene (2004). 23: 403–9.
- 128. Xie D, Sham JS, Zeng WF, Lin HL, Bi J, Che LH, et al. Correlation of AIB1 overexpression with advanced clinical stage of human colorectal carcinoma. Hum Pathol (2005). 36: 777–83. 3.
- 129. Wang Y, Wu MC, Sham JS, Zhang W, Wu WQ, Guan XY. Prognostic significance of c-myc and AIB1 amplification in hepatocellular carcinoma. A broad survey using highthroughput tissue microarray. Cancer (2002). 95: 2346–52.
- 130. Bouras T, Southey MC, Venter DJ. Overexpression of the steroid receptor coactivator AIB1 in breast cancer correlates with the absence of estrogen and progesterone receptors and positivity for p53 and HER2/neu. Cancer Res (2001). 61: 903–7.
- Werbajh S, Nojek I, Lanz R, Costas MA. RAC-3 is a NF-kappa B coactivator. FEBS Lett (2000). 485: 195–9.
- 132. Harbour, JW, Dean DC. The Rb/E2F pathway: expanding roles and emerging paradigms. Genes Dev (2000). 14: 2393–409.
- 133. Dimova DK, Dyson NJ. The E2F transcriptional network: old acquaintances with new faces. Oncogene (2005). 24: 2810–26.
- 134. Grimberg A. Mechanisms by which IGF-I may promote cancer. Cancer Biol Ther (2003). 2: 630–5.
- 135. Torres-Arzayus MI, De Mora JF, Yuan J, Vazquez F, Bronson R, Rue M, et al. High tumor incidence and activation of the PI3K/ AKT pathway in transgenic mice define AIB1

as an oncogene. Cancer Cell (2004). 6: 263–74.

- 136. Tilli MT, Reiter R, Oh AS, Henke RT, McDonnell K, Gallicano GI, et al. Overexpression of an N-terminally truncated isoform of the nuclear receptor coactivator amplified in breast cancer 1 leads to altered proliferation of mammary epithelial cells in transgenic mice. Mol Endocrinol (2005). 19: 644–56.
- 137. Lin A, Karin M. NF-κB in cancer: a marked target. Semin Cancer Biol (2003). 13:
 107–14.
- 138. Pages F, Vives V, Sautes-Fridman C, Fossiez F, Berger A, Cugnenc PH, et al. Control of tumor development by intratumoral cytokines. Immunol Lett (1999). 68: 135–9.
- 139. Giri D, Ozen M, Ittmann M. Interleukin-6 is an autocrine growth factor in human prostate cancer. Am J Pathol (2001). 159: 2159–65.
- Raught B, Liao WSL, Rosen JM. Developmentally and hormonally regulated CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein isoforms influence beta-casein gene expression. Mol Endocrinol (1995). 9: 1223–32.
- 141. Osborne CK, Bardou V, Hopp TA, Chamness GC, Hilsenbeck SG, Fuqua SA, et al. Role of the estrogen receptor coactivator AIB1 (SRC-3) and HER-2/neu in tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst (2003). 95: 353–61.
- 142. Goel A, Janknecht R. Concerted activation of ETS protein ER81 by p160 coactivators, the acetyltransferase p300 and the receptor tyrosine kinase HER2/Neu. J Biol Chem (2004). 279: 14909–16.
- 143. Yan J, Yu CT, Ozen M, Ittmann M, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ. Steroid receptor coactivator-3 and activator protein-1 coordinately regulate the transcription of components of the insulinlike growth factor/AKT signaling pathway. Cancer Res. (2006). 66(22):11039-46.
- Bjornstrom, L., and M. Sjoberg. Mechanisms of estrogen receptor signaling: convergence of genomic and nongenomic actions on target genes. Mol. Endocrinol. (2005). 19:833–842.
- 145. Wong, C. W., C. McNally, E. Nickbarg, B. S. Komm, and B. J. Cheskis. 2002. Estrogen receptor-interacting protein that modulates its nongenomic activity- crosstalk with Src/Erk phosphorylation cascade. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA (2002). 99:14783–14788.
- 146. Maggiolini, M., A. Vivacqua, G. Fasanella, A. G. Recchia, D. Sisci, V. Pezzi, D. Montanaro, A. M. Musti, D. Picard, and S. Ando. The G protein coupled receptor GPR30 mediates c-fos up-regulation by 17beta-estradiol and phytoestrogens in breast cancer cells. J. Biol. Chem. (2004). 279:27008–27016.

- 147. Maruvada, P., C. T. Baumann, G. L. Hager, and P. M. Yen. Dynamic shuttling and intranuclear mobility of nuclear hormone receptors. J. Biol. Chem. (2003). 278:12425– 12432.
- 148. Dauvois, S., R. White, and M. G. Parker. The antiestrogen ICI 182780 disrupts estrogen receptor nucleocytoplasmic shuttling. J. Cell Sci. (1993). 106:1377–1388.
- Zhang, Z., B. Maier, R. J. Santen, and R. X. Song. Membrane association of estrogen receptor alpha mediates estrogen effect on MAPK activation. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. (2002). 294:926–933.
- Qutob, M. S., R. N. Bhattacharjee, E. Pollari, S. P. Yee, and J. Torchia.. Microtubule-dependent subcellular redistribution of the transcriptional coactivator p/CIP. Mol. Cell. Biol. (2002). 22:6611–6626.
- 151. Fuzhong F. Zheng, Ray-Chang Wu, Carolyn L. Smith, and Bert W. O'Malley. Rapid Estrogen-Induced Phosphorylation of the SRC-3 Coactivator Occurs in an Extranuclear Complex Containing Estrogen Receptor. Moll. Cell. Bio. (2005). 25:8273-8284.
- 152. Li X, Lonard DM, Jung SY, Malovannaya A, Feng Q, Qin J, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW. The SRC-3/AIB1 coactivator is degraded in a ubiquitin- and ATPindependent manner by the REGgamma proteasome. Cell (2006). Jan 27;124(2):381-92.
- 153. Rechsteiner M, Hill CP. Mobilizing the proteolytic machine: cell biological roles of proteasome activators and inhibitors. Trends Cell Biol. (2005). 15(1):27-33. Review.
- 154. Lonard DM, Nawaz Z, Smith CL, O'Malley BW. The 26S proteasome is required for estrogen receptor-alpha and coactivator turnover and for efficient estrogen receptoralpha transactivation. Mol Cell. (2000). ;5(6):939-48.
- List HJ, Reiter R, Singh B, Wellstein A, Riegel AT. Expression of the nuclear coactivator AIB1 in normal and malignant breast tissue. Breast Cancer Res Treat (2001). 68: 21–8.
- 156. Shou J, Massarweh S, Osborne CK, Wakeling AE, Ali S, Weiss H, et al. Mechanisms of tamoxifen resistance: increased estrogen receptor-HER2/neu cross-talk in ER/HER2-positive breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst (2004). 96: 926–35.
- 157. Reiter R, Wellstein A, Riegel AT. An isoform of the coactivator AIB1 that increases hormone and growth factor sensitivity is overexpressed in breast cancer. J Biol Chem (2001). 276: 39736–41.
- 158. Henke RT, Haddad BR, Kim SE, Rone JD, Mani A, Jessup JM, et al. Overexpression of the nuclear receptor coactivator AIB1 (SRC-3) during progression of

pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Clin Cancer Res (2004). 10: 6134-42.

- 159. Ghadimi BM, Schrock E, Walker RL, Wangsa D, Jauho A, et al. Specific chromosomal aberrations and amplification of the AIB1 nuclear receptor coactivator gene in pancreatic carcinomas. Am J Pathol (1999). 154: 525–36.
- 160. Kuang SQ, Liao L, Zhang H, Lee AV, O'Malley BW, Xu J. AIB1/ SRC-3 deficiency affects insulin-like growth factor I signaling pathway and suppresses v-Ha-rasinduced breast cancer initiation and progression in mice. Cancer Res (2004).1875–85.
- 161. Kuang SQ, Liao L, Wang S, Medina D, O'Malley BW, Xu J. Mice lacking the amplified in breast cancer -1/steroid receptor coactivator-3 are resistant to chemical carcinogen-induced mammary tumorigenesis. Cancer Res (2005). 65: 7993–8002.
- 162. Stallcup, M.R., Kim, J.H., Teyssier, C., Lee, Y.H., Ma, H., and Chen, D. The roles of protein-protein interactions and protein methylation in transcriptional activation by nuclear receptors and their coactivators. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. (2003). 85, 139–145.
- Jung, S.Y., Malovannaya, A., Wei, J., O'Malley, B.W., and Qin, J. Proteomic analysis of steady-state nuclear hormone receptor coactivator complexes. Mol. Endocrinol. (2005). 19, 2451–2465.
- 164. Glass, C.K., and Rosenfeld, M.G. The coregulator exchange in transcriptional functions of nuclear receptors. Genes Dev. (2000). 14, 121–141.
- 165. Baniahmad, A., Leng, X., Burris, T.P., Tsai, S.Y., Tsai, M.-J., and O'Malley, B.W. The tau 4 activation domain of the thyroid hormone receptor is required for release of a putative corepressor(s) necessary for transcriptional silencing. Mol. Cell. Biol. (1995). 15, 76–86.
- Feng, Q., Yi, P., Wong, J., and O'Malley, B.W. Signaling within a coactivator complex: methylation of SRC-3/AIB1 is a molecular switch for complex disassembly. Mol. Cell. Biol. (2006). 26, 7846–7857.
- 167. Lee, Y.H., Coonrod, S.A., Kraus, W.L., Jelinek, M.A., and Stallcup, M.R. Regulation of coactivator complex assembly and function by protein arginine methylation and demethylimination. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA (2005). 102, 3611–3616.
- 168. Wu, R.C., Feng, Q., Lonard, D.M., and O'Malley, B.W. SRC-3 Coactivator Functional Lifetime Is Regulated by a Phospho-Dependent Ubiquitin Time Clock. Cell (2007).129, 1125–1140.
- 169. Chen, J., Kinyamu, H.K., and Archer, T.K. Changes in attitude, changes in latitude: nuclear receptors remodeling chromatin to regulate transcription. Mol. Endocrinol. (2006).

20, 1–13.

- 170. Jonas, B.A., and Privalsky, M.L. SMRT and N-CoR corepressors are regulated by distinct kinase signaling pathways. J. Biol. Chem. (2004). 279, 54676–54686.
- 171. Rosenfeld, M.G., Lunyak, V.V., and Glass, C.K. Sensors and signals: a coactivator/corepressor/epigenetic code. Genes Dev. (2006). 20, 1405–1428.
- Hermanson, O., Jepsen, K., and Rosenfeld, M.G. N-CoR controls differentiation of neural stem cells into astrocytes. Nature (2002). 419, 934–939.
- Tiefenbach, J., Novac, N., Ducasse, M., Eck, M., Melchior, F., and Heinzel, T.
 SUMOylation of the corepressor N-CoR modulates its capacity to repress transcription.
 Mol. Biol. Cell (2006). 17, 1643–1651.
- 174. Yu, C., York, B., Wang, S., Feng, Q., Xu, J., and O'Malley, B.W. An essential function of the SRC-3 coactivator in suppression of cytokine mRNA translation and inflammatory response. Mol. Cell (2007). 25, 765–778.
- Seol W, Mahon MJ, Lee YK, Moore DD. Two receptor interacting domains in the nuclear hormone receptor corepressor RIP13/N-CoR. Mol Endocrinol (1996). 10:1646– 1655.
- 176. Sande S, Privalsky ML. Identification of TRACs (T3 receptor associating cofactors), a family of cofactors that associate with, and modulate the activity of, nuclear hormone receptors. Mol Endocrinol (1996). 10:813–825.
- 177. Wong CW, Privalsky ML. Transcriptional silencing is defined by isoform- and heterodimer-specific interactions between nuclear hormone receptors and corepressors. Mol Cell Biol (1998). 18:5724–5733.
- 178. Chen JD, Evans RM. A transcriptional co-repressor that interacts with nuclear hormone receptors. Nature (1995). 377:454–457.
- Crawford PA, Dorn C, Sadovsky Y, Milbrandt J. Nuclear receptor DAX-1 recruits nuclear receptor corepressor N-CoR to steroidogenic factor 1. Mol Cell Biol (1998). 18:2949–2956.
- 180. Zamir I, Zhang J, Lazar MA. Stoichiometric and steric principles governing repression by nuclear hormone receptors. Genes Dev (1997). 11:835–846.
- 181. Burris TP, Nawaz Z, Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW. A nuclear hormone receptorassociated protein that inhibits transactivation by the thyroid hormone and retinoic acid receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA ((1995). 92:9525–9529
- 182. Smith CL, Nawaz Z, O'Malley BW. Coactivator and corepressor regulation of the

agonist/antagonist activity of the mixed antiestrogen, 4-hydroxy tamoxifen. Mol Endocrinol (1997). 11:657–666.

- 183. Jackson TA, Richer JK, Bain DL, Takimoto GS, Tung L, Horwitz KB. The partial agonist activity of antagonist-occupied steroid receptors is controlled by a novel hinge domain-binding coactivator L7/SPA and the corepressors N-CoR or SMRT. Mol Endocrinol (1997). 11:693–705.
- 184. Richmond TJ, Finch JT, Rushton B, Rhodes D, Klug A. Structure of the nucleosome core particle at 7 A resolution. Nature 3 (1984). 11:532–537.
- 185. Luger K, Mader AW, Richmond RK, Sargent DF, Richmond TJ. Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 A resolution. Nature (1997). 389:251–260.
- 186. Ruff M, Gangloff M, Wurtz JM, Moras. Estrogen receptor transcription and transactivation: Structure-function relationship in DNA- and ligand-binding domains of estrogen receptors. Breast Cancer Res. 2000;2(5):353-9.
- 187. Wolffe AP, Pruss D. Targeting chromatin disruption: transcription regulators that acetylate histones. Cell (1996) 84:817–819.
- 188. Rhodes D. The nucleosome core all wrapped up. Nature (1999). 389:231, 233
- Ogryzko VV, Schiltz RL, Russanova V, Howard BH, Nakatani Y. The transcriptional coactivators p300 and CBP are histone acetyltransferases. Cell (1996). 87:953–959.
- Bannister AJ, Kouzarides T. The CBP co-activator is a histone acetyltransferase. Nature (1996). 384:641–643.
- 191. Yang XJ, Ogryzko VV, Nishikawa J, Howard BH, Nakatani Y. A p300/CBPassociated factor that competes with the adenoviral oncoprotein E1A. Nature (1996). 382:319–324.
- Jenster G, Spencer T, Burcin M, Tsai SY, Tsai M-J, O'Malley BW. Steroid receptor induction of gene transcription—a two-step model. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (1997). 94:7879–7884.
- Blanco JC, Minucci S, Lu J, Yang X-J, Walker K, Chen H, Evans RM, Nakatani Y,
 Ozato. The histone acetylase PCAF is a nuclear receptor coactivator. Genes Dev (1998).
 12:1638–1651.
- 194. Taunton J, Hassig CA, Schreiber SL. A mammalian histone deacetylase related to the yeast transcriptional regulator RPD3p. Science (1996).272:408–411 202.
- 195. Yang WM, Inouye C, Zeng Y, Bearss D, Seto E. Transcriptional repression by YY1
is mediated by interaction with a mammalian homolog of the yeast global regulator RPD3. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (1996). 93:12845–12850 203.

- 196. Kostriken R, Strathern JN, Klar AJ, Hicks JB, Heffron F. A site-specific endonuclease essential for mating-type switching in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Cell (1983). 35:167–174.
- 197. Nawaz Z, Baniahmad C, Burris TP, Stillman DJ, O'Malley BW, Tsai MJ. The yeast SIN3 gene product negatively regulates the activity of the human progesterone receptor and positively regulates the activities of GAL4 and the HAP1 activator. Mol Gen Genet (1994). 245:724–733
- 198. Laherty CD, Yang WM, Sun JM, Davie JR, Seto E, Eisenman RN. Histone deacetylases associated with the mSin3 corepressor mediate mad transcriptional repression. Cell (1997). 89:349–356.
- 199. Jones PL, Veenstra GJ, Wade PA, Vermaak D, Kass SU, Landsberger N, Strouboulis J, Wolffe AP. Methylated DNA and MeCP2 recruit histone deacetylase to repress transcription. Nat Genet (1998). 19:187–191 211.
- 200. Wade PA, Jones PL, Vermaak D, Wolffe AP. A multiple subunit Mi-2 histone deacetylase from Xenopus laevis cofractionates with an associated Snf2 superfamily ATPase. Curr Biol (1998). 8:843–846.
- 201. Alland L, Muhle R, Hou Jr H, Potes J, Chin L, Schreiber-Agus N, DePinho RA. Role for N-CoR and histone deacetylase in Sin3-mediated transcriptional repression. Nature (1997). 387:49–55.
- 202. Jacq X, Brou C, Lutz Y, Davidson I, Chambon P, Tora L. Human TAFII30 is present in a distinct TFIID complex and is required for transcriptional activation by the estrogen receptor. Cell (1994). 79:107–117 11.
- 203. Mengus G, May M, Jacq X, Staub A, Tora L, Chambon P, Davidson I. Cloning and characterization of hTAFII18, hTAFII20 and hTAFII28: three subunits of the human transcription factor TFIID. EMBO J (1995).14:1520–1531.
- 204. Lee S, Hahn S. Model for binding of transcription factor TFIIB to the TBP-DNA complex. Nature (1995). 376:609–612.
- 205. Ha I, Roberts S, Maldonado E, Sun X, Kim LU, Green M, Reinberg D. Multiple functional domains of human transcription factor IIB: distinct interactions with two general transcription factors and RNA polymerase II. Genes Dev (1993). 7:1021–1032.
- 206. Schulman IG, Chakravarti D, Juguilon H, Romo A, Evans RM . Interactions

between the retinoid 3 receptor and a conserved region of the TATA-binding protein mediate hormone-dependent transactivation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (1995). 92:8288–8292.

- 207. Sadovsky Y, Webb P, Lopez G, Baxter JD, Fitzpatrick PM, Gizang- Ginsberg E, Cavailles V, Parker MG, Kushner PJ. Transcriptional activators differ in their responses to overexpression of TATA-box-binding protein. Mol Cell Biol (1995). 15:1554–1563.
- 208. Schwerk C, Klotzbucher M, Sachs M, Ulber V, Klein-Hitpass L. Identification of a transactivation function in the progesterone receptor that interacts with the TAFII110 subunit of the TFIID complex. J Biol Chem (1995). 270:21331–21338.
- 209. McEwan I, Gustafsson J-A. Interaction of the human androgen receptor transactivation function with the general transcription factor TFIIF. Proc Natl Acad Sci (1997). 94:8485–8490.
- 210. Rochette-Egly C, Adam S, Rossignol M, Egly JM, Chambon P . Stimulation of RARa activation function AF-1 through binding to the general transcription factor TFIIH and phosphorylation by CDK7. Cell (1997). 90:97–107 .
- 211. Blanco JC, Wang IM, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW, Jurutka PW, Haussler MR, Ozato K. Transcription factor TFIIB and the vitamin D receptor cooperatively activate ligand-dependent transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (1995). 92:1535–1539.
- 212. Ing NH, Beekman JM, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW. Members of the steroid hormone receptor superfamily interact with TFIIB (S300-II). J Biol Chem (1992). 267:17617–17623.
- 213. Onate SA, Tsai SY, Tsai MJ, O'Malley BW. Sequence and characterization of a coactivator for the steroid hormone receptor superfamily. Science (1995). 270:1354–1357 3.
- 214. Wang JC, Stafford JM, Granner DK. SRC-1 and GRIP1 coactivate transcription with hepatocyte nuclear factor 4. J Biol Chem (1998). 273:30847–30850.
- 215. Zhu Y, Qi C, Calandra C, Rao MS, Reddy JK. Cloning and identification of mouse steroid receptor coactivator-1 (mSRC-1), as a coactivator of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor g. Gene Expr (1996). 6:185–195.
- 216. Lee SK, Kim HJ, Na SY, Kim TS, Choi HS, Im SY, Lee JW. Steroid receptor coactivator-1 coactivates activating protein-1-mediated transactivations through interaction with the c-Jun and c-Fos subunits. J Biol Chem (1998). 273:16651–16654.
- 217. Kim HJ, Kim JH, Lee JW. Steroid receptor coactivator-1 interacts with serum response factor and coactivates serum response element-mediated transactivations. J Biol

Chem (1998). 273:28564–28567.

- 218. Na SY, Lee SK, Han SJ, Choi HS, Im SY, Lee JW. Steroid receptor coactivator-1 interacts with the p50 subunit and coactivates nuclear factor kappaB-mediated transactivations. J Biol Chem (1998). 273:10831–10834.
- 219. Hong H, Kohli K, Garabedian MJ, Stallcup MR. GRIP1, a transcriptional coactivator for the AF-2 transactivation domain of steroid, thyroid, retinoid, and vitamin D receptors. Mol Cell Biol (1997). 17:2735–2744.
- 220. McKenna NJ, Nawaz Z, Tsai SY, Tsai M-J, O'Malley BW. Distinct steady state nuclear receptor coregulator complexes exist in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (1998). 95:11697–11702.
- 221. Kuiper GGJM, Carlsson B,Grandien K, Enmark E, Haggblad J, Nilsson S, Gustafsson J-A. Comparison of the ligand binding specificity and transcript tissue distribution of estrogen receptors {alpha} and {beta}. Endocrinology (1997). 138:863–870.
- 222. Gruber D, Huber J. Conjugated estrogens—The natural SERMs. Gynecol Endocrinol (1999). 13:9–12.
- 223. Watson CS, Campbell CH, Gametchu B. Membrane oestrogen receptors on rat pituitary tumour cells: Immuno-identification and responses to oestradiol and xenoestrogens. Exp Physiol (1999). 84:1013–1022.
- 224. Zivadinovic D, Watson C. Membrane estrogen receptor-alpha levels predict estrogen-induced ERK1/2 activation in MCF-7 cells. Breast Cancer Res (2005). 7:R130– R144.
- Levin ER. Cellular functions of plasma membrane estrogen receptors. Steroids (2002). 67:471–475.
- 226. Figtree GA, McDonald D, Watkins H, Channon KM. Truncated estrogen receptor {alpha} 46-kDa isoform in human endothelial cells: Relationship to acute activation of nitric oxide synthase. Circulation (2003). 107:120–126.
- 227. Li L, Haynes MP, Bender JR. Plasma membrane localization and function of the estrogen receptor alpha variant (ER46) in human endothelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci (2003). 100:4807–4812.
- 228. Anderson RGW. The caveolae membrane system. Annu Rev Biochem (1998).67:199–225.
- 229. Razandi M, Oh P, Pedram A, Schnitzer J, Levin ER. ERs associate with and regulate the production of caveolin: Implications for signaling and cellular actions. Mol Endocrinol

(2002). 16:100-115.

- 230. Song RX-D, McPherson RA, Adam L, Bao Y, ShupnikM, Kumar R, Santen RJ. Linkage of rapid estrogen action to MAPK activation by ER{alpha}-Shc association and Shc pathway activation. Mol Endocrinol (2002). 16:116–127.
- 231. Song RX, Barnes CJ, Zhang Z, BaoY, KumarR, SantenRJ. The role of Shc and insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor inmediating the translocation of estrogen receptor {alpha} to the plasma membrane. Proc Natl Acad Sci (2004). 101:2076–2081.
- Acconcia F,Ascenzi P, Fabozzi G, Visca P, MarinoM. S-Palmitoylation modulates human estrogen receptor-[alpha] functions. Biochem Biophys Res Commun (2004). 316:878–883.
- 233. Acconcia F, Ascenzi P, Bocedi A, Spisni E, Tomasi V, Trentalance A, Visca P, Marino M. Palmitoylation-dependent estrogen receptor {alpha} membrane localization: Regulation by 17{beta}-estradiol. Mol Biol Cell (2005). 16:231–237.
- 234. Kumar V, Chambon P. The estrogen receptor binds tightly to its responsive element as a ligand-induced homodimer. Cell (1988). 55:145–156.
- 235. Kumar V, Green S, Stack G, Berry M, Jin JR, Chambon P. Functional domains of the human estrogen receptor. Cell (1987). 51:941–951.
- 236. Lees JA, Fawell SE, Parker MG. dentification of constitutive and steroid-dependent transactivation domains in the mouse oestrogen receptor. J Steroid Biochem (1989). I34:33–39.
- 237. Danielian PS, White R, Lees JA, Parker MG. Identification of a conserved region required for hormone dependent transcriptional activation by steroid hormone receptors. EMBO J (1992). 11:1025–1033.
- Brzozowski AM, Pike ACW, Dauter Z, Hubbard RE, Bonn T, Engstrom O, Ohman L, Greene GL, Gustafsson J-A, Carlquist M. Molecular basis of agonism and antagonism in the oestrogen receptor. Nature (1997). 389:753–758.
- 239. Heery DM, Kalkhoven E, Hoare S, Parker MG. A signature motif in transcriptional coactivators mediates binding to nuclear receptors. Nature (1997). 387:733–736.
- 240. Darimont BD, Wagner RL, Apriletti JW, Stallcup MR, Kushner PJ, Baxter JD, Fletterick RJ, Yamamoto KR. Structure and specificity of nuclear receptor–coactivator interactions. Genes Dev (1998). 12:3343–3356.
- 241. Shiau AK, Barstad D, Loria PM, Cheng L, Kushner PJ, Agard DA, Greene GL. The structural basis of estrogen receptor/coactivator recognition and the antagonism of this

interaction by tamoxifen. Cell (1998). 95:927–937.

- 242. Hu X, Lazar MA. The CoRNR motif controls the recruitment of corepressors by nuclear hormone receptors. Nature (1999). 402:93–96.
- 243. Webb P, Anderson CM, Valentine C, Nguyen P, Marimuthu A, West BL, Baxter JD, Kushner PJ. The nuclear receptor corepressor (N-CoR) contains three isoleucine motifs (I/ LXXII) that serve as receptor interaction domains (IDs). Mol Endocrinol (2000). 14:1976– 1985.
- 244. Montano MM, Muller V, Trobaugh A, Katzenellenbogen BS. The carboxy-terminal F domain of the human estrogen receptor: Role in the transcriptional activity of the receptor and the effectiveness of antiestrogens as estrogen antagonists. Mol Endocrinol (1995). 9:814–825.
- 245. Koide A, Zhao C, Naganuma M, Abrams J, Deighton-Collins S, Skafar DF, Koide S. Identification of regions within the F domain of the human estrogen receptor {alpha} that are important for modulating transactivation and protein–protein interactions. Mol Endocrinol (2007). 21:829–842.
- 246. Webb P, Nguyen P, Valentine C, Lopez GN, Kwok GR, McInerney E, Katzenellenbogen BS, Enmark E, Gustafsson J-A, Nilsson S, Kushner PJ. The estrogen receptor enhances AP-1 activity by two distinct mechanisms with different requirements for receptor transactivation functions. Mol Endocrinol (1999). 13:1672–1685.
- 247. Faus, H. and Haendler, B. Post-translational modifications of steroid receptors Biomed Pharmacother (2006). 60, 520-8.
- 248. Denner, L. A., Weigel, N. L., Maxwell, B. L., Schrader, W.T. and O'Malley, B.W. Regulation of progesterone receptor-mediated transcription by phosphorylation Science (1990) 250, 1740-3.
- 249. Arnold, S. F., Obourn, J. D., Jaffe, H. and Notides, A. C. Phosphorylation of the human estrogen receptor on tyrosine 537 in vivo and by src family tyrosine kinases in vitro Mol Endocrinol (1995). 9, 24-33.
- 250. Al-Dhaheri, M. H. and Rowan, B. G. Application of phosphorylation site-specific antibodies to measure nuclear receptor signaling: characterization of novel phosphoantibodies for estrogen receptor α Nucl Recept Signal (2006). 4, e007.
- 251. Rogatsky, I., Trowbridge, J. M. and Garabedian, M. J. Potentiation of human estrogen receptor α transcriptional activation through phosphorylation of serines 104 and 106 by the cyclin A-CDK2 complex J Biol Chem (1999). 274, 22296-302.

- 252. Lee, H. and Bai, W. Regulation of estrogen receptor nuclear export by ligandinduced and p38-mediated receptor phosphorylation Mol Cell Biol (2002). 22, 5835-45.
- 253. Dutertre, M. and Smith, C. L. Ligand-independent interactions of p160/steroid receptor coactivators and CREB-binding protein (CBP) with estrogen receptor-α: regulation by phosphorylation sites in the A/B region depends on other receptor domains Mol Endocrinol (2003). 17, 1296-314.
- Likhite, V. S., Stossi, F., Kim, K., Katzenellenbogen, B. S. and Katzenellenbogen, J.
 A. Kinase-specific phosphorylation of the estrogen receptor changes receptor interactions with ligand, deoxyribonucleic acid, and coregulators associated with alterations in estrogen and tamoxifen activity Mol Endocrinol (2006). 20, 3120-32.
- 255. Masuhiro, Y., Mezaki, Y., Sakari, M., Takeyama, K., Yoshida, T., Inoue, K., Yanagisawa, J., Hanazawa, S., O'Malley B, W. and Kato, S. Splicing potentiation by growth factor signals via estrogen receptor phosphorylation Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2005) . 102, 8126-31.
- 256. Castano, E., Vorojeikina, D. P. and Notides, A. C. Phosphorylation of serine-167 on the human oestrogen receptor is important for oestrogen response element binding and transcriptional activation Biochem J (1997). 326 (Pt 1), 149-57.
- 257. Shah, Y. M. and Rowan, B. G. The Src kinase pathway promotes tamoxifen agonist action in Ishikawa endometrial cells through phosphorylation-dependent stabilization of estrogen receptor (α) promoter interaction and elevated steroid receptor coactivator 1 activity Mol Endocrinol (2005). 19, 732-48.
- Arnold, S. F., Obourn, J. D., Jaffe, H. and Notides, A. C. Serine 167 is the major estradiol-induced phosphorylation site on the human estrogen receptor Mol Endocrinol (1994). 8, 1208-14.
- 259. Joel, P. B., Smith, J., Sturgill, T.W., Fisher, T. L., Blenis, J. and Lannigan, D. A. pp90rsk1 regulates estrogen receptor-mediated transcription through phosphorylation of Ser-167 Mol Cell Biol (1998). 18, 1978-84.
- 260. Cui, Y., Zhang, M., Pestell, R., Curran, E. M., Welshons, W.V. and Fuqua, S. A. Phosphorylation of estrogen receptor α blocks its acetylation and regulates estrogen sensitivity Cancer Res (2004). 64, 9199-208.
- Fuqua, S. A., Wiltschke, C., Zhang, Q. X., Borg, A., Castles, C. G., Friedrichs, W. E., Hopp, T., Hilsenbeck, S., Mohsin, S., O'Connell, P. and Allred, D. C. A hypersensitive estrogen receptor-α mutation in premalignant breast lesions Cancer Res (2000). 60, 4026-9.

- 262. Kato, S., Endoh, H., Masuhiro, Y., Kitamoto, T., Uchiyama, S., Sasaki, H., Masushige, S., Gotoh, Y., Nishida, E., Kawashima, H., Metzger, D. and Chambon, P. Activation of the estrogen receptor through phosphorylation by mitogen-activated protein kinase Science (1995). 270, 1491-4.
- 263. Bunone, G., Briand, P. A., Miksicek, R. J. and Picard, D. Activation of the unliganded estrogen receptor by EGF involves the MAP kinase pathway and direct phosphorylation Embo J (1996). 15, 2174-83.
- 264. Clark, D. E., Poteet-Smith, C. E., Smith, J. A. and Lannigan, D. A. Rsk2 allosterically activates estrogen receptor α by docking to the hormone-binding domain Embo J (2001). 20, 3484-94.
- 265. Tremblay, A., Tremblay, G. B., Labrie, F. and Giguere, V. Ligand-independent recruitment of SRC-1 to estrogen receptor β through phosphorylation of activation function AF-1 Mol Cell (1999). 3, 513-9.
- 266. Chen, D., Pace, P. E., Coombes, R. C. and Ali, S. Phosphorylation of human estrogen receptor α by protein kinase A regulates dimerization Mol Cell Biol (1999). 19, 1002-15.
- Ikeda, K., Ogawa, S., Tsukui, T., Horie-Inoue, K., Ouchi, Y., Kato, S., Muramatsu, M. and Inoue, S. Protein phosphatase 5 is a negative regulator of estrogen receptor-mediated transcription Mol Endocrinol (2004). 18, 1131-43.
- 268. Narayanan, R., Adigun, A. A., Edwards, D. P. and Weigel, N. L. Cyclin-dependent kinase activity is required for progesterone receptor function: novel role for cyclin A/Cdk2 as a progesterone receptor coactivator Mol Cell Biol (2005) . 25, 264-77.
- 269. Gregory, C.W., Fei, X., Ponguta, L. A., He, B., Bill, H. M., French, F. S. and Wilson, E. M. Epidermal growth factor increases coactivation of the androgen receptor in recurrent prostate cancer J Biol Chem (2004). 279, 7119-30.
- 270. Frigo, D. E., Basu, A., Nierth-Simpson, E. N., Weldon, C. B., Dugan, C. M., Elliott, S., Collins-Burow, B. M., Salvo, V. A., Zhu, Y., Melnik, L. I., Lopez, G. N., Kushner, P. J., Curiel, T. J., Rowan, B. G., McLachlan, J. A. and Burow, M. E. p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase stimulates estrogen-mediated transcription and proliferation through the phosphorylation and potentiation of the p160 coactivator glucocorticoid receptor-interacting protein 1 Mol Endocrinol (2006). 20, 971-83.
- 271. Zheng, F. F., Wu, R. C., Smith, C. L. and O'Malley, B.W. Rapid estrogen-induced phosphorylation of the SRC-3 coactivator occurs in an extranuclear complex containing

estrogen receptor Mol Cell Biol(2005). 25, 8273-84.

- Zhu, P., Baek, S. H., Bourk, E. M., Ohgi, K. A., Garcia-Bassets, I., Sanjo, H., Akira, S., Kotol, P. F., Glass, C. K., Rosenfeld, M. G. and Rose, D. W. Macrophage/cancer cell interactions mediate hormone resistance by a nuclear receptor derepression pathway Cell (2006). 124, 615-29.
- 273. Weitsman, G. E., Li, L., Skliris, G. P., Davie, J. R., Ung, K., Niu, Y., Curtis-Snell, L., Tomes, L., Watson, P. H. and Murphy, L. C. Estrogen receptor-α phosphorylated at Ser118 is present at the promoters of estrogen-regulated genes and is not altered due to HER-2 overexpression Cancer Res (2006). 66, 10162-70.
- 274. Wang, Z., Chen, W., Kono, E., Dang, T. and Garabedian, M. J. Modulation of glucocorticoid receptor phosphorylation and transcriptional activity by a C-terminalassociated protein phosphatase Mol Endocrinol (2007). 21, 625-34.
- 275. Jensen EV, Jacobsen HI: Basic guides to the mechanism of estrogen action. Recent Prog Horm Res (1962). 18:387–414.
- 276. Green S, Walter P, Kumar V, et al: Human oestrogen receptor cDNA: sequence, expression and homology to v-erb-A. Nature (1986). 320:134–139.
- 277. Greene GL, Gilna P, Waterfield M, et al: Sequence and expression of human estrogen receptor complementary DNA. Science (1986). 231: 1150–1154.
- Kuiper GGJM, Enmark E, Pelto-Huikko M, et al: Cloning of a novel estrogen receptor expressed in rat prostate and ovary. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (1996). 93:5925– 5930.
- 279. Saunders PTK, Maguire SM, Gaughan J, et al: Expression of oestrogen receptor (ERb) in multiple rat tissues visualised by immunohistochemistry. J Endocrinol (1997). 154:R13–R16.
- 280. Mäkelä S, Strauss L, Kuiper G, et al: Differential expression of estrogen receptors a and b in adult rat accessory sex glands and lower urinary tract. Mol Cell Endocrinol (2000). 164(1-2):109-16.
- Chang WY, Prins GS: Estrogen receptor-b: implications for the prostate gland.
 Prostate (1999). 40:115–124.
- 282. Conte FA, Grumbach MM, Ito Y, et al: A syndrome of female pseudohermaphrodism, hypergonadotropic hypogonadism, and multicystic ovaries associated with missense mutations in the gene encoding aromatase (P450 arom). J Clin Endocrinol Metab (1994). 78:1287–1292.

- 283. Morishima A, Grumbach MM, Simpson ER, et al: Aromatase deficiency in male and female siblings caused by a novel mutation and the physiological role of estrogens. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1995, 80:3689–3698.
- 284. MacGillivray MH, Morishima A, Conte F, et al: Pedriatic endocrinology update: an overview. The essential roles of estrogens in pubertal growth, epiphyseal fusion and bone turnover: lessons from mutations in the genes for aromatase and the estrogen receptor. Horm Res (1998). 49 (suppl 1):2–8.
- 285. Masood S: Estrogen and progesterone receptors in cytology: a comprehensive review. Diagn Cytopathol (1992). 8:475–491.
- 286. Speirs V, Parkes AT, Kerin MJ, et al: Coexpression of estrogen receptor-a and -b: poor prognostic factors in human breast cancer? Cancer Res (1999). 59:525–528.
- Kim-Schulze S, McGowan KA, Hubchak SC, et al: Expression of an estrogen receptor by human coronary artery and umbilical vein endothelial cells. Circulation (1996). 94:1402–1407.
- 288. Venkov CD, Rankin AB, Vaughan DE: Identification of authentic estrogen receptor in cultured endothelial cells: a potential mechanism for steroid hormone regulation of endothelial function. Circulation (1996). 94:727–733.
- 289. Register TC, Adams MR: Coronary artery and cultured aortic smooth muscle cells express mRNA for both the classical estrogen receptor and the newly described estrogen receptor b. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol (1998). 64:187–191.
- 290. Lindner V, Kim SK, Karas RH, et al: Increased expression of estrogen receptor-b mRNA in male blood vessels after vascular injury. Circulation Res (1998). 83:224–229.
- 291. Grohé C, Kahlert S, Lobbert K, et al: Cardiac myocytes and fibroblasts contain functional estrogen receptors. FEBS Lett (1997). 416: 107–112.
- 292. Valverde MA, Rojas P, Amigo J, et al: Acute activation of Maxi-k channels (hSlo) by estradiol binding to the b subunit. Science (1999). 285:1929–1931.
- 293. Farhat MY, Abi-Younes S, Ramwell PW: Non-genomic effects of estrogen and the vessel wall. Biochem Pharmacol (1996). 51:571–576.
- Kauser K, Rubanyi GM: Potential cellular signaling mechanisms mediating upregulation of endothelial nitric oxide production by estrogen. J Vascular Res (1997). 34:229–236.
- 295. Mendelsohn ME, Karas RH: Estrogen and the blood vessel wall. Curr Opin Cardiol

(1994). 9:619–626.

- 296. Farhat MY, Lavigne MC, Ramwell PW: The vascular protective effects of estrogen.FASEB J (1996). 10:615–624.
- 297. Morey AK, Razandi M, Pedram A, et al: Oestrogen and progesterone inhibit the stimulated production of endothelin-1. Biochem J (1998,). 330:1097–1105.
- 298. McEwen BS, Alves SE: Estrogen actions in the central nervous system. Endocrine Rev (1999). 20:279–307.
- 299. Simerly RB, Chang C, Muramatsu M, et al: Distribution of androgen and estrogen receptor mRNA-containing cells in the rat brain: an in situ hybridization study. J Comp Neurol (1990). 294:76–95.
- 300. Shughrue PJ, Lane MV, Merchenthaler I: Comparative distribution of estrogen receptor-a and -b mRNA in the rat central nervous system. J Comp Neurol (1997). 388:507– 525.
- 301. Couse JF, Korach KS: Estrogen receptor null mice: what have we learned and where will they lead us? Endocrine Rev (1999). 20: 358–417.
- 302. Migliaccio A, Di Domenico M, Castoria G, de Falco A, Bontempo P, Nola E, Auricchio F. Tyrosine kinase/p21ras/MAP-kinase pathway activation by estradiol-receptor complex in MCF-7 cells. EMBO J (1996). 15:1292–1300
- 303. Endoh H, Sasaki H, Maruyama K, Takeyama K, Waga I, Shimizu T, Kato S,Kawashima H. Rapid activation of MAP kinase by estrogen in the bone cell line. Biochem Biophys Res Commun (2001). 235:99–102
- 304. Kousteni S, Bellido T, Plotkin LI, O'Brien CA, Bodenner DL, Han L, Han K, DiGregorio GB, Katzenellenbogen JA, Katzenellenbogen BS, Roberson PK, Weinstein RS, Jilka RL, Manolagas SC. Nongenotropic, sex-nonspecific signaling through the estrogen and androgen receptors: dissociation from transcriptional activity. Cell (2001). 104:719–730
- 305. Russell KS, Haynes MP, Sinha D, Clerisme E, Bender JR. Human vascular endothelial cells contain membrane binding sites for estradiol, which mediate rapid intracellular signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2000). 97:5930–5935.
- 306. Singer C, Figueroa-Masot X, Batchelor R, Dorsa D. The mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway mediates estrogen neuroprotection after glutamate toxicity in primary cortical neurons. J Neurosci (1999). 19:2455–2463

- 307. Mize A, Shapiro R, Dorsa D. Estrogen receptor-mediated neuroprotection from oxidative stress requires activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. Endocrinology (2003). 144:306–312
- 308. Fitzpatrick J, Mize A, Wade C, Harris J, Shapiro R, Dorsa D. Estrogenmediated neuroprotection against beta-amyloid toxicity requires expression of estrogen receptor alpha and beta and activation of the MAPK pathway. J Neurochem (2002). 82:674–682.
- 309. Haynes MP, Li L, Sinha D, Russell K, Hisamoto K, Baron R, Collinge M, Sessa W, Bender JR. Src kinase mediates phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/
 Akt-dependent rapid endothelial nitric-oxide synthase activation by estrogen.
 J Biol Chem (2003). 278:2118–2123
- 310. Haynes MP, Sinha D, Russell KS, Collinge M, Fulton D, Morales-Ruiz M, Sessa WC, Bender JR. Membrane estrogen receptor engagement activated endothelial nitric oxide synthase via the PI3-kinase-Akt pathway in human endothelial cells. Circ Res (2000). 87:677–682
- 311. Marino M, Acconica F, Bresciani F, Weisz A, Trentalance A. Distinct nongenomic signal transduction pathways controlled by 17beta-estradiol regulate DNA synthesis and cyclin D1 gene transcription in HepG2 cells. Mol Biol Cell (2002). 13:3720–3729.
- 312. Yu X, Rajala R, McGinnis JF, Li F, Anderson RE, Yan X, Li S, Elias RV, Knapp RR, Zhou X, CaoW. Involvement of insulin/phosphoinositide 3-kinase/ akt signal pathway in 17beta-estradiol-mediated neuroprotection. J Biol Chem (2004). 279:13086–13094.
- 313. Wilson ME, Liu Y, Wise PM. Estradiol enhances Akt activation in cortical explant cultures following neuronal injury. Brain Res Mol Brain Res (2002). 102:48–54.
- 314. Coiret G, Matifat F, Hague F, Ouadid-Ahidouch H. 17beta-Estradiol activates maxi-K channels through a non-genomic pathway in human breast cancer cells. FEBS Lett (2005). 579:2995–3000

- 315. Rosenfeld C, White R, Roy T, Cox B. Calcium-activated potassium channels and nitric oxide coregulate estrogen induced vasodilation. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol (2000). 279:H319–H328.
- 316. Morley P, Whitfield J, Vanderhyden B, Tsang B, Schwartz J. A new, nongenomic estrogen action: the rapid release of intracellular calcium. Endocrinology (1992). 131:1305–1312.
- 317. Sylvia VL, Walton J, Lopez D, Dean DD, Boyan BD, Schwartz Z. 17beta-Estradiol-BSA conjugates and 17beta-estradiol regulate growth plate chondrocytes by common membrane associated mechanisms involving PKC dependent and independent signal transduction. J Cell Biochem (2001). 81:413–429.
- 318. Mermelstein P, Becker J, Surmeier DJ. Estradiol reduced calcium currents in rat neostriatal neurons via a membrane receptor. J Neurosci (1996). 16:595–604.
- 319. Wyckoff M, Chambliss K, Mineo C, Yuhanna I, Mendelsohn M, Mumby S, Shaul P. Plasma membrane estrogen receptors are coupled to endothelial nitric-oxide synthase through Galpha-i. J Biol Chem (2001). 276:27071–27076
- 320. Stefano GB, Prevot V, Beauvillain JC, Cadet P, Fimiani C, Welters I, Fricchione G, Breton C, Lassalle P, Salzet M, Bilfinger T. Cell-surface estrogen receptors mediate calcium-dependent nitric-oxide release in human endothelia. Circulation (2000). 101:1594–1597
- 321. Castro-Rivera E, Samudio I, Safe S. Estrogen regulation of cyclin D1 gene expression in ZR-75 breast cancer cells involves multiple enhancer elements. J Biol Chem (2001). 276:30853–30861
- 322. Wade C, Dorsa D. Estrogen activation of cyclic adenosine 5#-monophosphate response element-mediated transcription requires the extracellularly regulated kinase/mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. Endocrinology (2003). 144:832–838
- Chaban VV, Lakhter AJ, Micevych P. A membrane estrogen receptor mediates intracellular calcium release in astrocytes. Endocrinology (2004). 145:3788– 3795.

- Revankar C, Cimino D, Sklar L, Arterburn J, Prossnitz E. A transmembrane intracellular estrogen receptor mediates rapid cell signaling. Science (2005). 307:1625–1630.
- 325. Thomas P, Yang Y, Filardo EJ, Dong J. Identity of an estrogen membrane receptor coupled to a G protein in human breast cancer cells. Endocrinology (2005). 146:624–632.
- 326. Lu Q, Pallas D, Surks H, Baur W, Mendelsohn M, Karas R. Striatin assembles a membrane signaling complex necessary for rapid, nongenomic activation of endothelial NO synthase by estrogen receptor alpha. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2004). 101:17126–17131.
- Greger J, Guo Y, Henderson R, Ross J, Cheskis B. Characterization of MNAR expression. Steroids (2006). 71:317–322
- Barletta F, Wong C, McNally C, Komm B, Katzenellenbogen B, Cheskis B
 Characterization of the interactions of estrogen receptor and MNAR in the activation of cSrc. Mol Endocrinol (2004). 18:1096–1108.
- 329. Schlegel A, Wang C, Pestell R, LisantiM. Ligand-independent activation of oestrogen receptor alpha by caveolin-1. Biochem J (2001). 359:203–210
- 330. Schlegel A, Schwab R, Scherer P, Lisanti M. A role for the caveolin scaffolding domain in mediating the membrane attachment of caveolin-1. J Biol Chem (1999). 274:22660–22667.
- 331. Ahmad S, Singh N, Glazer R 1999 Role of Akt1 in 17#-estradiol and insulinlike growth factor I (IGF-1)-dependent proliferation and prevention of apoptosis in MCF-7 breast carcinoma cells. Biochem Pharmacol 58:425–430.
- 332. Lobenhofer E, Huper G, Iglehart JD, Marks JR. Inhibition of mitogenactivated protein kinase and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase activity in MCF-7 cells prevents estrogen-induced mitogenesis. Cell Growth Differ (2000). 11:99–110
- 333. Castoria G, Migliaccio A, Bilancio A, Di Domenico M, de Falco A, Lombardi M, Fiorentino R, Varricchio L, Barone MV, Auricchio F. PI3-kinase in concert with Src promotes the S-phase entry of oestradiol-stimulated MCF-7 cells. EMBO J (2001). 20:6050–6059.

- 334. Vasudevan N, Kow LM, Pfaff D. Integration of steroid hormone initiated membrane action to genomic function in the brain. Steroids (2005). 70:388–396.
- 335. Watters J, Dorsa D. Transcriptional effects of estrogen on neuronal neurotensin gene expression involve cAMP/protein kinase A-dependent signaling mechanisms. J Neurosci (1998). 18:6672–6680.
- 336. Dufy B, Vincent J, Fleury H, Du Pasquier P, Gourdji D, Tixier-Vidal A. Membrane effects of thyrotropin-releasing hormone and estrogen shown by intracellular recording from pituitary cells. Science (1979). 204:509–51.
- 337. Watson C, Norfleet A, Pappas T, Gametchu B. Rapid actions of estrogens in GH3/B6 pituitary tumor cells via a plasma membrane version of estrogen receptor-alpha. Steroids (1999). 64:5–13.
- 338. Longo M, Brama M, Marino M, Bernardini S, Korach KS, Wetsel WC, Scandurra R, Faraggiana T, Spera G, Baron R, Teti A, Migliaccio S. Interaction of estrogen receptor alpha with protein kinase C alpha and c-Src in osteoblasts during differentiation. Bone (2004). 34:100–111.
- 339. HALACHMI S, MARDEN E, MARTIN G, MACKAY H, ABBONDANZA C, AND

BROWN M. Estrogen receptor-associated proteins: possible mediators of hormone-induced transcription. Science (1994). 264: 1455–1458.

- FREEDMAN L. Increasing the complexity of coactivation in nuclear receptor signaling. Cell (1999). 97: 5–8.
- 341. SMITH CL, CONNEELY OM, AND O'MALLEY BW. Modulation of the ligand-independent activation of the human estrogen receptor by hormone and antihormone. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (1993). 90: 6120–6124.
- 342. MCKENNA NJ, LANZ RB, AND O'MALLEY BW. Nuclear receptor coregulators: cellular and molecular biology. Endocr Rev (1999). 20: 321–344.
- 343. LAHERTY CD, BILLIN AN, LAVINSKY RM, YOCHUM GS, BUSH AC, SUN JM,

MULLEN TM, DAVIE JR, ROSE DW, GLASS CK, ROSENFELD MG, AYER DE, AND EISENMAN RN. Sap30, a component of the mSin3 corepressor complex involved in N-CoR-mediated repression by specific transcription factors. Mol Cell (1998). 2: 33–42.

344. NICHOLS M, RIENTJES JM, AND STEWART AF. Different positioning of

the ligand-binding domain helix 12 and the F domain of the estrogen receptor accounts for functional differences between agonists. EMBO J (1998). 17: 765–773.

- 345. GALIEN R AND GARCIA T. Estrogen receptor impairs interleukin-6 expression by preventing protein binding on the NF-kappaB site. Nucleic Acids Res (1997). 25: 2424–2429.
- 346. BATISTUZZO DE MEDEIROS SR, KREY G, HIHI AK, AND WAHLI W. Functional interaction between the estrogen receptor and the transcription activator Sp1 regulate the estrogen-dependent transcriptional activity of the vitellogenin A1 promoter. J Biol Chem (1997). 272: 18250– 18260.
- 347. MCINERNEY EM, WEIS KE, SUN J, MOSSELMAN S, AND KATZENELLENBOGEN

BS. Transcription activation by the human estrogen receptor subtype beta (ERb) studied with ERa and ERb receptor chimeras. Endocrinology (1998). 139: 4513–4522.

- 348. DONALDSON KM, TONG SY, WASHBURN T, LUBAHN DB, EDDY EM, HUTSON JM, AND KORACH KS. Morphometric study of the gubernaculum in male estrogen receptor mutant mice. J Androl (1996). 17: 91–95.
- 349. EDDY EM, WASHBURN TF, BUNCH DO, GOULDING EH, GLADEN BC, LUBAHN DB, SAR M, MAYO KE, AND KORACH KS. Targeted disruption of the estrogen receptor gene in male mice causes alteration of spermatogenesis and infertility. Endocrinology (1996). 137: 4796–4805.
- 350. ROBERTSON KM, O'DONNELL L, JONES ME, MEACHEM SJ, BOON WC, FISHER CR, GRAVES KH, MCLACHLAN RI, AND SIMPSON ER. Impairment of spermatogenesis in mice lacking a functional aromatase (cyp 19) gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (1999). 96: 7986–7991.
- 351. SIMPSON ER. Genetic mutations resulting in estrogen insufficiency in the male. Mol Cell Endocrinol (1998). 145: 55–59.
- 352. BRANDENBERGER AW, TEE MK, LEE JY, CHAO V, AND JAFFE RB. Tissue distribution of estrogen receptors alpha (ER-alpha) and beta (ERbeta) mRNA in the midgestational human fetus. J Clin Endocrinol

Metab (1997). 82: 3509-3512.

- 353. HESS RA, BUNICK D, LEE KH, BAHR J, TAYLOR JA, AND KORACH KS. A role for oestrogens in the male reproductive system. Nature (1997). 390: 509–512.
- 354. HESS RA, GIST DH, BUNICK D, LUBAHN DB, FARRELL A, BAHR J, COOKE PS, AND GREENE GL. Estrogen receptor (alpha and beta) expression in the excurrent ducts of the adult male rat reproductive tract. J Androl (1997). 18: 602–611.
- 355. LEMMEN JG, BROEKHOF JL, KUIPER GG, GUSTAFSSON J-Å, VAN DER SAAG

PT, AND VAN DER BURG B. Expression of estrogen receptor alpha and beta during mouse embryogenesis. Mech Dev (1999). 81: 163–167.

- 356. FISHER JS, MILLAR MR, MAJDIC G, SAUNDERS PT, FRASER HM, AND SHARPE RM. Immunolocalisation of oestrogen receptor-alpha within the testis and excurrent ducts of the rat and marmoset monkey from perinatal life to adulthood. J Endocrinol (1997). 153: 485–495.
- 357. ROSENFELD CS, GANJAM VK, TAYLOR JA, YUAN X, STIEHR JR, HARDY MP, AND LUBAHN DB. Transcription and translation of estrogen receptor-beta in the male reproductive tract of estrogen receptoralpha knock-out and wild-type mice. Endocrinology (1998). 139: 2982– 2987.
- 358. SAUNDERS PT, MAGUIRE SM, GAUGHAN J, AND MILLAR MR. Expression of oestrogen receptor beta (ER beta) in multiple rat tissues visualised by immunohistochemistry. J Endocrinol (1997). 154: R13–R16.
- SINGH J AND HANDELSMAN DJ. Morphometric studies of neonatal estrogen imprinting in the mature mouse prostate. J Endocrinol (1999). 162: 39–48.
- 360. CHANG WY, BIRCH L, WOODHAM C, GOLD LI, AND PRINS GS. Neonatal estrogen exposure alters the transforming growth factor-beta signaling system in the developing rat prostate and blocks the transient p21(cip1/waf1) expression associated with epithelial differentiation. Endocrinology (1999). 140: 2801–2813.

- 361. CHANG WY, WILSON MJ, BIRCH L, AND PRINS GS. Neonatal estrogen stimulates proliferation of periductal fibroblasts and alters the extracellular matrix composition in the rat prostate. Endocrinology (1999). 140: 405–415.
- 362. COUSE JF, CURTIS SW, WASHBURN TF, LINDZEY J, GOLDING TS, LUBAHN

DB, SMITHIES O, AND KORACH KS. Analysis of transcription and estrogen insensitivity in the female mouse after targeted disruption of the estrogen receptor gene. Mol Endocrinol 9: (1995). 1441–1454.

- 363. CENNI B AND PICARD D. Ligand-independent activation of steroid receptors: new roles for old players. TEM (1999). 10: 41–46.
- 364. CHANG XT, KOBAYASHI T, TODO T, IKEUCHI T, YOSHIURA Y,KAJIURAKOBAYASHIH, MORREY C, AND NAGAHAMA Y. Molecular cloning of

estrogen receptors alpha and beta in the ovary of a teleost fish, the tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus). Zool Sci (1999). 16: 653–658.

- 365. CHEN D, PACE PE, COOMBES RC, AND ALI S. Phosphorylation of human estrogen receptor alpha by protein kinase A regulates dimerization. Mol Cell Biol (1999). 19: 1002–1015.
- 366. ERNST M AND RODAN GA. Estradiol regulation of insulin-like growth factor-1 expression in osteoblastic cells: evidence for transcriptional regulation. Mol Endocrinol (1991). 5: 1081–1089.
- 367. ROODMAN GD. Advances in bone boilogy: the osteoclast. Endocr Rev (1996). 17: 308–332.
- 368. HOFBAUER LC, KHOSLA S, DUNSTAN CR, LACEY DL, SPELSBERG TC, AND

RIGGS BL. Estrogen stimulates gene expression and protein production of osteoprotegrin in human osteoblastic cells. Endocrinology (1999). 140: 4367–4370.

369. ISHII T, SAITO T, MORIMOTO K, TAKEUCHI Y, ASANO S, KUMEGAWA M, OGATA E, AND MATSUMOTO T. Estrogen stimulates the elaboration of cell/matrix surface-associated inhibitory factor of osteoclastic bone resorption from osteoblastic cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun (1993). 191: 495–502.

- 370. SCHMIDT A, SEEDOR JG, GENTILE MA, PENNYPACKER BL, RODAN GA, LUBAHN DB, AND KORACH KS. Femoral bone density and length in male and female estrogen receptor-alpha (ERa) knockout mice. J Bone Miner Res (1999). SU098: S456.
- 371. VIDAL O, LINDBERG M, SA"VENDAHL L, LUBAHN DB, RITZEN EM, GUSTAFSSON

J-Å, AND OHLSSON C. Disproportional body growth in female

estrogen receptor-a inactivated mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun

(1999). 265: 569-571.

372. Berno V, Hinojos CA, Amazit L, Szafran AT, Mancini MA. High-resolution, high-throughput microscopy analyses of nuclear receptor and coregulator function.

Methods Enzymol. (2006).414:188-210.

- 373. Morelock, M. M., E. A. Hunter, T. J. Moran, S. Heynen, C. Laris, M. Thieleking, M. Akong, I. Mikic, S. Callaway, R. P. DeLeon, A. Goodacre, D. Zacharias, and J. H. Price. Statistics of assay validation in high throughput cell imaging of nuclear factor kappaB nuclear translocation. Assay Drug Dev. Technol. (2005). 3:483–499.
- 374. Reid, G., M. R. Hubner, R. Metivier, H. Brand, S. Denger, D. Manu, J. Beaudouin, J. Ellenberg, and F. Gannon. Cyclic, proteasome-mediated turnover of unliganded and liganded ERalpha on responsive promoters is an integral feature of estrogen signaling. Mol. Cell (2003). 11:695–707.
- 375. Baumann, C. T., H. Ma, R. Wolford, J. C. Reyes, P. Maruvada, C. Lim, P. M. Yen, M. R. Stallcup, and G. L. Hager. The glucocorticoid receptor interacting protein 1 (GRIP1) localizes in discrete nuclear foci that associate with ND10 bodies and are enriched in components of the 26S proteasome. Mol. Endocrinol. (2001). 15:485–500.
- Favata, M. F., K. Y. Horiuchi, E. J. Manos, A. J. Daulerio, D. A. Stradley,
 W. S. Feeser, D. E. Van Dyk, W. J. Pitts, R. A. Earl, F. Hobbs, R. A.
 Copeland, R. L. Magolda, P. A. Scherle, and J. M. Trzaskos. Identification
 of a novel inhibitor of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase.
 J. Biol. Chem. (1998). 273:18623–18632.

- Daub, H., C. Wallasch, A. Lankenau, A. Herrlich, and A. Ullrich.
 Signal characteristics of G protein-transactivated EGF receptor. EMBO J. (1997).16:7032–7044.
- 378. Chen, D., T. Riedl, E. Washbrook, P. E. Pace, R. C. Coombes, J. M. Egly, and S. Ali. Activation of estrogen receptor alpha by S118 phosphorylation involves a ligand-dependent interaction with TFIIH and participation of CDK7. Mol. Cell (2000). 6:127–137.
- 379. Joel, P. B., A. M. Traish, and D. A. Lannigan. Estradiol-induced phosphorylation of serine 118 in the estrogen receptor is independent of p42/p44 mitogen-activated protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. (1998). 273:13317–13323.
- 380. Wolff, B., J. J. Sanglier, and Y. Wang. Leptomycin B is an inhibitor of nuclear export: inhibition of nucleo-cytoplasmic translocation of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) Rev protein and Rev-dependent mRNA. Chem. Biol. (1997). 4:139–147.
- 381. Li, C., R. C. Wu, L. Amazit, S. Y. Tsai, M. J. Tsai, and B. W. O'Malley. Specific amino acid residues in the basic helix-loop-helix domain of SRC-3 are essential for its nuclear localization and proteasome-dependent turnover. Mol. Cell. Biol. (2007). 27:1296–1308.
- 382. Carroll, R. S., M. Brown, J. Zhang, J. DiRenzo, J. Font De Mora, and P. M. Black. Expression of a subset of steroid receptor cofactors is associated with progesterone receptor expression in meningiomas. Clin. Cancer Res. (2000). 6:3570–3575.
- Paine, P. L., C. F. Austerberry, L. J. Desjarlais, and S. B. Horowitz.Protein loss during nuclear isolation. J. Cell Biol. (1983). 97:1240–1242.
- 384. Gorski, J., D. Toft, G. Shyamala, D. Smith, and A. Notides. Hormone receptors: studies on the interaction of estrogen with the uterus. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. (1968). 24:45–80.
- 385. Guiochon-Mantel, A., K. Delabre, P. Lescop, and E. Milgrom. Nuclear localization signals also mediate the outward movement of proteins from the nucleus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA (1994). 91:7179–7183.
- 386. Avivar, A., M. C. Garcia-Macias, E. Ascaso, G. Herrera, J. E. O'Connor, and J. F. de Mora. 2006. Moderate overexpression of AIB1 triggers pre-neoplastic changes in mammary epithelium. FEBS Lett. 580:5222–5226.

- 387. Chen, Y., C. F. Chen, D. J. Riley, D. C. Allred, P. L. Chen, D. Von Hoff, C. K. Osborne, and W. H. Lee. Aberrant subcellular localization of BRCA1 in breast cancer. Science (1995). 270:789–791.
- 388. O'Brate, A., and P. Giannakakou. The importance of p53 location: nuclear or cytoplasmic zip code? Drug Resist. Updat. (2003). 6:313–322.
- Hager, G. L., C. S. Lim, C. Elbi, and C. T. Baumann. Trafficking of nuclear receptors in living cells. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. (2000). 74:249–254.
- 390. Kumar, S., M. Saradhi, N. K. Chaturvedi, and R. K. Tyagi. Intracellular localization and nucleocytoplasmic trafficking of steroid receptors: an overview. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. (2006). 246:147–156.
- Wu, H., L. Sun, Y. Zhang, Y. Chen, B. Shi, R. Li, Y. Wang, J. Liang, D. Fan, G. Wu, D. Wang, S. Li, and Y. Shang. Coordinated regulation of AIB1 transcriptional activity by sumoylation and phosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. (2006). 281:21848–21856.
- 392. Yoshida, H., J. Liu, S. Samuel, W. Cheng, D. Rosen, and H. Naora. Steroid receptor coactivator-3, a homolog of Taiman that controls cell migration in the Drosophila ovary, regulates migration of human ovarian cancer cells. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. (2005). 245:77–85.
- Wang, Z., D. W. Rose, O. Hermanson, F. Liu, T. Herman, W. Wu, D. Szeto,
 A. Gleiberman, A. Krones, K. Pratt, R. Rosenfeld, C. K. Glass, and M. G.
 Rosenfeld. Regulation of somatic growth by the p160 coactivator
 p/CIP. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. (2000). USA 97:13549–13554.
- 394. Huang, T. T., N. Kudo, M. Yoshida, and S. Miyamoto. A nuclear export signal in the N-terminal regulatory domain of Ikappa Balpha controls cytoplasmic localization of inactive NF-kappaB/IkappaBalpha complexes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA (2000). 97:1014–1019.
- 395. Huang, T. T., S. M. Wuerzberger-Davis, Z. H. Wu, and S. Miyamoto. Sequential modification of NEMO/IKKgamma by SUMO-1 and ubiquitin mediates NF-kappaB activation by genotoxic stress. Cell (2003). 115:565–576.
- 396. Roux, P. P., and J. Blenis. ERK and p38 MAPK-activated protein kinases: a family of protein kinases with diverse biological functions. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. (2004).68:320–344.
- 397. Daub, H., C. Wallasch, A. Lankenau, A. Herrlich, and A. Ullrich. Signal

characteristics of G protein-transactivated EGF receptor. EMBO J.

(1997).

16:7032-7044.

- 398. Amazit, L., Y. Alj, R. K. Tyagi, A. Chauchereau, H. Loosfelt, C. Pichon, J. Pantel, E. Foulon-Guinchard, P. Leclerc, E. Milgrom, and A. Guiochon-Mantel. Subcellular localization and mechanisms of nucleocytoplasmic trafficking of steroid receptor coactivator-1. J. Biol. Chem. (2003).278:32195–32203.
- 399. Kamakura, S., T. Moriguchi, and E. Nishida. Activation of the protein kinase ERK5/BMK1 by receptor tyrosine kinases. Identification and characterization of a signaling pathway to the nucleus. J. Biol. Chem. (1999). 274:26563– 26571.
- 400. Dubik, D., T. C. Dembinski, and R. P. Shiu. Stimulation of c-myc oncogene expression associated with estrogen-induced proliferation of human breast cancer cells. Cancer Res. (1987). 47:6517–6521.
- 401. Dickson, R. B., and M. E. Lippman. Growth factors in breast cancer. Endocr. Rev. (1995). 16:559–589.
- 402. Sporn, M. B., and A. B. Roberts. Autocrine growth factors and cancer. Nature (1985). 313:745–747.
- 403. Normanno, N., and F. Ciardiello. EGF-related peptides in the pathophysiology of the mammary gland. J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia (1997). 2:143–151.
- 404. Le Goff, P., M. M. Montano, D. J. Schodin, and B. S. Katzenellenbogen..
 Phosphorylation of the human estrogen receptor. Identification of hormone-regulated sites and examination of their influence on transcriptional activity. J. Biol. Chem. (1994). 269:4458–4466.
- 405. Tyagi, R. K., L. Amazit, P. Lescop, E. Milgrom, and A. Guiochon-Mantel. Mechanisms of progesterone receptor export from nuclei: role of nuclear localization signal, nuclear export signal, and ran guanosine triphosphate. Mol. Endocrinol. (1998).12:1684–1695.
- 406. Fey, E. G., G. Krochmalnic, and S. Penman. The nonchromatin structures of the nucleus: the ribonucleoprotein (RNP)-containing and RNPdepleted matrices analysed by sequential fractionation and resinless section electron microscope. J. Cell Biol. 1(1986). 02:1654–1665.